Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 21, 2023 ACCEPTED: April 29, 2024 PUBLISHED: May 16, 2024

Exact overlaps for all integrable two-site boundary states of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetric spin chains

Tamas Gombor 问

MTA-ELTE "Momentum" Integrable Quantum Dynamics Research Group, Department of Theoretical Physics, Eötvös Loránd University, Pázmány Péter sétány 1/A, Budapest, Hungary Holographic QFT Group, Wigner Research Centre for Physics, Konkoly-Thege Miklós út 29-33, Budapest, Hungary

E-mail: gombort@caesar.elte.hu

ABSTRACT: We find closed formulas for the overlaps of Bethe eigenstates of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetric spin chains and integrable boundary states. We derive the general overlap formulas for $\mathfrak{gl}(M) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ symmetric boundary states and give a well-established conjecture for the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric case. Combining these results with the previously derived $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ symmetric formula, now we have the overlap functions for all integrable boundary states of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ spin chains which are built from two-site states. The calculations are independent from the representations of the quantum space therefore our formulas can be applied for the SO(6) and the alternating SU(4) spin chains which describe the scalar sectors of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills and ABJM theories which are important application areas of our results.

KEYWORDS: Bethe Ansatz, Lattice Integrable Models, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Wilson, 't Hooft and Polyakov loops

ARXIV EPRINT: 2311.04870



Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Definitions	3
3	Exact overlaps for untwisted boundary states	7
	3.1 Definition of the untwisted integrable states	8
	3.2 Overlaps for the type $(N, \left \frac{N}{2}\right), (N, 0)$ and singular K-matrices	15
	3.3 Recursion for the off-shell type (N, M) overlaps	19
	3.4 Sum formula and the on-shell limit	21
4	Exact overlaps for twisted boundary states	22
	4.1 Definition of the twisted integrable states	23
	4.2 Recursion for the off-shell overlaps	32
	4.3 Sum formula and the pair structure limit	34
	4.4 On-shell limit	37
5	Applications for AdS/CFT correspondence	38
	5.1 $\mathfrak{sp}(4)$ symmetric boundary state	39
	5.2 Boundary states in the ABJM theory	39
	5.3 Boundary state with infinite dimensional representation	42
	5.4 Boundary state in the gluon subsector	45
6	Conclusion	47
\mathbf{A}	Off-shell Bethe vectors	47
в	Untwisted off-shell overlap of $M = 0$ case	49
\mathbf{C}	A new recurrence relations for the Bethe vectors	52
D	Proof of the sum formulas	57
	D.1 Untwisted case	58
	D.2 Twisted case	64
\mathbf{E}	Elementary overlaps	71
\mathbf{F}	Recursion for the HC-s ${\cal Z}$ and ${ar {\cal Z}}$	79
G	Poles of the twisted HC-s	85
н	Pair structure limit of the twisted overlaps	89

1 Introduction

In the last decade there has been growing interest in special overlaps between particular spin-chain states called boundary states [1, 2] and wavefunctions of integrable spin chains. These overlaps are important in two parts of the theoretical physics. In statistical physics these quantities appear in the context of non-equilibrium dynamics of the integrable models and the overlaps play a central role in the study of the quantum quenches [3]. One of the main methods for the investigation of the steady states is the so-called Quench Action method [4], where the knowledge of the exact overlaps is an important input [5–10].

The other area of applications is the AdS/CFT correspondence. The boundary states and the corresponding overlaps appear for various setups: the overlaps describe one-point functions of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills and ABJM theories with domain wall defects [11–13] and the three-point functions of two determinant and one single trace operators [14–16], they also relevant for the correlators between the 't Hooft line and chiral primaries of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills [17] and for the correlation functions of a single trace operator and a circular supersymmetric Wilson loop in ABJM theory [18].

In recent years, overlap functions have been determined for many boundary states [19–24]. In the most cases, these are only conjectures based on the observation that the overlaps are proportional to the ratio of the so-called Gaudin determinants. There exist exact proofs for the XXX and XXZ spin chains [25–28], but it is not clear how they can be extended to arbitrary representations or nested systems. The first method which applied the algebraic Bethe Ansatz for the derivations was published in [29]. The method is based on the so-called KT-relation which allows us to derive a recursion for the overlaps in a representation independent way. This method was generalized for $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ spin chains in [30]. So far, this is the only precise proof of boundary state overlaps in nested systems. This method was also generalized for the proof of overlaps with crosscap states [31]. However, the results of [30] only include a subset of possible boundary states. In this paper we extend the procedure and determine the on-shell overlap formulas for all possible integrable boundary states which are built from two-site states.

In [30] it was showed that we can distinguish between untwisted and twisted boundary states. For untwisted or twisted boundary states the Bethe roots have achiral or chiral pair structure. The possible residual symmetries \mathfrak{h} for the untwisted states can be $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{gl}(M) \otimes \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ and for the twisted states they are $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{so}(N)$ or $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{sp}(N)$. The derivations in [30] could be applied for the $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{gl}(\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor) \otimes \mathfrak{gl}(\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)$ and $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{so}(N)$ symmetric cases. In this paper we extend the results for the remaining symmetry classes. We now list the possible overlap functions for the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ spin chains. For $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{gl}(M) \otimes \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ the on-shell overlaps are

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \bar{u} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \bar{u} | \bar{u} \rangle}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}} \right] \frac{Q_M(\mathfrak{a})}{\sqrt{\bar{Q}_{\frac{N}{2}}(0)Q_{\frac{N}{2}}(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}, \quad \text{where } N \text{ is even,} \\
\frac{\langle \Psi | \bar{u} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \bar{u} | \bar{u} \rangle}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}} \right] \frac{Q_M(\mathfrak{a})}{\sqrt{Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(-\frac{i}{4})Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}, \quad \text{where } N \text{ is odd.}$$
(1.1)

For $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{so}(N)$:

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \bar{u} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \bar{u} | \bar{u} \rangle}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{N} y_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}} \right] \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \sqrt{\frac{Q_{\nu}(0)}{Q_{\nu}(\frac{i}{2})}} \right] \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}}, \tag{1.2}$$

and for $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{sp}(N)$:

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \bar{u} \rangle}{\sqrt{\langle \bar{u} | \bar{u} \rangle}} = \left[\prod_{k=1}^{N/2} x_k^{r_{2k-2} - r_{2k}} \right] \sqrt{\frac{\prod_{k=1}^{N/2-1} Q_{2k}(0) Q_{2k}(i/2)}{\prod_{k=1}^{N/2} \bar{Q}_{2k-1}(0) Q_{2k-1}(i/2)}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
 (1.3)

The $\mathfrak{a}, \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}, x_k, y_{\nu}$ are parameters of the boundary state, the Q_{ν} -s are the usual Q-functions, r_{ν} -s are the number of Bethe roots and det G^{\pm} are the Gaudin-like determinants. The proof for (1.1) when $M = \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor$ and for (1.2) can be found in [30]. In this paper we extend the derivation of (1.1) for general M. We also give strong arguments for the correctness of (1.3), but leave the precise proof to a later work.

The formulas can be applied for any representations of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ therefore they give the overlaps of the SO(6) and the alternating SU(4) spin chains which describe the scalar sectors of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and the ABJM theories. We show that our formulas agree with the conjectures of the overlaps appeared in [16–18].

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we briefly recall the definitions of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetric spin chains. In section 3 we show the properties the untwisted KTrelation and derive a sum formula for the off-shell overlaps which gives the proof of the on-shell formula (1.1). In section 4 we continue with the twisted KT-relation and derive the corresponding sum formula for the off-shell overlaps of the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric boundary states. We show that the sum formula has the same embedding rules as the Gaudin-like determinants which allows us to conjecture (1.3). In section 5 we apply our on-shell formulas for the states which appeared earlier in the AdS/CFT correspondence.

2 Definitions

In this section we review the definitions of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetric spin chains. Let us start with our conventions for $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ algebra and its representations. Let $E_{i,j}$ -s be the $N \times N$ unit matrices which have components $(E_{i,j})_{a,b} = \delta_{i,a}\delta_{j,b}$ and they are satisfy the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ Lie-algebra:

$$[E_{i,j}, E_{k,l}] = \delta_{j,k} E_{i,l} - \delta_{i,l} E_{k,j}.$$
(2.1)

For the *N*-tuples $\Lambda = (\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N)$ we can define a highest weight representation \mathcal{V}^{Λ} . Let $E_{i,j}^{\Lambda} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}^{\Lambda})$ and $|0^{\Lambda}\rangle \in \mathcal{V}^{\Lambda}$ be the corresponding generators and highest weight state for which

$$E_{i,j}^{\Lambda}|0^{\Lambda}\rangle = \Lambda_{i}|0^{\Lambda}\rangle, \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$

$$E_{i,j}^{\Lambda}|0^{\Lambda}\rangle = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad 1 \le i < j \le N.$$
(2.2)

Let us continue with the definition of the corresponding Yangian algebra Y(N) [32]. We use the notations of [30, 33–36]. The Yangian algebra Y(N) is generated by the monodromy matrix $T(u) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} E_{i,j} \otimes T_{i,j}(u) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^N) \otimes Y(N)$ which satisfies the usual *RTT*-relation

$$R_{12}(u-v)T_1(u)T_2(v) = T_2(v)T_1(u)R_{12}(u-v),$$
(2.3)

where we use the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ R-matrix

$$R(u) = u\mathbf{1} + c\mathbf{P},\tag{2.4}$$

where c is a constant and **I**, **P** are the identity and the permutation operators in the vector space $\mathbb{C}^N \otimes \mathbb{C}^N$. We can define representations of the Yangian Y(N) on a quantum space \mathcal{H} . A representation is highest weight if there exists a unique pseudo-vacuum $|0\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$T_{i,i}|0\rangle = \lambda_i(u)|0\rangle, \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$

$$T_{j,i}|0\rangle = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad 1 \le i < j \le N.$$
(2.5)

The $\lambda_i(u)$ -s are the vacuum eigenvalues. The irreducible representations of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ can be generalized for representations of Y(N). We can define the matrices (Lax-operators)

$$L^{\Lambda}(u) = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{j,i}^{\Lambda} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^{N}) \otimes \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{V}^{\Lambda}),$$
(2.6)

which are solutions of the RTT-relation.

Let us consider the following tensor product quantum space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ and define monodromy matrices on each sub-spaces $T^{(i)}(u) \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{C}^N) \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(i)}$ for i = 1, 2. We can define a monodromy matrix (which satisfy the *RTT*-relation) on the tensor product space as

$$T_{i,j}(u) = \sum_{a=1}^{N} T_{a,j}^{(1)}(u) \otimes T_{i,a}^{(2)}(u).$$
(2.7)

The consequence of this co-product property is that we can build more general monodromy matrices using the elementary ones (2.6):

$$T_0(u) = L_{0,J}^{\Lambda^{(J)}}(u - \xi_J) \dots L_{0,1}^{\Lambda^{(1)}}(u - \xi_1), \qquad (2.8)$$

where $\xi_j \in \mathbb{C}$ are the inhomogeneities. We can series expand the monodromy matrix around $u = \infty$ as

$$T_{i,j}(u) = \delta_{i,j} + \frac{c}{u} \Delta(E_{j,i}) + \mathcal{O}(u^{-2}), \qquad (2.9)$$

where we introduced the co-product of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ generators

$$\Delta(E_{i,j}) = \sum_{k} \left(E_{i,j}^{\Lambda^{(k)}} \right)_{k}, \tag{2.10}$$

where the operators $\left(E_{i,j}^{\Lambda^{(k)}}\right)_k$ act non-trivially only on the site k. For this monodromy matrix (2.8) the pseudo vacuum is

$$|0\rangle = |0^{\Lambda^{(1)}}\rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes |0^{\Lambda^{(J)}}\rangle, \qquad (2.11)$$

for which

$$\Delta(E_{i,i})|0\rangle = \mathbf{\Lambda}_i|0\rangle, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $\mathbf{\Lambda}_i = \sum_{j=1}^J \Lambda_i^{(j)}$ are the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ weights of the pseudo-vacuum.

We can also define the transfer matrix

$$\mathcal{T}(u) = \operatorname{tr} T(u), \tag{2.13}$$

which gives commuting quantities

$$[\mathcal{T}(u), \mathcal{T}(v)] = 0. \tag{2.14}$$

For a given sets of complex numbers $\bar{t}^{\mu} = \{t_k^{\mu}\}_{k=1}^{r_k}, \mu = 1, \dots, N-1$, following [33], one can define off-shell Bethe vectors

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) \equiv \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \dots, \bar{t}^{N-1}).$$
(2.15)

The recursion for the definition of the off-shell Bethe vectors can be found in the appendix A. The Bethe vector is on-shell if the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{μ} satisfies the Bethe Ansatz equations

$$\alpha_{\mu}(t_{k}^{\mu}) := \frac{\lambda_{\mu}(t_{k}^{\mu})}{\lambda_{\mu+1}(t_{k}^{\mu})} = \frac{f(t_{k}^{\mu}, \bar{t}_{k}^{\mu})}{f(\bar{t}_{k}^{\mu}, t_{k}^{\mu})} \frac{f(\bar{t}^{\mu+1}, t_{k}^{\mu})}{f(t_{k}^{\mu}, \bar{t}^{\mu-1})},$$
(2.16)

where we used the following notations

$$g(u,v) = \frac{c}{u-v}, \qquad h(u,v) = \frac{f(u,v)}{g(u,v)},$$

$$f(u,v) = 1 + g(u,v) = \frac{u-v+c}{u-v}, \qquad \bar{t}_k^\mu = \bar{t}^\mu \backslash t_k^\mu, \qquad (2.17)$$

$$f(u,\bar{t}^i) = \prod_{k=1}^{r_i} f(u,t_k^i), \qquad f(\bar{t}^i,u) = \prod_{k=1}^{r_i} f(t_k^i,u), \quad f(\bar{t}^i,\bar{t}^j) = \prod_{k=1}^{r_i} f(t_k^i,\bar{t}^j).$$

The on-shell Bethe vectors are eigenvectors of the transfer matrix

$$\mathcal{T}(u)\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \tau(u|\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}), \qquad (2.18)$$

with the eigenvalue

$$\tau(u|\bar{t}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda_i(u) f(\bar{t}^i, u) f(u, \bar{t}^{i-1}), \qquad (2.19)$$

where $r_0 = r_N = 0$.

One can also define the left eigenvectors of the transfer matrix

$$\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathcal{T}(u) = \tau(u|\bar{t})\mathbb{C}(\bar{t}),\tag{2.20}$$

and the square of the norm of the on-shell Bethe states satisfies the Gaudin hypothesis [34]

$$\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \prod_{k \neq l} f(t_l^{\nu}, t_k^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}^{\nu})} \det G,$$
(2.21)

where G is the Gaudin matrix given by

$$G_{j,k}^{(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial \log \Phi_j^{(\mu)}}{\partial t_k^{\nu}}, \qquad (2.22)$$

where we defined the expressions

$$\Phi_k^{(\mu)} = \alpha_\mu(t_k^\mu) \frac{f(\bar{t}_k^\mu, t_k^\mu)}{f(t_k^\mu, \bar{t}_k^\mu)} \frac{f(t_k^\mu, \bar{t}^{\mu-1})}{f(\bar{t}^{\mu+1}, t_k^\mu)}.$$
(2.23)

We can also define another monodromy matrix which satisfies the same RTT-algebra [35]. This transfer matrix can be obtained from one of the quantum minors as

$$\widehat{T}_{N+1-j,N+1-i}(u) = (-1)^{i+j} t_{1,\dots,\hat{i},\dots,N}^{1,\dots,N}(u-c) \operatorname{qdet}(T(u))^{-1},$$
(2.24)

$$t_{b_1,b_2,\dots,b_m}^{a_1,a_2,\dots,a_m}(u) = \sum_p \operatorname{sgn}(p) T_{a,b_{p(1)}}(u) T_{a,b_{p(2)}}(u-c) \dots T_{a,b_{p(m)}}(u-(m-1)c), \quad (2.25)$$

$$qdet(T(u)) = t_{1,2,\dots,N}^{1,2,\dots,N}(u).$$
 (2.26)

Here \hat{i} and \hat{j} mean that the corresponding indices are omitted. We call \hat{T} as twisted monodromy matrix. The twisted monodromy matrix \hat{T} is also a highest weight representation of Y(N), i.e.,

$$\widehat{T}_{i,i}|0\rangle = \widehat{\lambda}_i(u)|0\rangle, \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, \dots, N,
\widehat{T}_{j,i}|0\rangle = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad 1 \le i < j \le N,$$
(2.27)

where the pseudo-vacuum eigenvalues are

$$\hat{\lambda}_{i}(u) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{N-i+1}(u - (N-i)c)} \prod_{k=1}^{N-i} \frac{\lambda_{k}(u - kc)}{\lambda_{k}(u - (k-1)c)}.$$
(2.28)

The ratios of the vacuum eigenvalues have the following form

$$\hat{\alpha}_{i}(u) = \frac{\hat{\lambda}_{i}(u)}{\hat{\lambda}_{i+1}(u)} = \alpha_{N-i}(u - (N-i)c).$$
(2.29)

The twisted monodromy matrix \hat{T} is similar to the inverse of the original monodromy matrix T:

$$V\widehat{T}^t(u)VT(u) = 1, (2.30)$$

where V is an off-diagonal $N \times N$ matrix of the auxiliary space with the components $V_{i,j} = \delta_{i,N+1-j}$ and the superscript t is the transposition in the auxiliary space, i.e. $\left[\hat{T}^t(u)\right]_{i,j} = \hat{T}_{j,i}(u)$. Applying this equation to the *RTT*-relation we obtain the $R\hat{T}T$ -relation

$$\bar{R}_{1,2}(u-v)\bar{T}_1(u)T_2(v) = T_2(v)\bar{T}_1(u)\bar{R}_{1,2}(u-v), \qquad (2.31)$$

where we used the crossed R-matrix

$$\bar{R}_{1,2}(u) = V_2 R_{1,2}^{t_2}(-u) V_2.$$
(2.32)

One can also define the corresponding twisted transfer matrix as

$$\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(u) = \operatorname{tr}\widehat{T}(u) = \sum_{i=1}^{N}\widehat{T}_{i,i}(u).$$
(2.33)

From the RT-relation (2.31) on can derive that the original and twisted monodromy matrices are commuting

$$[\mathcal{T}(u), \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(v)] = 0, \qquad (2.34)$$

therefore they have common eigenvectors. Let $\hat{\mathbb{B}}(\bar{t})$ be the off-shell Bethe vector generated from $\hat{T}_{i,j}$. In [35] the connection between the Bethe vectors $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$ and $\hat{\mathbb{B}}(\bar{t})$ was determined

$$\hat{\mathbb{B}}(\bar{t}) = (-1)^{\#\bar{t}} \left(\prod_{s=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s) \right)^{-1} \mathbb{B}(\mu(\bar{t})),$$
(2.35)

where

$$u(\bar{t}) = \{\bar{t}^{N-1} - c, \bar{t}^{N-2} - 2c, \dots, \bar{t}^1 - (N-1)c\}.$$
(2.36)

The eigenvalue of the twisted transfer matrix

$$\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(u)\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \widehat{\tau}(u|\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$$
(2.37)

has the following form

$$\hat{\tau}(u|\bar{t}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \hat{\lambda}_i(u) f(\bar{t}^{N-i} + (N-i)c, u) f(u, \bar{t}^{N-i+1} + (N-i+1)c).$$
(2.38)

From the co-product form of the monodromy matrix (2.8), we can obtain the co-product form of twisted monodromy matrix using (2.30)

$$\widehat{T}_{0}(u) = \widehat{L}_{0,J}^{\Lambda^{(J)}}(u - \xi_{J}) \dots \widehat{L}_{0,1}^{\Lambda^{(1)}}(u - \xi_{1}), \qquad (2.39)$$

where

$$\widehat{L}_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u) = V_0 \left(\left(\widehat{L}_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u) \right)^{-1} \right)^{t_0} V_0.$$
(2.40)

For rectangular Young diagrams where $\Lambda_j = s$ for $j \leq a$, $\Lambda_j = 0$ for $j \geq a$ let us introduce the notation $L^{(s,a)}(u)$ for the Lax-operators. For these representations the Lax-operators satisfy the unitarity property

$$L^{(s,a)}(u)L^{(s,a)}(-u-c(s-a)) = \frac{(u+cs)(u-ca)}{u(u+c(s-a))}\mathbf{1},$$
(2.41)

therefore

$$\hat{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u) = \frac{u(u+c(s-a))}{(u+cs)(u-ca)} V_0 \Big(L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u-c(s-a)) \Big)^{t_0} V_0.$$
(2.42)

3 Exact overlaps for untwisted boundary states

In this section we review the so-called KT-relation which serves as the defining relation for the integrable boundary states [30]. One can introduce the KT-relation in two different ways, and we analyze the untwisted and the twisted KT-relations, separately. The main advantage of these relations is that we can replace the creation operators in the Bethe vectors with the annihilation ones, which opens the way to calculate overlaps between Bethe and boundary states by recursion. In this section we concentrate on the untwisted case. In [30] the formulas for on-shell overlaps were derived for a subset of integrable boundary states. In this section we review these results and generalize them for all integrable boundary states.

3.1 Definition of the untwisted integrable states

The untwisted integrable boundary states $\langle \Psi |$ are defined by the following untwisted KT-relation

$$K_0(u)\langle \Psi | T_0(u) = \langle \Psi | T_0(-u) K_0(u), \tag{3.1}$$

where K(u) is an invertible $N \times N$ matrix of the auxiliary space.¹ We define the twisted KTrelation in the next section. In [30] it was showed that the consistency of the definition (3.1)
requires the reflection equation for the K-matrix

$$R_{1,2}(u-v)K_1(-u)R_{1,2}(u+v)K_2(-v) = K_2(-v)R_{1,2}(u+v)K_1(-u)R_{1,2}(u-v).$$
(3.2)

In the following we analyze the KT-relation in more detail. We investigate the properties of the possible K-matrices, show the relation between K-matrices and boundary states and also show the consequences of the KT-relation for the on-shell overlaps.

3.1.1 Integrable K-matrices and their regular forms

The most general solution of the reflection equation (3.2) is well known [37]:

$$K(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}}{u} \mathbf{1} + \mathcal{U}, \tag{3.3}$$

where \mathcal{U} is an $N \times N$ involution matrix, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{U}^2 = \mathbf{1}.\tag{3.4}$$

The constant $\mathfrak{a} \in \mathbb{C}$ is a free parameter of the K-matrix. We note that there is another type of solutions of the reflection equation for which $\mathcal{U}^2 = 0$, and we call them singular solutions.

Since the monodromy matrix has $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetry

$$T_0(u) = G_0 \Delta(G) T_0(u) G_0^{-1} \Delta(G^{-1}), \qquad (3.5)$$

(where $G \in GL(N)$ and $\Delta(G) \in End(\mathcal{H})$ is the co-product of G which acts on the quantum space and G_0 acts on the auxiliary space) we can obtain transformed K-matrices and boundary states

$$K^{G}(u) = G_{0}^{-1} K_{0}(u) G_{0}, \qquad \langle \Psi^{G} | = \langle \Psi | \Delta(G),$$
(3.6)

which also satisfy the untwisted KT-relation:

$$K^{G}(u)\langle \Psi^{G}|T_{0}(u) = \langle \Psi^{G}|T_{0}(-u)K^{G}(u).$$
(3.7)

One can diagonalize the involution \mathcal{U} as

$$G^{-1}\mathcal{U}G = \operatorname{diag}(\underbrace{-1,\ldots,-1}_{M},\underbrace{+1,\ldots,+1}_{N-M}),\tag{3.8}$$

¹Since the defining equation of the monodromy matrix (RTT-equation (2.3)) is homogeneous on T, the renormalized monodromy matrix $\tilde{T}(z) = \tilde{\lambda}(z)T(z)$ is also a solution of the RTT-relation. However this renormalized monodromy matrix satisfies only a renormalized KT-relation therefore using the definition (3.1) we partially fixed the normalization freedom to the symmetric functions $\tilde{\lambda}(-z) = \tilde{\lambda}(z)$.

where the numbers of -1-s and 1 are M and N - M, respectively. We say that the matrix \mathcal{U} has signature (M, N - M) and we call it type (N, M) involution. We can see that the K-matrix commutes with a $\mathfrak{gl}(M) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ subalgebra of the original algebra $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ therefore we call this K-matrix and the corresponding boundary state $\langle \Psi |$ the $\mathfrak{gl}(M) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ symmetric K-matrix and boundary state. Without loss of generality we can assume that $M \leq \frac{N}{2}$. We also call the K-matrix and boundary states with signature (3.8) as type (N, M) K-matrix and boundary states.

At the end of the day, we are interested in on-shell overlaps $\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$. We know that the on-shell Bethe states $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$ are highest weight states, i.e.,

$$\Delta(E_{i,j})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = 0, \quad \text{for } i < j.$$
(3.9)

Applying this property we obtain that the on-shell overlaps are invariant under GL(N) transformations corresponding these generators

$$\langle \Psi^G | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \Delta(G) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}), \qquad (3.10)$$

where $G = \exp(\varphi E_{i,j})$ for i < j. In the following let us try to apply such transformations, which leave the on-shell overlap invariant, to obtain a fixed form for different K-matrices and involutions \mathcal{U} with the same type.

Let us define GL(N) transformations which contains only generators $E_{i,j}$ where i < j (rising operators):

$$G = \exp\left(\sum_{c=2}^{N-1} \varphi_c E_{1,c}\right) \exp\left(\sum_{c=2}^{N-1} \phi_c E_{c,N}\right) \exp(\Phi E_{1,N}),$$
(3.11)

where the angles are fixed by

$$\varphi_c = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{N,c}}{\mathcal{U}_{N,1}}, \quad \phi_c = \frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,1}}{\mathcal{U}_{N,1}}, \quad \Phi = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{N,N} - s}{\mathcal{U}_{N,1}}, \quad s = \pm 1.$$
(3.12)

We saw that the transformation $\langle \Psi | \Delta(G)$ does not change the on-shell overlaps. The corresponding transformed \mathcal{U} -matrix is

$$\mathcal{U}^{(2)} = G^{-1} \mathcal{U} G, \tag{3.13}$$

which has the following components

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{U}_{1,1}^{(2)} &= -s, & \mathcal{U}_{1,b}^{(2)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{1,N}^{(2)} &= 0, \\
\mathcal{U}_{a,1}^{(2)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{a,b} - \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,1}\mathcal{U}_{N,b}}{\mathcal{U}_{N,1}}, & \mathcal{U}_{a,N}^{(2)} &= 0, & (3.14) \\
\mathcal{U}_{N,1}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{N,1}, & \mathcal{U}_{N,b}^{(2)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{N,N}^{(2)} &= s,
\end{aligned}$$

where a, b = 2, ..., N-1. Without limiting the generality, let us choose the convention s = +1. We can see that the new matrix $\mathcal{U}^{(2)}$ has a block diagonal form and the matrix $\left\{\mathcal{U}^{(2)}_{a,b}\right\}_{a,b=2}^{N-1}$ in the N-2 dimensional invariant subspace is a type (N-2, M-1) involution matrix. Applying the analog transformation on the N-2 dimensional invariant subspace, we obtain an N-4 dimensional invariant subspace. Reaping this method, we obtain a series of matrices

$$\mathcal{U}^{(k+1)} = \left(G^{(k)}\right)^{-1} \mathcal{U}^{(k)} G^{(k)}, \quad \mathcal{U}^{(1)} = \mathcal{U},$$
(3.15)

where the GL(N) transformations are

$$G^{(k)} = \exp\left(\sum_{c=k+1}^{N-k} \varphi_c^{(k)} E_{k,c}\right) \exp\left(\sum_{c=k+1}^{N-k} \phi_c^{(k)} E_{c,N+1-k}\right) \exp(\Phi^{(k)} E_{k,N+1-k}), \quad (3.16)$$

with

$$\varphi_c^{(k)} = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,c}^{(k)}}{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,k}^{(k)}}, \quad \phi_c^{(k)} = \frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,k}^{(k)}}{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,k}^{(k)}}, \quad \Phi^{(k)} = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,N+1-k}^{(k)} - 1}{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,1}^{(k)}}.$$
 (3.17)

The components of the matrices $\mathcal{U}^{(k)}$ have the following recursion

$$\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,\beta}^{(k+1)} = -\delta_{\alpha,\beta}, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\alpha,b}^{(k+1)} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\alpha,\bar{\beta}}^{(2)} = 0, \\
\mathcal{U}_{a,\beta}^{(k+1)} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(k+1)} = \mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(k)} - \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,k}^{(k)}\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,b}^{(k)}}{\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,k}^{(k)}}, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{a,\bar{\beta}}^{(2)} = 0, \quad (3.18) \\
\mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},\beta}^{(k+1)} = \mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},\beta}^{(\beta)}\delta_{N+1-\bar{\alpha},\beta}, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},b}^{(k+1)} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}}^{(2)} = +\delta_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}},$$

where $\alpha, \beta = 1, \ldots, k$, $a, b = k + 1, \ldots, N - k$, $\bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta} = N - k + 1, \ldots, N$. We can see that the matrix $\left\{\mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(k+1)}\right\}_{a,b=k+1}^{N-k}$ in the N-2k dimensional invariant subspace is a type (N-2k, M-k) involution matrix. We can use this definition as long as $\mathcal{U}_{N+1-k,k}^{(k)} \neq 0$, which is equivalent to that the N-2k+2 dimensional matrix $\left\{\mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(k)}\right\}_{a,b=k}^{N+1-k}$ is not a type (N-2k+2,0) involution matrix which is the identity, i.e. for the type (N, M) involution the recursion stops at the k = M + 1 step and we have the involution matrix

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{U}_{\alpha,\beta}^{(M+1)} &= -\delta_{\alpha,\beta}, & \mathcal{U}_{\alpha,b}^{(M+1)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{\alpha,\bar{\beta}}^{(M+1)} &= 0, \\
\mathcal{U}_{a,\beta}^{(M+1)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(M+1)} &= +\delta_{a,b}, & \mathcal{U}_{a,\bar{\beta}}^{(M+1)} &= 0, & (3.19) \\
\mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},\beta}^{(M+1)} &= \mathfrak{b}_{\beta}\delta_{N+1-\bar{\alpha},\beta}, & \mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},b}^{(M+1)} &= 0, & \mathcal{U}_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}}^{(M+1)} &= +\delta_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}},
\end{aligned}$$

where $\alpha, \beta = 1, \dots, M, a, b = M + 1, \dots, N - M, \bar{\alpha}, \bar{\beta} = N - M + 1, \dots, N$ and

$$\mathfrak{b}_{\beta} = \mathcal{U}_{N+1-\beta,\beta}^{(\beta)}.\tag{3.20}$$

Hereafter, we call the matrix $\mathcal{U}^{(M+1)}$ (and the corresponding K-matrix $K^{(M+1)}(z) = \frac{a}{z}\mathbf{1} + \mathcal{U}^{(M+1)}$ and boundary state $\langle \Psi^{(M+1)} | \rangle$ the regular form of the type (N, M) involution \mathcal{U} (and K-matrix K(z) and boundary state $\langle \Psi | \rangle$. Since the GL(N) transformations (3.16) contain only rising operators, the on-shell overlaps with the regular and the original boundary states are the same

$$\langle \Psi^{(M+1)} | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \prod_{k=1}^{M} \Delta(G^{(k)}) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}).$$
(3.21)

During the calculation of the overlaps, we concentrate on K-matrices with regular forms.

3.1.2 Solutions of the untwisted KT-relations

During the derivations of the overlaps, we do not need to specify $\langle \Psi |$, it is enough to require the constraint (3.1). In the following we demonstrate that there exist non-trivial boundary states $\langle \Psi |$ for all *K*-matrix and we show the connections to the solutions of the reflection equations in different representations.

We can build integrable boundary states using the co-product property (2.7). For the tensor product quantum space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$, if the $\langle \Psi^{(1)} | \in \mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ and $\langle \Psi^{(2)} | \in \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ are integrable boundary states with the same K-matrix K(u), i.e., the KT-relations are satisfied

$$K_0(u)\langle \Psi^{(i)}|T_0^{(i)}(u) = \langle \Psi^{(i)}|T_0^{(i)}(-u)K_0(u), \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2,$$
(3.22)

then the tensor product state

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \Psi^{(1)} | \otimes \langle \Psi^{(2)} | \in \mathcal{H}$$
(3.23)

satisfies the KT-relation (3.1) with the same K-matrix K(u) (see [30]). The consequence of this co-product property is that we can build integrable boundary states as tensor products of integrable two-site states.

Elementary two-site states for the defining representations. The simplest example is that where the quantum space is the tensor product of the defining and its contra-gradient representations for which the monodromy matrix is

$$T_0(u) = \bar{L}_{0,2}(u+\theta)L_{0,1}(u-\theta), \qquad (3.24)$$

where L(u) is Lax operator (2.6) for $\Lambda = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ and $\overline{L}(u)$ is Lax operator for $\Lambda = (0, ..., 0, -1)$, i.e.

$$L(u) = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{j,i}, \qquad \bar{L}(u) = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{N+1-i,N+1-j}.$$
(3.25)

For this "elementary" monodromy matrix the KT-relation reads as

$$K_0(u)\langle\psi(\theta)|\bar{L}_{0,2}(u+\theta)L_{0,1}(u-\theta) = \langle\psi(\theta)|\bar{L}_{0,2}(-u+\theta)L_{0,1}(-u-\theta)K_0(u).$$
(3.26)

The "elementary" two-site state $\langle \psi(\theta) |$ acts on the sites 1, 2. We can use the natural basis vectors e_i in \mathbb{C}^N for which $E_{i,j}e_k = \delta_{j,k}e_i$. The "elementary" two-site state can be expressed as $\langle \psi(\theta) | = \sum \psi_{i,j}(\theta)(e_i)^t \otimes (e_j)^t$. Using the equivalent matrix form of the two site state $\psi(\theta) = \sum \psi_{j,i}(\theta)E_{i,j}$ the KT-relation reads (3.26) as

$$K_0(u)\bar{L}_{0,1}(u+\theta)^{t_1}\psi_1(\theta)L_{0,1}(u-\theta) = \bar{L}_{0,1}(-u+\theta)^{t_1}\psi_1(\theta)L_{0,1}(-u-\theta)K_0(u).$$
(3.27)

Since

$$\bar{L}_{0,1}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^N (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes (E_{N+1-i,N+1-j})_1^t = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^N (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes (E_{N+1-j,N+1-i})_1$$
$$= V_1 L_{0,1}(-u) V_1, \qquad (3.28)$$

the KT-relation simplifies as

$$K_0(u)L_{0,1}(-u-\theta)V_1\psi_1(\theta)L_{0,1}(u-\theta) = L_{0,1}(u-\theta)V_1\psi_1(\theta)L_{0,1}(-u-\theta)K_0(u).$$
(3.29)

Since the permutation operator has the form $\mathbf{P} = \sum_{i,j} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{j,i}$ the Lax operator is just the *R*-matrix $L(u) = \frac{1}{u}R(u)$ therefore the *KT*-relation is simplified as

$$K_0(u)R_{0,1}(-u-\theta)V_1\psi_1(\theta)R_{0,1}(u-\theta) = R_{0,1}(u-\theta)V_1\psi_1(\theta)R_{0,1}(-u-\theta)K_0(u).$$
(3.30)

We just obtained the original reflection equation (3.2) therefore the two-site satisfies the "elementary" KT-relation (3.26) if

$$V\psi(\theta) = K(\theta) \rightarrow \psi_{j,i}(\theta) = K_{N+1-i,j}(\theta).$$
 (3.31)

Elementary two-site states for general representations. We can generalize the two-site states and the corresponding KT-relation for any representation Λ as

$$K_{0}(u)\langle\psi^{\Lambda}(\theta)|L_{0,2}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(u+\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u-\theta) = \langle\psi^{\Lambda}(\theta)|L_{0,2}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(-u+\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(-u-\theta)K_{0}(u), \quad (3.32)$$

where $\Lambda = (\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N)$ and $\Lambda = (-\Lambda_N, \ldots, -\Lambda_1)$. For representations Λ (even for infinite dimensional ones) for which there is a non-trivial solution of the above equation, we can build general integrable two-site states as

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \psi^{\Lambda_1}(\theta_1) | \otimes \langle \psi^{\Lambda_2}(\theta_2) | \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle \psi^{\Lambda_{J/2}}(\theta_{J/2}) |.$$
(3.33)

In the following we demonstrate that there exist two-site states for any finite dimensional irreps.

At first, let us choose a basis e_i^{Λ} in \mathcal{V}^{Λ} and their co-vectors are $\left(e_i^{\Lambda}\right)^t$. We can express the two-site state as $\langle \psi^{\Lambda}(\theta) | = \sum \psi_{i,j}(\theta) \left(e_i^{\Lambda}\right)^t \otimes \left(e_j^{\Lambda}\right)^t$. Using the equivalent matrix form of the two-site state $\psi^{\Lambda}(\theta) = \sum \psi_{j,i}^{\Lambda}(\theta) e_i^{\Lambda} \otimes \left(e_j^{\Lambda}\right)^t$, the *KT*-relation (3.32) reads as

$$K_0(u)L_{0,1}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(u+\theta)^{t_1}\psi_1^{\Lambda}(\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u-\theta) = L_{0,1}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(-u+\theta)^{t_1}\psi_1^{\Lambda}(\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(-u-\theta)K_0(u).$$
(3.34)

Let us look at the Lax operator $L^{\bar{\Lambda}}$ in more detail. It contains the highest weight representation $E_{i,j}^{\bar{\Lambda}}$. Let us define the following sets of operators

$$\bar{E}_{i,j}^{\Lambda} = -E_{N+1-j,N+1-i}^{\Lambda}, \qquad (3.35)$$

which is also a highest weight irrep of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ and the highest weights are $(-\Lambda_N, \ldots, -\Lambda_1)$ therefore we can choose the convention for the generators $E_{i,j}^{\overline{\Lambda}}$ as $E_{i,j}^{\overline{\Lambda}} = -E_{N+1-j,N+1-i}^{\Lambda}$. We also choose the convention $\left(E_{i,j}^{\Lambda}\right)^t = E_{j,i}^{\Lambda}$ therefore

$$L_{0,1}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(E_{N+1-j,N+1-i}^{\Lambda} \right)_1.$$
(3.36)

The set of operators $\tilde{E}_{i,j}^{\Lambda} = E_{N+1-i,N+1-j}^{\Lambda}$ is also an irrep of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ but the state $|0^{\Lambda}\rangle$ is now a lowest weight state i.e. $\tilde{E}_{i,j}|0^{\Lambda}\rangle = 0$ for i > j and the lowest weights are $(\Lambda_N, \ldots, \Lambda_1)$. Since

every finite dimensional irreps are highest weight reps therefore there exists a highest weight state $|\tilde{0}^{\Lambda}\rangle$ with highest weights $(\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N)$. Since the highest weight irreps are unique there exists a similarity transformation V^{Λ} for which $\tilde{E}_{i,j}^{\Lambda} = V^{\Lambda} E_{i,j}^{\Lambda} V^{\Lambda}$, i.e.,

$$L_{0,1}^{\bar{\Lambda}}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(V^{\Lambda} E_{j,i}^{\Lambda} V^{\Lambda} \right)_1 = V_1^{\Lambda} L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(-u) V_1^{\Lambda}.$$
(3.37)

Substituting back to the equation (3.34), we obtain that

$$K_{0}(u)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(-u-\theta)V_{1}^{\Lambda}\psi_{1}^{\Lambda}(\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u-\theta) = L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(u-\theta)V_{1}^{\Lambda}\psi_{1}^{\Lambda}(\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(-u-\theta)K_{0}(u), \quad (3.38)$$

which is equivalent to the reflection equation

$$K_0(-u)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(\theta+u)K_1^{\Lambda}(-\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(\theta-u) = L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(\theta-u)K_1^{\Lambda}(-\theta)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda}(\theta+u)K_0(-u), \quad (3.39)$$

where we used the notation

$$K_1^{\Lambda}(\theta) = V_1^{\Lambda} \psi_1^{\Lambda}(\theta) \quad \to \quad \psi_{j,i}^{\Lambda}(\theta) = \sum_k V_{i,k}^{\Lambda} K_{k,j}^{\Lambda}(\theta).$$
(3.40)

Since the reflection equation has non-trivial solution for any finite dimensional representation Λ (e.g. it can be obtained from the original K-matrix K(u) using the fusion procedure [38]) we just showed that the two-site states exist for any finite dimensional irreps. However, it is worth to note that the original equation (3.32) also has infinite dimensional solutions and our later derivations are independent from the quantum space therefore the results are valid even for the infinite dimensional integrable two-site states. In section 5.3 we show an example for infinite dimensional boundary state.

Symmetric properties of the vacuum eigenvalues. We showed that we can build general integrable states as

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \psi^{\Lambda^{(1)}}(\theta_1) | \otimes \langle \psi^{\Lambda^{(2)}}(\theta_2) | \otimes \dots \otimes \langle \psi^{\Lambda^{(J)}}(\theta_J) |, \qquad (3.41)$$

where the monodromy matrices are defined as

$$T_0(u) = L_{0,2J}^{\bar{\Lambda}^{(J)}}(u+\theta_J)L_{0,2J-1}^{\Lambda^{(J)}}(u-\theta_J)\dots L_{0,2}^{\bar{\Lambda}^{(2)}}(u+\theta_1)L_{0,1}^{\Lambda^{(1)}}(u-\theta_1).$$
(3.42)

We can see that untwisted final states exist only for alternating spin chains where the representation of site 2j is the conjugate representation of site 2j - 1. For these alternating chain the pseudo-vacuum eigenvalues are

$$\lambda_{i}(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{J} \frac{u - \theta_{k} + c\Lambda_{i}^{(k)}}{u - \theta_{k}} \frac{u + \theta_{k} + c\bar{\Lambda}_{i}^{(k)}}{u + \theta_{k}} = \prod_{k=1}^{J} \frac{u - \theta_{k} + c\Lambda_{i}^{(k)}}{u - \theta_{k}} \frac{u + \theta_{k} - c\Lambda_{N+1-i}^{(k)}}{u + \theta_{k}}, \quad (3.43)$$

therefore we have the following properties

$$\lambda_i(u) = \lambda_{N+1-i}(-u), \qquad \alpha_i(u) = \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-i}(-u)}.$$
(3.44)

3.1.3 Pair structure

In this paper our goal is to calculate the overlaps between boundary states and on-shell Bethe states: $\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$. There is an important property of these on-shell overlaps. From the *KT*-relation (3.1) we can easily show that

$$\langle \Psi | (\mathcal{T}(u) - \mathcal{T}(-u)) = 0. \tag{3.45}$$

Applying it on an on-shell Bethe vector we obtain that

$$\left(\tau(u|\bar{t}) - \tau(-u|\bar{t})\right) \langle \Psi| \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = 0, \qquad (3.46)$$

therefore the non-vanishing on-shell overlaps $(\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) \neq 0)$ require that

$$\tau(u|\bar{t}) = \tau(-u|\bar{t}). \tag{3.47}$$

It can be shown that it is equivalent to that the Bethe roots have achiral pair structure $\bar{t}^{N-\nu} = -\bar{t}^{\nu}$ i.e.,

$$\bar{t} = \pi^a(\bar{t}), \qquad \pi^a(\bar{t}) = \{-\bar{t}^{N-1}, -\bar{t}^{N-2}, \dots, -\bar{t}^1\}.$$
(3.48)

We introduce some notations. For odd N or even N where $r_{\frac{N}{2}}$ is even, we can decompose the set of Bethe roots as $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^-$, where $\bar{t}^\pm = \{\bar{t}^{\pm},\nu\}_{\nu=1}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor}$ and $\bar{t}^{+,\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}$, $\bar{t}^{-,\nu} = \bar{t}^{N-\nu}$ for $\nu < \frac{N}{2}$ and $\bar{t}^{+,\frac{N}{2}} = \left\{t_k^{\frac{N}{2}}\right\}_{k=1}^{r_{\frac{N}{2}}/2}$, $\bar{t}^{-,\frac{N}{2}} = \left\{t_k^{\frac{N}{2}}\right\}_{k=r_{\frac{N}{2}}/2+1}^{r_{\frac{N}{2}}}$. In the pair structure limit $\bar{t}^- = -\bar{t}^+$. For even N where $r_{\frac{N}{2}}$ is odd, we can decompose the set of Bethe roots as $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^- \cup \bar{t}^0$, where $\bar{t}^\pm = \{\bar{t}^{\pm,\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^{\frac{N}{2}}$ and $\bar{t}^{+,\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}$, $\bar{t}^{-,\nu} = \bar{t}^{N-\nu}$ for $\nu < \frac{N}{2}$ and $\bar{t}^{+,\frac{N}{2}} = \left\{t_k^{\frac{N}{2}}\right\}_{k=1}^{\frac{r_N-1}{2}}$, $\bar{t}^{-,\frac{N}{2}} = \left\{t_k^{\frac{N}{2}}\right\}_{\nu=1}^{r_{\frac{N}{2}+1}}$. In the pair structure limit $\bar{t}^- \to -\bar{t}^+$ and $\bar{t}^0 \to \{0\}$.

We will show that the on-shell overlaps are proportional to the Gaudin-like determinant det G^+ . When $\bar{t}^0 = \emptyset$, we have the decomposition $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^-$ and we can also make the corresponding decomposition of the set $\bar{\Phi} = \{\Phi_k^\mu\}_{\mu,k}$ (which are defined by (2.23)) as $\bar{\Phi} = \bar{\Phi}^+ \cup \bar{\Phi}^-$. Due to this decomposition, the original Gaudin matrix (2.22) has the following block form

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} A^{++} & A^{+-} \\ A^{-+} & A^{--} \end{pmatrix},$$
 (3.49)

where we defined the following matrices

$$\begin{aligned} A_{j,k}^{++,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{+,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)} \bigg|_{\bar{t}^- = -\bar{t}^+}, \quad A_{j,k}^{+-,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)} \bigg|_{\bar{t}^- = -\bar{t}^+}, \\ A_{j,k}^{-+,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{+,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{-,(\mu)} \bigg|_{\bar{t}^- = -\bar{t}^+}, \quad A_{j,k}^{--,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{-,(\mu)} \bigg|_{\bar{t}^- = -\bar{t}^+}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.50)

It is easy to show that $A^{++} = A^{--}$ and $A^{+-} = A^{+-}$. Using these identities, one can show that the original Gaudin determinant factorizes in the pair structure limit as

$$\det G = \det G^+ \det G^-, \tag{3.51}$$

where

$$\det G^{\pm} = \det \left(A^{++} \pm A^{+-} \right). \tag{3.52}$$

For odd $r_{N/2}$, i.e, when $\bar{t}^0 = \{t_{r_{N/2}}^{N/2}\}$, we have the decomposition $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^0 \cup \bar{t}^-$ and $\bar{\Phi} = \bar{\Phi}^+ \cup \bar{\Phi}^0 \cup \bar{\Phi}^-$. Due to this decomposition, the original Gaudin matrix (2.22) has the following block form

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} A^{++} & A^{+0} & A^{+-} \\ A^{0+} & A^{00} & A^{0-} \\ A^{-+} & A^{-0} & A^{--} \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.53)

where we defined the following matrices

$$\begin{aligned} A_{j}^{+0,(\mu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_{N/2}}^{N/2}} \log \Phi_{j}^{+,(\mu)}, \quad A_{j}^{-0,(\mu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_{N/2}}^{N/2}} \log \Phi_{j}^{-,(\mu)}, \\ A_{k}^{0+,(\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{k}^{+,\nu}} \log \Phi_{r_{N/2}}^{(N/2)}, \quad A_{k}^{0-,(\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{k}^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_{r_{N/2}}^{(N/2)}, \\ A^{00} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_{N/2}}^{N/2}} \log \Phi_{r_{N/2}}^{(N/2)}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.54)

In the r.h.s. we took the pair structure limit $\bar{t}^{-,\nu} \to -\bar{t}^{+,\nu}, \bar{t}^0 \to \{0\}$ after the derivation. It is easy to show that

$$A^{++} = A^{--}, \quad A^{+-} = A^{-+}, A^{0+} = A^{0-}, \quad A^{0-} = A^{0+},$$
(3.55)

therefore the original Gaudin determinant factorizes also as (3.51) with the definitions

$$\det G^{+} = \begin{vmatrix} A^{++} + A^{+-} & A^{+0} \\ A^{0+} & \frac{1}{2}A^{00} \end{vmatrix}, \quad \det G^{-} = 2 \left| A^{++} - A^{+-} \right|.$$
(3.56)

3.2 Overlaps for the type $(N, \left|\frac{N}{2}\right|), (N, 0)$ and singular K-matrices

In this subsection we review the results of [30] for the untwisted overlaps. In [30] the on-shell overlap formulas were proved for the type $(N, \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)$ boundary states. In the next subsection we use this result to prove the on-shell overlap formulas for all untwisted boundary states.

3.2.1 On-shell overlaps for type $(N, \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)$ K-matrices

Let us choose the type $(N, \left|\frac{N}{2}\right|)$ K-matrix with its regular form

$$K(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor} \frac{\mathfrak{a} - z}{z} E_{k,k} + \sum_{k=\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor + 1}^{N} \frac{\mathfrak{a} + z}{z} E_{k,k} + \sum_{k=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_k E_{N+1-k,k}.$$
 (3.57)

In [30] it was proved that the normalized on-shell overlap has the following simple form

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left(-2\frac{\mathfrak{a}}{c}\right)^{\mathbf{r}^0} \prod_{\nu=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}} \mathbb{F}^{\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor}(\bar{t}^{+,\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}},$$

where we introduced a quantum number $\mathbf{r}^0 = \# \bar{t}^0$ and the one-particle overlap functions $\mathbb{F}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}$ read as

$$\mathbb{F}^{(\frac{N-1}{2})}(z) = \frac{-\mathfrak{a} - z}{\sqrt{(-z)(c/2 - z)}},$$

$$\mathbb{F}^{(\frac{N}{2})}(u) = \frac{(\mathfrak{a} - z)(\mathfrak{a} + z)}{\sqrt{-z^2(c/2 - z)(c/2 + z)}}.$$
(3.58)

In the applications it is common to use the c = i convention and redefine the Bethe roots as $u_k^{(\mu)} := t_k^{\mu} + \frac{i}{2}\mu + x$ for which the Bethe equations read as

$$\alpha_{\mu}\left(u_{k}^{(\mu)}-\frac{i}{2}\mu-x\right)=\prod_{l\neq k}^{r_{\mu}}\frac{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu)}+i}{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu)}-i}\prod_{l=1}^{r_{\mu+1}}\frac{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu+1)}-\frac{i}{2}}{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu+1)}+\frac{i}{2}}\prod_{l=1}^{r_{\mu+1}}\frac{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu-1)}-\frac{i}{2}}{u_{k}^{(\mu)}-u_{l}^{(\mu-1)}+\frac{i}{2}}.$$

For $x = -i\frac{N}{4}$ the pair structure limit $t_l^{N-\mu} = -t_k^{\mu}$ becomes $u_l^{(N-\mu)} = -u_k^{(\mu)}$. Introducing the Q-functions

$$Q_{\mu}(u) = \prod_{k=1}^{r_{\mu}} (u - u_k^{\mu}), \qquad (3.59)$$

and

$$\bar{Q}_{\mu}(u) = \begin{cases} Q_{\mu}(u), & \text{if } 0 \notin \bar{u}^{(\mu)}, \\ \frac{1}{u}Q_{\mu}(u), & \text{if } 0 \in \bar{u}^{(\mu)}, \end{cases}$$
(3.60)

the overlaps simplify as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \times \frac{Q_{\frac{N}{2}}(\mathfrak{a})}{\sqrt{\bar{Q}_{\frac{N}{2}}(0)Q_{\frac{N}{2}}(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}},\tag{3.61}$$

for even N and

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \times \frac{Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(-\mathfrak{a}-\frac{i}{4})}{\sqrt{Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(\frac{i}{4})Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(-\frac{i}{4})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}},$$
(3.62)

for odd N.

3.2.2 On-shell overlaps for the singular K-matrices

The result of [30] can be also applied for singular K-matrices. For simplicity, let us choose the singular K-matrix in the regular form

$$K(z) = \frac{1}{z} \mathbf{1} + \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_k E_{N+1-k,k}.$$
(3.63)

You can see that this singular K-matrix differs from the type $(N, \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)$ (3.57) only in its diagonal elements. The corresponding on-shell overlaps read as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \mathbb{F}_{s}^{(\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)}(\bar{t}^{+,\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}},$$
(3.64)

where

$$\mathbb{F}_{s}^{\left(\frac{N-1}{2}\right)}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(-z)(c/2-z)}},$$

$$\mathbb{F}_{s}^{\left(\frac{N}{2}\right)}(u) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-z^{2}(c/2-z)(c/2+z)}}.$$
(3.65)

In the next section we will use these overlap formulas in the limit $\mathfrak{b}_s \to 0$ for s > M. The limit of this formula is not well defined and the reason is that we fixed the normalization of the final state $\langle \Psi | as \langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = 1$ but in $\mathfrak{b}_s \to 0$ limit this cannot be done. Let us choose the normalization in a \mathfrak{b}_s dependent way:

$$\langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = A(\mathfrak{b}_{M+1}, \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}), \qquad (3.66)$$

where A is a function of \mathfrak{b} -s and it can also depend on the quantum space i.e. the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ weights of the pseudo-vacuum: $\mathbf{\Lambda} = (\mathbf{\Lambda}_1, \dots, \mathbf{\Lambda}_N)$. Using this normalization the overlap formula is modified as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = A(\mathfrak{b}_{M+1}, \dots, \mathfrak{b}_{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}) \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}} \right] \mathbb{F}_{s}^{\left(\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor\right)}(\bar{t}^{+, \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}}.$$
 (3.67)

There is also a novelty in the KT-relation in this limit. Applying the limit $\mathfrak{b}_s \to 0$ for s > M for the untwisted KT-relation, we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | T_{i,j}(u) = \langle \Psi | T_{i,j}(-u), \qquad (3.68)$$

for M < i, j < N + 1 - M. Using the asymptotic expansion of the monodromy matrices (2.9) in the KT-relation (3.68) we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \Delta(E_{i,j}) = 0, \text{ for } M < i, j < N + 1 - M,$$
 (3.69)

therefore the final state $\langle \Psi |$ is a singlet for a $\mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ subalgebra. To obtain non-vanishing overlaps, the Bethe states also have to be singlets for this subalgebra. The $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ weights of the Bethe states are

$$\Delta(E_{k,k})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = (\mathbf{\Lambda}_k + r_{k-1} - r_k)\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}), \qquad (3.70)$$

therefore the non-vanishing overlaps require that

$$\Lambda_k = r_k - r_{k-1}, \quad \text{for } M < k < N+1 - M, \tag{3.71}$$

i.e., we can fix the quantum numbers as

$$r_k = r_M + \sum_{l=M+1}^k \mathbf{\Lambda}_l, \quad \text{for } k = M+1, \dots, \left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor,$$
(3.72)

in the limit $\mathfrak{b}_s \to 0$ for s > M. Returning to the on-shell formula, let us choose the normalization as

$$A(\mathfrak{b}_{M+1},\ldots,\mathfrak{b}_{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor}) = \prod_{\nu=M+1}^{\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{\Lambda_{\nu}}.$$
(3.73)

Substituting back to (3.67), the renormalized overlap formula reads as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \left[\prod_{\nu=M+1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{\nu}+r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \mathbb{F}_{s}^{(\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)}(\bar{t}^{+,\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}}.$$
 (3.74)

We showed that the non-vanishing overlap have the selection rule (3.71) therefore the overlap formula simplifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \mathbb{F}_{s}^{\left(\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor\right)}(\bar{t}^{+,\left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^{+}}{\det G^{-}}}, \tag{3.75}$$

which has a well defined limit.

3.2.3 Sum formula for M = 0

For the M = 0 case, where the K-matrix is just the identity K(u) = 1, the KT-relation simplifies as

$$\langle \Psi | T_{i,j}(u) = \langle \Psi | T_{i,j}(-u), \text{ for } i, j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (3.76)

We can see that we obtain the M = 0 case from any M in the $\mathfrak{a} \to \infty$ limit. In [30] we also derived a sum formula for the off-shell overlaps of the type $(N, \lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor)$ boundary states and taking the $\mathfrak{a} \to \infty$ limit we can also obtain the sum formula for the off-shell overlaps of the M = 0 case. See the details in appendix B.

A special property appears in the M = 0 case. Using the asymptotic expansion of the monodromy matrices (2.9) in the KT-relation we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \Delta(E_{i,j}) = 0, \text{ for } i, j = 1, \dots, N,$$
 (3.77)

therefore the boundary state $\langle \Psi |$ is a sum of singlet states. Repeating the arguments of the previous sub-subsection, we obtain that the Bethe states with non-vanishing overlaps have to be $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ singlets, i.e. we have the selection rules

$$\mathbf{\Lambda}_k = r_k - r_{k-1},\tag{3.78}$$

i.e.,

$$r_k = r_k^{\mathbf{\Lambda}} := \sum_{l=1}^k \mathbf{\Lambda}_l. \tag{3.79}$$

Since the functions α -s depend on Λ , the sum formula does not give off-shell overlap for arbitrarily α -s only for the α -s which correspond to correct Λ_k -s. If we first fix the quantum numbers r_k then we have constrains on the representation of the quantum space therefore the only remaining freedom is to choose the limited number of inhomogeneities θ_i -s independently. The consequence is that the $\alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_k^{\nu})$ -s are not algebraically independent variables anymore.

Anyway, for proper α -s we have a sum formula for the (N, 0) type off-shell overlaps:

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = S^{0}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{1})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{1})} \bar{Z}^{0}(\pi^{a}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}})) \bar{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{1}), \qquad (3.80)$$

where the recursion for the highest coefficients (HC) \overline{Z}^0 is given in (B.6).

3.3 Recursion for the off-shell type (N, M) overlaps

In this section we show a recursive method for evaluation of the off-shell overlaps where the K-matrix has type (N, M) regular form

$$K(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_k E_{N+1-k,k} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} K_{k,k}(z) E_{k,k}.$$
(3.81)

Choosing the diagonal part as

$$K_{k,k}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\mathfrak{a}-z}{z}, & k = 1, \dots, M, \\ \frac{\mathfrak{a}+z}{z}, & k = M+1, \dots, N, \end{cases}$$
(3.82)

we obtain the type (N, M) K-matrix and choosing

$$K_{k,k}(z) = \frac{1}{z}, \quad k = 1, \dots, N,$$
(3.83)

we obtain a singular K-matrix with the type (N, M) form. The calculations below can be used for both cases.

Our method starts with the recurrence relation of the off-shell Bethe vectors (A.1)

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\{z,\bar{t}^{1}\},\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=2}^{N-1}\right) = \sum_{j=2}^{N} T_{1,j}(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} (\dots) \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{t}^{1},\left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\Pi}\right\}_{k=2}^{j-1},\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right).$$
(3.84)

Now we only want to sketch the method therefore we concentrate on the operator content of the recurrence relation (A.1), the explicit form of the numerical coefficients are not important, we use the notation (\ldots) for them. We also concentrate on changes of the quantum numbers r_k therefore we introduce the shorthanded notation

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) \to \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}},\tag{3.85}$$

where $r_j = \# \bar{t}^j$. Using this notation, the recurrence relation can be written as

$$\mathbb{B}^{r_1+1,r_2,\dots,r_{N-1}} = \sum_{j=2}^N T_{1,j} \sum (\dots) \mathbb{B}^{r_1,\tilde{r}_2\dots,\tilde{r}_{N-1}},$$
(3.86)

where $\tilde{r}_k \leq r_k$. We also use the action formula (A.3)

$$T_{i,j}\mathbb{B}^{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_{N-1}} = \begin{cases} \sum(\dots)\mathbb{B}^{r_1,\dots,r_i+1,r_{i+1}+1,\dots,r_{j-1}+1,r_j,\dots,r_{N-1}}, & i \le j, \\ \sum(\dots)\mathbb{B}^{r_1,\dots,r_j-1,r_{j+1}-1,\dots,r_{i-1}-1,r_i,\dots,r_{N-1}}, & i > j. \end{cases}$$
(3.87)

We can see that the operators $T_{i,j}$ for i < j increase the quantum numbers therefore they are the creation operators and analogously, the operators $T_{i,j}$ for i > j decrease the quantum numbers therefore they are the annihilation operators. We also use the (N, j) components of the KT-relation

$$\langle \Psi | T_{1,j}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{b}_j}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \Psi | T_{N,N+1-j}(-u) + \frac{K_{j,j}(u)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(-u) - \frac{K_{N,N}(u)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(u), \text{ for } j \leq M,$$
(3.88)

$$\langle \Psi | T_{1,j}(u) = \frac{K_{j,j}(u)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(-u) - \frac{K_{N,N}(u)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(u), \text{ for } j > M.$$
(3.89)

We can see that using this relation we can change the creation operators $T_{1,j}$ in (3.86) to annihilation operators $T_{N,N+1-j}$, $T_{N,j}$. Using the recurrence relation, the KT-relation and the action formula, we obtain a recurrence equation for the off-shell overlap:

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{j=2}^{M} \sum (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1 - 1, \dots, r_{j-1} - 1, r_j, \dots, r_{N-j}, r_{N-j+1} - 1, \dots, r_{N-1} - 1} + \sum (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1 - 1, \dots, r_{N-1} - 1}.$$

$$(3.90)$$

We can see that this recursion decreases r_1 and r_{N-1} by 1 therefore the non-vanishing off-shell overlaps requires

$$r_{N-1} = r_1. (3.91)$$

Using this recursion one can eliminate all \bar{t}^1 and \bar{t}^{N-1} which leads to a $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{0, \tilde{r}_2, \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-2}, 0}.$$
 (3.92)

We can see that this recursion leaves the differences $r_{k+1} - r_k = \tilde{r}_{k+1} - \tilde{r}_k$ invariant for $k = M, M + 1, \ldots N - M$. The Bethe states $\mathbb{B}^{0, \tilde{r}_2, \ldots, \tilde{r}_{N-2}, 0}$ in the $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ subsector are generated by $\{T_{a,b}\}_{a,b=2}^{N-1}$. Since $K_{N,a} = K_{a,N} = K_{1,a} = K_{a,1} = 0$ for $a = 2, \ldots, N-1$, the *KT*-relation is closed in this subsector, i.e.

$$\sum_{c=2}^{N-1} K_{a,c}(u) \langle \Psi | T_{c,b}(u) = \sum_{c=2}^{N-1} \langle \Psi | T_{a,c}(-u) K_{c,b}(u), \qquad (3.93)$$

for a, b = 2, ..., N - 1. The K-matrix $\{K_{a,b}(u)\}_{a,b=2}^{N-1}$ of this subsector has type (N - 2, M - 1) form.

Repeating the recursion we obtain type (N - 2M, 0) overlaps as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{0, \dots, 0, \tilde{r}_{M+1}, \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-M-1}, 0, \dots, 0}.$$
 (3.94)

Since the differences are invariant we can express \tilde{r}_k -s with r_k -s as

$$\tilde{r}_k = r_k - r_M, \quad \text{for } k = M + 1, \dots N - M - 1.$$
 (3.95)

Since the type (N - 2M, 0) K-matrix requires the selection rule (3.79), for non-vanishing overlaps we obtain that

$$\tilde{r}_k = r_k - r_M = \sum_{k=M+1}^s \mathbf{\Lambda}_k, \quad \text{for } s = M+1, \dots, N-M-1,$$
(3.96)

we can also invert this formula

$$\mathbf{\Lambda}_s = r_s - r_{s-1}, \quad \text{for } s = M+1, \dots, \left\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \right\rfloor.$$
(3.97)

3.4 Sum formula and the on-shell limit

In this section we show the sum formula of the off-shell overlap for the K-matrices with the form (3.81). This sum formula can be applied simultaneously for a type (N, M) K-matrix and a singular K-matrix for which the on-shell overlap was already derived (3.75). We show that the two off-shell formulas are proportional to each other therefore specifying the proportionality factor and using the on-shell formula of the singular case, we also obtain the on-shell formula for the type (N, M) boundary states.

For these types of K-matrices the off-shell overlaps have the following sum formula

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) := \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s})}{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s-1})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}) S_{\{\alpha^{s}\}_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1}}^{0} (\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}\}_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu}), \qquad (3.98)$$

where sum goes through the partitions $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$ where $\#\bar{t}_{I}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{I}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{I}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{I}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{I}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{II}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{II}^{s}$, $\#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-s} = \#\bar{t}_{II}^{N-M}$ and $\#\bar{t}_{III}^{1} = \#\bar{t}_{III}^{2} = \cdots = \#\bar{t}_{III}^{M-1} = 0$, $\bar{t}_{III}^{N-M} = \cdots = \#\bar{t}_{III}^{N-1} = 0$. The sum formula contains an overlap function S^{0} of a $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2M)$ spin chain with the identity K-matrix i.e. the type (N-2M,0) overlaps which were previously calculated, see (3.80). The proof of the sum formula can be found in appendix D.1.

In appendix F we show that the HC-s \mathcal{Z} and \mathcal{Z} are proportional to universal HC-s which are independent from the diagonal element of the K-matrix:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) &= \mathcal{G}(\bar{t}^M) \mathcal{Z}^0(\bar{t}), \\ \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) &= \mathcal{G}(\bar{t}^M) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}^0(\bar{t}), \end{aligned} \tag{3.99}$$

where

$$\mathcal{G}(z) = \frac{1}{g(-z,z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1}.$$
(3.100)

The universal HC-s \mathcal{Z}^0 and $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}^0$ are given by recurrence equations (F.13) and (F.19).

Substituting back (3.99) to the sum formula (3.98) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \mathcal{G}(\bar{t}^M) \mathcal{S}^0_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}), \qquad (3.101)$$

where we introduced the universal off-shell overlap

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}^{0}(\bar{t}) = \sum \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s})}{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s})} \times \mathcal{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}) S_{\{\alpha^{s}\}_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1}}^{0} (\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s}\}_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu}), \qquad (3.102)$$

which does not depend the diagonal part of the K-matrix. In the following, let $S^M_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t})$ and $S^s_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t})$ be the off-shell overlaps of the type (N, M) and the singular K-matrices i.e.

$$K_{1,1}(u) = \dots = K_{M,M}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a} - z}{z}, \ K_{M+1,M+1}(u) = \dots = K_{N,N}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a} + z}{z}, \quad \text{for } \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}^{M}, \quad (3.103)$$

$$K_{1,1}(u) = \dots = K_{M,M}(u) = K_{M+1,M+1}(u) = \dots = K_{N,N}(u) = \frac{1}{z}, \quad \text{for } \mathcal{S}^s_{\bar{\alpha}}.$$
 (3.104)

Using (3.101) and (3.100) we have

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}^{M}(\bar{t}) = \left[\prod_{k=1}^{r_{M}} \left(\mathfrak{a} + t_{k}^{M}\right)\right] \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}^{s}(\bar{t}).$$
(3.105)

In the previous section we already proved the normalized on-shell overlap for the singular K-matrix (3.75). Substituting back, we obtain the normalized on-shell overlap for the type (N, M) K-matrices

$$\frac{\langle \Psi^M | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^M \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \prod_{k=1}^{r_M} \left(-\mathfrak{a} - t_k^M\right) \mathbb{F}_0^{\left(\left\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\right\rfloor\right)}(\bar{t}^{+,\left\lfloor\frac{N}{2}\right\rfloor}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(3.106)

For c = i convention, using the Q-functions (3.59) the overlaps read as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi^M | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^M \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \frac{Q_M(-\mathfrak{a} + \frac{i}{2}\left(M - \frac{N}{2}\right))}{\sqrt{\bar{Q}_{\frac{N}{2}}(0)\bar{Q}_{\frac{N}{2}}(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}},$$
(3.107)

for even N and

$$\frac{\langle \Psi^M | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{\nu=1}^M \mathfrak{b}_{\nu}^{r_{\nu-1}-r_{\nu}}\right] \frac{Q_M(-\mathfrak{a} + \frac{i}{2}\left(M - \frac{N}{2}\right))}{\sqrt{Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(-\frac{i}{4})Q_{\frac{N-1}{2}}(\frac{i}{4})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}},$$
(3.108)

for odd N.

4 Exact overlaps for twisted boundary states

In this section we investigate the overlap formulas for twisted boundary states. In [30] we saw that there are two classes of twisted boundary states, the $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ and the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric ones. In [30] the $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ on-shell overlaps were already derived and now we calculate the remaining overlaps for the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric case. At first, we specify the twisted integrable boundary states and the corresponding K-matrices which satisfy the twisted KT-relation. Using this relation we show a recursive method which allows the calculation of the off-shell overlaps. After that we show a sum formula for the off-shell overlaps. The sum formula has useful properties that are the same as the embedding rules of the Gaudin-like determinants. These allow us to assume the on-shell overlap formula, but further work is needed for a precise proof, which we will postpone to later.

4.1 Definition of the twisted integrable states

Let us consider the boundary states $\langle \Psi |$ which satisfy the twisted KT-relation

$$K_0(u)\langle \Psi | T_0(u) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_0(-u) K_0(u),$$
(4.1)

where K(u) is an invertible $N \times N$ matrix of the auxiliary space. In [30] it was showed that the consistency of the definition (4.1) requires the twisted reflection equation for the K-matrix

$$R_{1,2}(u-v)K_1(-u)\bar{R}_{1,2}(u+v)K_2(-v) = K_2(-v)\bar{R}_{1,2}(u+v)K_1(-u)R_{1,2}(u-v).$$
(4.2)

We note that for N = 2 the twisted monodromy matrix is equivalent to the original one (see equation (A.7))

$$\widehat{T}_{0}(u) = \frac{\widehat{\lambda}_{2}(u)}{\lambda_{2}(u - \frac{c}{2})} \epsilon_{0}^{-1} T_{0} \left(u - \frac{c}{2} \right) \epsilon_{0} = \frac{\lambda_{1}(u)}{\lambda_{2}(u - \frac{c}{2})} \sigma_{0}^{-1} T_{0} \left(u - \frac{c}{2} \right) \sigma_{0}, \tag{4.3}$$

where we used (2.28) and

$$\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.4}$$

Substituting back to the twisted KT-relation, we obtain that

$$(\sigma_0 K_0(u)) \langle \Psi | T_0(u) = \frac{\lambda_0(u) \lambda_1(-u)}{\lambda_2(-u - \frac{c}{2})} \langle \Psi | T_0 \left(-u - \frac{c}{2} \right) (\sigma_0 K_0(u)).$$
(4.5)

Choosing the normalization for which $\lambda_0(u) = \frac{\lambda_2(-u-\frac{c}{2})}{\lambda_1(-u)}$, the shifted version of the monodromy matrix

$$\tilde{T}_0(u) = T_0\left(u - \frac{c}{2}\right) \tag{4.6}$$

satisfies the untwisted KT-relation

$$\tilde{K}_0(u)\langle\Psi|\tilde{T}_0(u) = \lambda_0(u)\langle\Psi|\tilde{T}_0(-u)\tilde{K}_0(u), \qquad (4.7)$$

where

$$\tilde{K}(u) = \sigma K \left(u - \frac{c}{2} \right). \tag{4.8}$$

We just showed that the untwisted and twisted KT-relations are equivalent for N = 2. In the following we concentrate on N > 2.

4.1.1 Integrable K-matrices and their regular forms

For N > 2 the most general solution of this equation is well known [37]:

$$K(u) = K = V\mathcal{U},\tag{4.9}$$

where K and \mathcal{U} are $N \times N$ matrices with the following constraint

$$K^{t} = \pm V K V, \qquad \mathcal{U}^{t} = \pm \mathcal{U}. \tag{4.10}$$

Since the monodromy matrices have $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetry

$$T_0(u) = G_0 \Delta(G) T_0(u) G_0^{-1} \Delta(G^{-1}), \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\widehat{T}_{0}(u) = \left(VG_{0}^{-1}V\right)^{t_{0}} \Delta(G)T_{0}(u)(VG_{0}V)^{t_{0}} \Delta(G^{-1}),$$
(4.12)

(where $G \in GL(N)$) we can obtain transformed K-matrices and boundary states as

$$K^G = VG^t VKG, \qquad \mathcal{U}^G = G^t \mathcal{U}G \qquad \langle \Psi^G | = \langle \Psi | \Delta(G)$$

$$(4.13)$$

which also satisfy the twisted KT-relation

$$K^G \langle \Psi^G | T_0(u) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi^G | \widehat{T}_0(-u) K^G.$$
(4.14)

We can determine the subgroups which leave the K-matrices (and equivalently the boundary states) invariant. Rearranging (4.13), the defining equation for the subgroups is

$$\mathcal{U} = G^t \mathcal{U} G,\tag{4.15}$$

therefore $G \in SO(N)$ for $\mathcal{U}^t = +\mathcal{U}$ and $G \in Sp(N)$ for $\mathcal{U}^t = -\mathcal{U}$, thus we call these K-matrices and the corresponding boundary states the $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ and $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric K-matrices and boundary states, respectively. In [30] it was demonstrated that the twisted KT-relation is very efficient tool to calculate the overlaps $\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$ for $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ symmetric K-matrices. In the following we concentrate on the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric case for which the N is always even.

At the end of the day, we are interested in on-shell overlaps $\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$. We know that the onshell Bethe states $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$ are highest weight states, therefor the transformations $G = \exp(\varphi E_{i,j})$ leave the on-shell overlap invariant for i < j (rising operators). In the following let us try to apply such transformations, which leave the on-shell overlap invariant, to obtain more simple K- and \mathcal{U} -matrices for the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric case.

Let us define GL(N) transformations which contain only rising operators as

$$G = \exp\left(\sum_{c=3}^{N} \varphi_c E_{1,c} + \sum_{c=3}^{N} \phi_c E_{2,c}\right),$$
(4.16)

where

$$\varphi_c = \frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,2}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}}, \quad \phi_c = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,1}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}}.$$
(4.17)

We saw that this transformation does not change the on-shell overlaps. The transformed \mathcal{U} -matrix is

$$\mathcal{U}^{(2)} = G^t \mathcal{U}G,\tag{4.18}$$

which remains anti-symmetric and the components read as

 (\mathbf{n})

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{U}_{2,1}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{2,1}, \\ \mathcal{U}_{a,1}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{a,1} + \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,1}\mathcal{U}_{1,2}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} = 0, \\ \mathcal{U}_{a,2}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{a,2} - \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,2}\mathcal{U}_{2,1}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} = 0, \\ \mathcal{U}_{a,b}^{(2)} &= \mathcal{U}_{a,b} + \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,1}\mathcal{U}_{b,2}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} - \frac{\mathcal{U}_{a,2}\mathcal{U}_{b,1}}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}}, \end{aligned}$$
(4.19)

where a, b = 3, ..., N. We can see that the new matrix $\mathcal{U}^{(2)}$ has block-diagonal form and we can repeat the method on the N-2 dimensional invariant subspace. Reaping this method we obtain the series of matrices

$$\mathcal{U}^{(k+1)} = \left(G^{(k)}\right)^t \mathcal{U}^{(k)} G^{(k)}, \quad \mathcal{U}^{(1)} = \mathcal{U}, \tag{4.20}$$

where the GL(N) transformations are

$$G^{(k)} = \exp\left(\sum_{c=2k+1}^{N} \varphi_c^{(k)} E_{2k-1,c} + \sum_{c=2k+1}^{N} \phi_c^{(k)} E_{2k,c}\right),\tag{4.21}$$

with

$$\varphi_c^{(k)} = \frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,2k}^{(k)}}{\mathcal{U}_{2k,2k-1}^{(k)}}, \quad \phi_c^{(k)} = -\frac{\mathcal{U}_{c,2k-1}^{(k)}}{\mathcal{U}_{2k,2k-1}^{(k)}}.$$
(4.22)

The matrices have block diagonal forms

$$\mathcal{U}^{(k+1)} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \mathcal{U}^{(j)}_{2j,2j-1}(E_{2j,2j-1} - E_{2j-1,2j}) + \sum_{a,b=2k+1}^{N} \left(\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{a,b} + \frac{\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{a,2k-1}\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{b,2k}}{\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{2k,2k-1}} - \frac{\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{a,2k}\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{b,2k-1}}{\mathcal{U}^{(k)}_{2k,2k-1}} \right) E_{a,b}.$$

$$(4.23)$$

The recursion stops at the step N/2 and we have the involution matrix

$$\mathcal{U}^{(\frac{N}{2})} = \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} x_j (E_{2j,2j-1} - E_{2j-1,2j}), \qquad (4.24)$$

where

$$x_k = \mathcal{U}_{2k,2k-1}^{(k)}.$$
 (4.25)

The corresponding K-matrix is

$$K^{(\frac{N}{2})} = V\mathcal{U}^{(\frac{N}{2})} = \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} x_j (E_{N-2j+1,2j-1} - E_{N-2j+2,2j}).$$
(4.26)

Hereafter, we call the matrix $\mathcal{U}^{(\frac{N}{2})}$ (and the corresponding *K*-matrix and final state $\langle \Psi^{(\frac{N}{2})} |$) the regular form of the original \mathcal{U} (and K-matrix and final state $\langle \Psi |$). Since the GL(*N*) transformations (4.21) contain only rising operators, the on-shell overlaps with the regular and the original final states are the same

$$\langle \Psi^{(\frac{N}{2})} | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \prod_{k=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \Delta(G^{(k)}) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}).$$

$$(4.27)$$

During the calculation of the overlaps we will concentrate on the regular K-matrices (4.26).

4.1.2 Solutions of the twisted *KT*-relations

Similarly as for the untwisted case, we can build twisted integrable final states using the co-product property (2.7). For the tensor product quantum space $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$, if the $\langle \Psi^{(1)} | \in \mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ and $\langle \Psi^{(2)} | \in \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ are twisted integrable final states with the same K-matrix then the tensor product state

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \Psi^{(1)} | \otimes \langle \Psi^{(2)} | \in \mathcal{H}$$
(4.28)

satisfies the twisted KT-relation (4.1) with the same K-matrix (see [30]).

Elementary two-site states. The consequence is that we can build integrable final states as a tensor product of "elementary" two-site states where the quantum space is the tensor product of two rectangular representations

$$T_{0}(u) = L_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(u+\theta-c(s-a))L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u-\theta), \qquad \widehat{T}_{0}(u) = \widehat{L}_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(u+\theta-c(s-a))\widehat{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u-\theta),$$
(4.29)

where the twisted Lax-operators are

$$\widehat{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u) = \frac{u(u+c(s-a))}{(u+cs)(u-ca)} \overline{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u+c(s-a)),
\overline{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u) = V_0 \left(L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u) \right)^{t_0} V_0.$$
(4.30)

Using this identity, the twisted KT-relation reads as

$$K_{0}\langle\psi^{(s,a)}(\theta)|L_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(u+\theta-c(s-a))L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u-\theta) =\lambda_{0}(u)\langle\psi^{(s,a)}(\theta)|\hat{L}_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(-u+\theta-c(s-a))\hat{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u-\theta)K_{0},$$
(4.31)

which simplifies as

$$K_{0}\langle\psi^{(s,a)}(\theta)|L_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(u+\theta-c(s-a))L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u-\theta) = \langle\psi^{(s,a)}(\theta)|\bar{L}_{0,2}^{(s,a)}(-u+\theta)\bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u-\theta+c(s-a))K_{0},$$
(4.32)

where we defined the λ_0 as

J

$$\lambda_0(u) = \frac{(u^2 - (\theta - cs)^2)(u^2 - (\theta + ca)^2)}{(u^2 - \theta^2)(u^2 - (\theta - c(s - a))^2)}.$$
(4.33)

The "elementary" two-site state acts on the sites 1, 2. Let us choose a basis $e_i^{(s,a)}$ in $\mathcal{V}^{(s,a)}$ and their co-vectors are $\left(e_i^{(s,a)}\right)^t$ for which $\langle \psi^{(s,a)}(\theta) | = \sum \psi_{i,j}(\theta) \left(e_i^{(s,a)}\right)^t \otimes \left(e_j^{(s,a)}\right)^t$. Using the equivalent matrix form of the two-site state $\psi^{(s,a)}(\theta) = \sum \psi_{j,i}(\theta) E_{i,j}^{(s,a)}$, the KT-relation reads as

$$K_0 L_{0,1}^{(s,a)} (u+\theta-c(s-a))^{t_1} \psi_1^{(s,a)}(\theta) L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u-\theta) = \bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)} (-u+\theta)^{t_1} \psi_1^{(s,a)}(\theta) \bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)} (-u-\theta+c(s-a)) K_0.$$
(4.34)

Let us look at the Lax operator $L^{\bar{\Lambda}}$ in more details. It contains the highest weight representation $E_{i,j}^{\bar{\Lambda}}$. Let us define the following sets of operators

$$\bar{E}^{\Lambda}_{i,j} = -E^{\Lambda}_{N+1-j,N+1-i}, \tag{4.35}$$

which is also a highest weight irrep of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ and the highest weights are $(-\Lambda_N, \ldots, -\Lambda_1)$ therefore we can choose the convention for the generators $E_{i,j}^{\bar{\Lambda}}$ as $E_{i,j}^{\bar{\Lambda}} = -E_{N+1-j,N+1-i}^{\Lambda}$. We also choose the convention $\left(E_{i,j}^{\Lambda}\right)^t = E_{j,i}^{\Lambda}$ therefore

$$\bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^N (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(E_{N+1-j,N+1-i}^{(s,a)} \right)_1,$$

$$L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^N (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(E_{i,j}^{(s,a)} \right)_1.$$
(4.36)

The set of operators $\tilde{E}_{i,j}^{\Lambda} = E_{N+1-i,N+1-j}^{\Lambda}$ is also an irrep of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ but the state $|0^{\Lambda}\rangle$ is now a lowest weight state i.e. $\tilde{E}_{i,j}|0^{\Lambda}\rangle = 0$ for i > j and the lowest weights are $(\Lambda_N, \ldots, \Lambda_1)$. Since every finite dimensional irreps are highest weight reps therefore there exist a highest weight state $|\tilde{0}^{\Lambda}\rangle$ for which the highest weights are $(\Lambda_1, \ldots, \Lambda_N)$. Since the highest weight irreps are unique there exists a similarity transformation $V^{(s,a)}$ for which $\tilde{E}_{i,j}^{(s,a)} = V^{(s,a)} E_{i,j}^{(s,a)} V^{(s,a)}$ i.e.

$$\bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(V^{(s,a)} E_{j,i}^{(s,a)} V^{(s,a)} \right)_1 = V_1^{(s,a)} L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u) V_1^{(s,a)},$$

$$L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(u)^{t_1} = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} (E_{N+1-i,N+1-j})_0 \otimes \left(V^{(s,a)} E_{i,j}^{(s,a)} V^{(s,a)} \right)_1 = V_1^{(s,a)} \bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(-u) V_1^{(s,a)},$$

$$(4.37)$$

Substituting back, the KT-relation simplifies as $(v_1 = -\theta + c\frac{s-a}{2}, v_2 = -u + c\frac{s-a}{2})$

$$K_{0}\bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(v_{1}+v_{2})K_{1}^{(s,a)}(-v_{1})L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(v_{1}-v_{2}) = L_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(v_{1}-v_{2})K_{1}^{(s,a)}(-v_{1})\bar{L}_{0,1}^{(s,a)}(v_{1}+v_{2})K_{0},$$
(4.38)

where we used the notation

$$K_1^{(s,a)}(v) = V_1^{(s,a)} \psi_1^{(s,a)} \left(v - c \frac{s-a}{2} \right), \quad \forall \quad \psi_{j,i}^{(s,a)}(v) = \sum_k V_{i,k}^{(s,a)} K_{k,j}^{(s,a)} \left(v + c \frac{s-a}{2} \right).$$
(4.39)

We just obtained the twisted reflection equation for the rectangular representation (s, a). Since the reflection equation has solution for any rectangular representation (e.g. it can be obtained from the original K-matrix using the fusion procedure) we just showed that the "elementary" two-site state exists for any rectangular representation. However, it is worth to note that the original equation (4.1) also has infinite dimensional solutions and our later derivations are independent from the quantum space therefore the results are valid even for the infinite dimensional integrable two-site states.

Symmetric properties of the vacuum eigenvalues. In summary, we can build general integrable states as

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \psi^{(s_1, a_1)}(\theta_1) | \otimes \dots \otimes \langle \psi^{(s_J, a_J)}(\theta_J) |, \qquad (4.40)$$

where the monodromy matrices are defined as

$$T_{0}(u) = L_{0,2J}^{(s_{J},a_{J})}(u+\theta_{J}-c(s_{J}-a_{J}))L_{0,2J-1}^{(s_{J},a_{J})}(u-\theta_{J})\dots L_{0,2}^{(s_{1},a_{1})}(u+\theta-c(s_{1}-a_{1}))L_{0,1}^{(s_{1},a_{1})}(u-\theta_{1}).$$

$$(4.41)$$

We can see that twisted final states exist for spin chains where the representation of site 2j is the same as 2j - 1. For these chains the pseudo-vacuum eigenvalues have the following properties

$$\lambda_k(u) = \lambda_0(u)\hat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(-u), \qquad \alpha_k(u) = \frac{1}{\alpha_k(-u-kc)}.$$
(4.42)

Elementary one-site states. For the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric K-matrices there exists another type of "elementary" integrable state which are one-site states. In the following we show an

example where the quantum space is a rectangular representation for which s = 1, a = 2. The monodromy matrix is

$$T_0(z) = L_{0,1}^{(1,2)}(z+c/2) = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{z+c/2} (E_{i,j})_0 \otimes \left(E_{j,i}^{(1,2)}\right)_1.$$
(4.43)

We show that there exists a non-trivial solution of the twisted KT-relation

$$K_0 \langle \psi | T_0(z) = \lambda_0(z) \langle \psi | T_0(-z) K_0.$$
(4.44)

We know that the representation s = 1, a = 2 can be obtained from the tensor product of the defining representation by antisymmetrization. If e_j -s are the basis vectors of the defining representation (i.e. $E_{i,j}e_k = \delta_{j,k}e_i$) then let $e_{(i,j)}$ for $1 \le i < j \le N$ be the basis vectors of the representation s = 1, a = 2 with the identification $e_{(i,j)} = e_i \otimes e_j - e_j \otimes e_i$. The generators has matrix elements:

$$\left(E_{i,j}^{(1,2)} \right)_{(a_1,b_1),(a_2,b_2)} = \delta_{a_1,i} \delta_{a_2,j} \delta_{b_1,b_2} - \delta_{b_1,i} \delta_{a_2,j} \delta_{a_1,b_2} - \delta_{a_1,i} \delta_{b_2,j} \delta_{b_1,a_2} + \delta_{b_1,i} \delta_{b_2,j} \delta_{a_1,a_2}.$$
(4.45)

The twisted monodromy matrix reads as

$$\widehat{T}_{0}(z) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}(z)} \left(\mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{z - c/2} (E_{i,j})_{0} \otimes \left(E_{N+1-i,N+1-j}^{(1,2)} \right)_{1} \right).$$
(4.46)

For these chains the pseudo-vacuum eigenvalues are

$$\lambda_k(u) = \begin{cases} \frac{z+3c/2}{z+c/2}, & \text{for } k = 1, 2, \\ 1, & \text{for } k > 2, \end{cases}$$
(4.47)

$$\hat{\lambda}_{k}(u) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}(z)} \frac{z - 3c/2}{z - c/2}, & \text{for } k = N - 1, N, \\ \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}(z)}, & \text{for } k > 2. \end{cases}$$
(4.48)

The pseudo-vacuum eigenvalues have the same properties as before (4.42).

We can fix the λ_0 from the defining equation of the twisted monodromy matrix

$$T_{0}(z)V_{0}\widehat{T}_{0}^{t_{0}}(z)V_{0} = \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}(z)} \left(\mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{z + c/2} \sum_{i,j} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{j,i}^{(1,2)} \right) \left(\mathbf{1} - \frac{c}{z - c/2} \sum_{k,l} E_{k,l} \otimes E_{l,k}^{(1,2)} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}(z)} \left(\mathbf{1} - \frac{c^{2}}{z^{2} - c^{2}/4} \sum_{i,j} E_{i,j} \otimes E_{j,i}^{(1,2)} - \frac{c^{2}}{z^{2} - c^{2}/4} \sum_{i,j,l} E_{i,l} \otimes E_{j,i}^{(1,2)} E_{l,j}^{(1,2)} \right).$$
(4.49)

Using the identity

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} E_{j,i}^{(1,2)} E_{l,j}^{(1,2)} = 2\delta_{i,l} \mathbf{1} - E_{l,i}^{(1,2)}, \qquad (4.50)$$

we obtain that

$$T_0(z)V_0\widehat{T}_0^{t_0}(z)V_0 = \frac{1}{\lambda_0(z)} \frac{z^2 - 9c^2/4}{z^2 - c^2/4} \mathbf{1},$$
(4.51)

therefore the $\lambda_0(z)$ function reads as:

$$\lambda_0(z) = \frac{z^2 - 9c^2/4}{z^2 - c^2/4}.$$
(4.52)

Fixing the K-matrix to the regular form (4.26). Substituting back to the KT-relation, we have four types of equations

$$x_a \langle \psi | T_{2a,2b}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \langle \psi | T_{N+2-2a,N+2-2b}(-z) x_b,$$
(4.53)

$$-x_a \langle \psi | T_{2a,2b-1}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \langle \psi | T_{N+2-2a,N+1-2b}(-z) x_b, \qquad (4.54)$$

$$-x_a \langle \psi | T_{2a-1,2b}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \langle \psi | \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N+2-2b}(-z) x_b, \qquad (4.55)$$

$$x_a \langle \psi | T_{2a-1,2b-1}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \langle \psi | \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N+1-2b}(-z) x_b, \qquad (4.56)$$

which are equivalent to

$$x_a \langle \psi | E_{2b,2a}^{(1,2)} = \langle \psi | E_{2a-1,2b-1}^{(1,2)} x_b, \tag{4.57}$$

$$-x_a \langle \psi | E_{2b-1,2a}^{(1,2)} = \langle \psi | E_{2a-1,2b}^{(1,2)} x_b, \qquad (4.58)$$

$$-x_a \langle \psi | E_{2b,2a-1}^{(1,2)} = \langle \psi | E_{2a,2b-1}^{(1,2)} x_b.$$
(4.59)

For a = b we have

$$\langle \psi | \left(E_{2a,2a}^{(1,2)} - E_{2a-1,2a-1}^{(1,2)} \right) = 0.$$
(4.60)

The following ansatz for the one-site state solves the equation above:

$$\langle \psi | = \sum_{a} y_a e_{(2a-1,2a)}.$$
(4.61)

Substituting back to the equation (4.57) for $a \neq b$ we have

$$\langle \psi | \left(x_a E_{2b,2a}^{(1,2)} - x_b E_{2a-1,2b-1}^{(1,2)} \right) = \begin{cases} (x_a y_b - x_b y_a)(2b - 1, 2a), & \text{for } b \le a, \\ (x_b y_a - x_a y_b)(2a, 2b - 1), & \text{for } b > a. \end{cases}$$
(4.62)

These equations are satisfied iff

$$y_a = x_a. \tag{4.63}$$

One can also show that the one-site state

$$\langle \psi | = \sum_{a} x_a e_{(2a-1,2a)}$$
 (4.64)

satisfies the remaining equations (4.58) and (4.59), too.

4.1.3 Pair structure

The on-shell overlaps have an important property. From the twisted KT-relation we can easily show that

$$\langle \Psi | \left(\mathcal{T}(u) - \lambda_0(u) \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(-u) \right) = 0.$$
(4.65)

Applying it on an on-shell Bethe vector we obtain that

$$\left(\tau(u|\bar{t}) - \lambda_0(u)\hat{\tau}(-u|\bar{t})\right)\langle\Psi|\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = 0, \tag{4.66}$$

therefore the non-vanishing on-shell overlaps require that

$$\tau(u|\bar{t}) = \lambda_0(u)\hat{\tau}(-u|\bar{t}). \tag{4.67}$$

It can be shown that it is equivalent to that the Bethe roots have chiral pair structure $\bar{t}^{\nu} = -\bar{t}^{\nu} - \nu c$ i.e.,

$$\bar{t} = \pi^c(\bar{t}), \qquad \pi^c(\bar{t}) = \{-\bar{t}^1 - c, -\bar{t}^2 - 2c, \dots, -\bar{t}^{N-1} - (N-1)c\}.$$
(4.68)

We introduce some notations. Let \mathfrak{r} be a set for which $\mathfrak{r} = \{\nu | r_{\nu} \text{ is odd}\}$. We can decompose the set of Bethe roots as $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^0 \cup \bar{t}^-$, where $\bar{t}^\pm = \{\bar{t}^{\pm,\nu}\}_{\nu=1}^N$, $\bar{t}^0 = \{t^{0,\nu}\}_{\nu\in\mathfrak{r}}$ for $\bar{t}^{+,\nu} = \{t^{\nu}_k\}_{k=1}^{\lfloor \frac{r_{\nu}}{2} \rfloor}$, $\bar{t}^{-,\nu} = \{t^{\nu}_k\}_{k=\lfloor \frac{r_{\nu}}{2} \rfloor+1}^{\lfloor \frac{r_{\nu}}{2} \rfloor}$ and $t^{0,\nu} = t^{\nu}_{r_{\nu}}$. In the pair structure limit $\bar{t}^{-,\nu} = \pi^c(\bar{t}^{+,\nu})$ and $t^{0,\nu} = -c\nu/2$.

In the following, we argue that the on-shell overlaps are proportional to the Gaudin-like determinant det G^+ . Due to the decomposition $\bar{t} = \bar{t}^+ \cup \bar{t}^0 \cup \bar{t}^-$ and $\bar{\Phi} = \bar{\Phi}^+ \cup \bar{\Phi}^0 \cup \bar{\Phi}^-$, the original Gaudin matrix has the following block form

$$G = \begin{pmatrix} A^{++} & A^{+0} & A^{+-} \\ A^{0+} & A^{00} & A^{0-} \\ A^{-+} & A^{-0} & A^{--} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.69)

where we defined the following matrices

$$\begin{split} A_{j,k}^{++,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{+,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)}, \quad A_{j,k}^{+-,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)}, \\ A_{j,k}^{-+,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)}, \quad A_{j,k}^{--,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{-,(\mu)}, \\ A_j^{+0,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_\nu}^{\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{+,(\mu)}, \quad A_j^{-0,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_\nu}^{\nu}} \log \Phi_j^{-,(\mu)}, \\ A_k^{0+,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{+,\nu}} \log \Phi^{0,(\mu)}, \quad A_k^{0-,(\mu,\nu)} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_k^{-,\nu}} \log \Phi^{0,(\mu)}, \\ A^{00,(\mu,\nu)} &= -c \frac{\partial}{\partial t_{r_\nu}^{\nu}} \log \Phi^{0,(\mu)}. \end{split}$$

In the r.h.s. we took the pair structure limit after the derivation. It is easy to show that

$$A^{++} = A^{--}, \quad A^{+-} = A^{-+}, A^{0+} = A^{0-}, \quad A^{0-} = A^{0+},$$
(4.71)

therefore the original Gaudin determinant factorize as

$$\det G = \det G^+ \det G^-, \tag{4.72}$$

with the definitions

$$\det G^{+} = \begin{vmatrix} A^{++} + A^{+-} & A^{+0} \\ A^{0+} & \frac{1}{2}A^{00} \end{vmatrix}, \quad \det G^{-} = 2^{\#\mathfrak{r}} \Big| A^{++} - A^{+-} \Big|, \tag{4.73}$$

where $\mathbf{r}^0 = \# \bar{t}^0 = \# \mathfrak{r}$.

The Gaudin-like determinant det G^+ depends on the Bethe roots $t_k^{+,\mu}$ and the derivatives $X_k^{+,\mu}$, $X^{0,\mu}$ which are defined as

$$X_k^{+,\mu} = -c \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \log \alpha(z) \bigg|_{z=t_k^{+,\mu}}, \quad X^{0,\mu} = -\frac{c}{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \log \alpha(z) \bigg|_{z=-\mu c/2}.$$
 (4.74)

Let us introduce the number of $X_k^{+,\mu}$ (which is equal to the number of $t_k^{+,\mu}$) as $\mathbf{r}^+ = \sum_{\nu=1}^N \# \bar{t}^{+,\mu} = \sum_{\nu=1}^N \lfloor \frac{r_\nu}{2} \rfloor$. The set of functions $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+)$ equals to the Gaudin-like determinant, i.e., $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+) = \det G^+$ iff it satisfies the following Korepin criteria:

- 1. The function $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+)$ is symmetric over the replacement of the pairs $(X_j^{+,\mu}, t_j^{+,\mu}) \leftrightarrow (X_k^{+,\mu}, t_k^{+,\mu}).$
- 2. It is linear function of each $X_i^{+,\mu}$ and $X^{0,\mu}$.
- 3. $\mathbf{F}^{(1,0)}(X_1^{+,\nu}|\emptyset|t_1^{+,\nu}) = X_1^{+,\nu} \text{ and } \mathbf{F}^{(0,1)}(\emptyset|X^{0,\nu}|\emptyset) = X^{0,\nu}.$
- 4. The coefficient of $X_i^{+,\mu}$ is given by the function $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+-1,\mathbf{r}^0)}$ with modified parameters

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+)}{\partial X_j^{+,\mu}} = \mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+-1,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^{+,\text{mod}} \setminus X_j^{+,\mu,\text{mod}}|\bar{X}^{0,\text{mod}}|\bar{t}^+ \setminus t_j^{+,\mu}), \qquad (4.75)$$

where the original variables should be replaced by

$$X_{k}^{+,\nu,\text{mod}} = X_{k}^{+,\nu} - c \frac{d}{du} \log \beta_{\nu}(u|t_{j}^{+,\mu}) \bigg|_{u=t_{k}^{+,\nu}}.$$

$$X^{0,\nu,\text{mod}} = X^{0,\nu} - c \frac{d}{du} \log \beta_{\nu}(u|t_{j}^{+,\mu}) \bigg|_{u=-\frac{\nu c}{2}}.$$
(4.76)

The coefficient of $X^{0,\mu}$ is given by the function $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0-1)}$ with modified parameters

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+)}{\partial X^{0,\mu}} = \mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+,\mathbf{r}^0-1)}(\bar{X}^{+,\text{mod}}|\bar{X}^{0,\text{mod}}\backslash X^{0,\mu,\text{mod}},\bar{t}^+), \quad (4.77)$$

where the original variables should be replaced by

$$X_{k}^{+,\nu,\text{mod}} = X_{k}^{+,\nu} - c \frac{d}{du} \log \gamma_{\nu}(u) \Big|_{u=t_{k}^{+,\nu}},$$

$$X^{0,\nu,\text{mod}} = X^{0,\nu} - c \frac{d}{du} \log \gamma_{\nu}(u) \Big|_{u=-\frac{\nu c}{2}}.$$
(4.78)

5. $\mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^+)}(\bar{X}^+|\bar{X}^0|\bar{t}^+) = 0$, if all $X_j^{+,\mu} = 0$ and $X^{0,\mu} = 0$.

The definitions of the β -s are

$$\beta_{\nu}(u|t_{j}^{+,\mu}) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(t_{j}^{+,\mu},u)}{f(u,t_{j}^{+,\mu})} \frac{f(-t_{j}^{+,\mu}-\mu c,u)}{f(u,-t_{j}^{+,\mu}-\mu c)} & \text{for } \nu = \mu, \\ \frac{1}{f(t_{j}^{+,\mu},u)} \frac{1}{f(-t_{j}^{+,\mu}-\mu c,u)} & \text{for } \nu = \mu - 1, \\ f(u,t_{j}^{+,\mu})f(u,-t_{j}^{+,\mu}-\mu c) & \text{for } \nu = \mu + 1, \\ 1 & \text{for } \nu \neq \mu - 1, \mu, \mu + 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.79)

The γ functions are defined as

$$\gamma_{\nu}(u) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(-\mu c/2, u)}{f(u, -\mu c/2)} & \text{for } \nu = \mu, \\ \frac{1}{f(-\mu c/2, u)} & \text{for } \nu = \mu - 1, \\ f(u, -\mu c/2) & \text{for } \nu = \mu + 1, \\ 1 & \text{for } \nu \neq \mu - 1, \mu, \mu + 1. \end{cases}$$
(4.80)

4.2 Recursion for the off-shell overlaps

In [30] a recursion was introduced for the off-shell overlaps of the $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ symmetric K-matrices. The recursion assumed that $K_{N,1} \neq 0$ which could have been prescribed in the $\mathfrak{so}(N)$ case but for the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric K-matrix we have $K_{i,j} = -K_{N+1-j,N+1-i}$ therefore $K_{N,1} = 0$. It means that the recursion of [30] cannot be used here in the twisted case. Now we use an alternative recursion for the Bethe states

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=2}^{N-1}\right) = \sum_{j=3}^{N} T_{2,j}(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} (\dots) \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\Pi}\right\}_{k=3}^{j-1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right) + \sum_{j=3}^{N} T_{1,j}(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} (\dots) \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\Pi}\right\}_{k=3}^{j-1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right), \quad (4.81)$$

where the dots denote some coefficients which can be found in appendix C. Using the simplified notation we have

$$\mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2+1, r_3, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{j=3}^{N} T_{2,j} \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \tilde{r}_2 \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-1}} + \sum_{j=3}^{N} T_{1,j} \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \mathbb{B}^{r_1 - 1, r_2, \tilde{r}_2 \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-1}}, \quad (4.82)$$

where $\tilde{r}_j \leq r_j$. In the following we show that the twisted KT-relation can be used to replace the creation operators in $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})$ to annihilation ones therefore we can obtain a recursion for the off-shell overlaps. We use the regular form of the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ symmetric K-matrix (4.26). We need the following components of the twisted KT-relation

$$K_{N,2} \langle \Psi | T_{2,2a-1}(z) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2a+1}(-z) K_{N-2a+1,2a-1}, K_{N,2} \langle \Psi | T_{2,2a}(z) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2a+2}(-z) K_{N-2a+2,2a}, K_{N-1,2} \langle \Psi | T_{1,2a-1}(z) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2a+1}(-z) K_{N-2a+1,2a-1}, K_{N-1,2} \langle \Psi | T_{2,2a}(z) = \lambda_0(u) \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2a+2}(-z) K_{N-2a+2,2a}.$$

$$(4.83)$$

Using the recurrence relation (4.82) and the KT-relation we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \\ &= \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2a+1}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-1})(\dots) \\ &+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2a+2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1})(\dots) \\ &+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2a+1}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-1})(\dots), \\ &+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2a+2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1})(\dots), \end{split}$$
(4.84)

Applying the action formula (A.5) with the simplified notations

$$\widehat{T}_{i,j}\mathbb{B}^{r_1,r_2,\dots,r_{N-1}} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\text{part}}(\dots)\mathbb{B}^{r_1,\dots,r_{N-j+1}+1,r_{N-j+2}+1,\dots,r_{N-i}+1,r_{N-i+1},\dots,r_{N-1}, & i \leq j, \\ \sum_{\text{part}}(\dots)\mathbb{B}^{r_1,\dots,r_{N-i+1}-1,r_{N-i+2}-1,\dots,r_{N-j}-1,r_{N-j+1},\dots,r_{N-1}, & i > j. \end{cases}$$
(4.85)

the recurrence equation (4.84) for the off-shell overlap reads as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{a=1}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1 - 1, r_2 - 2, r_3 - 2, \dots, r_{2a-2} - 2, r_{2a-1} - 1, r_{2a}, \dots, r_{N-1}}.$$
 (4.86)

We can see that we just obtained a recursion which decrease the quantum number r_2 by 2. We also note that this recursion leaves the combinations $2r_{2k-1} - r_{2k-2} - r_{2k}$ invariant for $k = 1, \ldots, N/2$. Applying this recursion iteratively we can eliminate all of the second Bethe roots as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_1, 0, \tilde{r}_3 \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-1}}.$$

$$(4.87)$$

Since recursion decrease the quantum number r_2 by 2, we obtain non-vanishing overlap only when r_2 is even. The Bethe states with $r_2 = 0$ are generated by the operators $T_{\alpha,\beta}$ and $T_{a,b}$ for $\alpha, \beta \leq 2$ and $a, b \geq 3$. The $\{T_{\alpha,\beta}\}_{\alpha,\beta\leq 2}$ and $\{T_{a,b}\}_{a,b\geq 3}$ are closed Y(2) and Y(N-2)subalgebras of the original Yangian Y(N), furthermore, they are commuting subalgebras $[T_{\alpha,\beta}(u), T_{a,b}(v)] = 0$. We recall that the operators $\{\hat{T}_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}}\}_{\bar{\alpha},\bar{\beta}\geq N-1}$ or $\{\hat{T}_{\bar{a},\bar{b}}\}_{\bar{a},\bar{b}\leq N-2}$ generate the same subalgebras as $\{T_{\alpha,\beta}\}_{\alpha,\beta\leq 2}$ or $\{T_{a,b}\}_{a,b\geq 3}$, respectively. In summary, we have traced back the off-shell overlaps of $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ spin chain to $\mathfrak{gl}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ spin chain, i.e.

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_1, 0, \tilde{r}_3 \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-1}} = \left(\langle \Psi' | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_1} \right) \times \left(\langle \Psi'' | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_3 \dots, \tilde{r}_{N-1}} \right), \tag{4.88}$$

where the boundary states $\langle \Psi' |$, $\langle \Psi'' |$ correspond to the K-matrices of the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ subsectors. Repeating the recursion, the overlaps can be expressed as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_{N-1}} = \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_1, 0, \tilde{r}_3, 0, \tilde{r}_5, \dots, 0, \tilde{r}_{N-1}} = \sum_{\text{part}} (\dots) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \langle \Psi' | \mathbb{B}^{\tilde{r}_{2a-1}}, \qquad (4.89)$$

which is a product of $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlaps. The boundary states $\langle \Psi' |$ of these $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ subsectors correspond to the *K*-matrix

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.90}$$

We showed that the twisted and untwisted KT-relations are equivalent for the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ spin chains and the K-matrix in the untwisted convention reads as

$$\tilde{K} = \sigma K = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.91}$$

which is a type (2,0) K-matrix. We saw that only the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ singlets have non-vanishing overlaps for these boundary states therefore we have the selection rules $\tilde{r}_{2k-1} = \frac{\Lambda_{2k-1} - \Lambda_{2k}}{2}$. Since the combinations

$$\tilde{r}_{2k-1} = r_{2k-1} - \frac{r_{2k-2} + r_{2k}}{2}, \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, N/2,$$
(4.92)

are invariant under the recursion we can express \tilde{r}_k -s with r_k -s, therefore the non-vanishing overlaps require that

$$r_{2k-1} - \frac{r_{2k-2} + r_{2k}}{2} = \frac{\Lambda_{2k-1} - \Lambda_{2k}}{2}, \quad \text{for } k = 1, \dots, N/2.$$
 (4.93)

4.3 Sum formula and the pair structure limit

The recursion described in the previous subsection provides a systematic way to compute the overlaps. It turns out that combining this method with the co-product property of the Bethe states and the boundary states $\langle \Psi |$, we can derive the following sum formula for the off-shell overlaps:

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) := \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1})}{\sum_{\mu=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1})} \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}) \overline{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{\nu}),$$
(4.94)

where sum goes through the partitions $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}} \cup \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}} \cup \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}$ where $\# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a} = 0$ and $\# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a}, \# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a}$ are even for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2-1$; and $\# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-1} = \frac{\# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-2} - \# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a}}{2}, \# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-1} = \frac{\# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-2} - \# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a}}{2}, \# \bar{t}_{\mathrm{III}}^{2a-1} = \frac{\Lambda_{2a-1} - \Lambda_{2a}}{2}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$. The sum formula contains the overlap functions $S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}$ of the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ spin chain

$$S_{\alpha}^{(s)}(\bar{t}) := S_{\alpha} \left(\bar{t} + c \frac{s}{2} \right) \Big|_{\alpha_{2a-1}(z) \to \alpha_{2a-1}(z-c\frac{s}{2})},$$

$$S_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) = \sum f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu}) Z^{0}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(-\bar{t}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}),$$
(4.95)

where

$$Z^{0}(\bar{t}) = \kappa(\bar{t}) \prod_{k < l} f(-t_k, t_l), \qquad \kappa(z) = \frac{1}{z}.$$
(4.96)

The proof of the sum formula can be found in appendix D.2. The HC-s $\mathcal{Z}, \overline{\mathcal{Z}}$ are determined by the recursions (F.26) and (F.30). There is also a connection between the HC-s

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^c(\bar{t}))).$$
(4.97)

Since the on-shell overlaps are non-vanishing only when the Bethe roots have chiral pair structure (4.68), we need to take the pair structure limit $t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc$ of the off-shell overlap. It turns out that the HC-s have poles in this limit. The recurrence relations of HC-s can be used to derive the residue of these poles at the pair structure limit $t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc$. For even s i.e. in the limit $t_l^{2a} \to -t_k^{2a} - 2ac$ we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) &\to \frac{c}{t_l^{2a} + t_k^{2a} + 2ac} \Big[\frac{x_{a+1}}{x_a} h(t_k^{2a}, t_l^{2a}) h(t_l^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) \Big] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, t_l^{2a})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+1}, t_k^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a})} \times \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a+1})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+2}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1})} \times \\ &\times \Big[\frac{1}{h(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) h(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \Big] \Big[g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, t_k^{2a}) g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a}) \Big] + reg. \end{split}$$

where $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k^{2a}, t_l^{2a}\}$. The summation goes thought the partitions $\bar{\tau}^s = \bar{\tau}_i^s \cup \bar{\tau}_{iii}^s$ where $\#\bar{\tau}_{iii}^s = \delta_{s,2a-1} + \delta_{s,2a+1}$. For odd s i.e. in the limit $t_l^{2a-1} \to -t_k^{2a-1} - (2a-1)c$ the HC-s are regular. These properties are derived in the appendix G.

There is another difference between the even and odd s. For s = 2b there is no extra selection rule for the α -functions $\alpha_{2b}(z)$ i.e. it can contain arbitrary number of parameters (inhomogeneities) therefore we can handle the expressions t_k^{2b} , $\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b})$ and also the derivatives $\alpha'_{2b}(t_k^{2b})$ (or equivalently $X_k^{2b} = -c\alpha'(t_k^{2b})/\alpha(t_k^{2b})$) as independent variables. On the other hand we have extra selection rules for s = 2b - 1 since the numbers of Bethe roots restrict the possible quantum spaces, such as (4.93)

$$n_b := \frac{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{2b-1} - \mathbf{\Lambda}_{2b}}{2} = r_{2b-1} - \frac{r_{2b-2} + r_{2b}}{2}.$$
(4.99)

Since the α -functions $\alpha_{2b-1}(z)$ reads as

$$\alpha_{2b-1}(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{m_{2b-1}} \frac{z - \theta_j^{(2b-1)} + s_j^{(2b-1)}c}{z - \theta_j^{(2b-1)}} \frac{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{(2b-1)}}{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{(2b-1)} - s_j^{(2b-1)}c},$$
(4.100)

where m_{2b-1} is the number of rectangular representation (s, 2b-1) in the quantum space and

$$\frac{\mathbf{\Lambda}_{2b-1} - \mathbf{\Lambda}_{2b}}{2} = n_b = \sum_{j=1}^{m_{2b-1}} s_j^{(2b-1)}.$$
(4.101)

For a fixed n_b the maximum number of inhomogeneities $\theta_j^{(2b-1)}$ appear when the all $s_j^{(2b-1)} = 1$ therefore

$$\alpha_{2b-1}(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{n_b} \frac{z - \theta_j^{(2b-1)} + c}{z - \theta_j^{(2b-1)}} \frac{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{(2b-1)}}{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{(2b-1)} - c}.$$
(4.102)

For $n_b \geq 2$ we have at least two independent parameters $\theta_1^{(2b-1)}, \theta_2^{(2b-1)}$ in the function $\alpha_{2b-1}(z)$. Taking a Bethe root t_k^{2b-1} for a fixed k, we can handle the expressions t_k^{2b-1} , $\alpha_{2b-1}(t_k^{2b-1})$ and also the derivatives $\alpha'_{2b-1}(t_k^{2b-1})$ as independent variables however the other expressions $\alpha_{2b-1}(t_l^{2b-1})$ and $\alpha'_{2b-1}(t_l^{2b-1})$ are not independent any more and for $n_b = 2$ we can express them as a function of $t_k^{2b-1}, \alpha_{2b-1}(t_k^{2b-1})$ and $\alpha'_{2b-1}(t_k^{2b-1})$.

It turns out that taking the $t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc$ limit (for s = 2b - 1 we assume that $n_b \ge 2$ and we handle the expressions t_k^{2b-1} , $\alpha_{2b-1}(t_k^{2b-1})$ and X_k^{2b-1} as independent variables) of the sum formula we obtain that the X_k^s dependence of the off-shell overlap is

$$\lim_{t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc} S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = X_k^s \times F^{(s)}(t_k^s) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^s, t_k^s) f(\bar{\tau}^s t_l^s)}{f(\bar{\tau}^{s+1}, t_k^s) f(\bar{\tau}^{s+1}, t_l^s)} S_{\bar{\alpha}^{\text{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S},$$
(4.103)

where $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k^s, t_l^s\}$ and \tilde{S} is independent from X_k^s . We also used the following functions:

$$F^{(2b-1)}(z) = \frac{c^2}{4}g(z, -z - (2b-1)c)g(-z - (2b-1)c, z),$$

$$F^{(2b)}(z) = \frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b}\frac{c^2}{4}h(z, -z - 2bc)h(-z - 2bc, z),$$
(4.104)

and the modified α -s are

$$\alpha_{s-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{s-1}(z) \frac{1}{f(t_k^s, z)f(-t_k^s - sc, z)},
\alpha_s^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_s(z) \frac{f(t_k^s, z)f(-t_k^s - sc, z)}{f(z, t_k^s)f(z, -t_k^s - sc)},
\alpha_{s+1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{s+1}(z)f(z, t_k^s)f(z, -t_k^s - sc),
\alpha_{\nu}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{\nu}(z), \quad \text{for } \nu \neq s - 1, s, s + 1.$$
(4.105)

The derivation can be found in appendix H.

We saw that for non-vanishing overlaps the quantum numbers r_{2b} are even, however the quantum numbers r_{2b-1} can be odd, for which the limit $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ is relevant. It turns out that taking the $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ limit (we assume that $n_b \ge 2$ and we handle the expression $X^{0,2b-1} = -c\alpha'(-(b-1/2)c)$ as independent variable) of the sum formula, we obtain that the $X^{0,2b-1}$ dependence of the off-shell overlap is

$$\lim_{t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c} S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = X^{0,2b-1} \left(-\frac{2}{c}\right) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^s, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(\bar{\tau}^{s+1}, -(b-1/2)c)} S_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S},$$
(4.106)

where $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k^{2a-1}\}$ and the modified α -s are

$$\alpha_{2b-2}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-2}(z) \frac{1}{f(-(b-1/2)c, z)},$$

$$\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-1}(z) \frac{f(-(b-1/2)c, z)}{f(z, -(b-1/2)c)},$$

$$\alpha_{2b}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b}(z) f(z, -(b-1/2)c),$$

$$\alpha_{\nu}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{\nu}(z), \quad \text{for } \nu \neq 2b-2, 2b-1, 2b+1.$$

(4.107)

The derivation can be found in appendix H.

4.4 On-shell limit

Let us renormalize the overlap function as

$$\mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \left(-\frac{c}{2}\right)^{\mathbf{r}^{0}} \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} F^{(\nu)}(\bar{t}^{+,\nu}) \prod_{k \neq l} f(t_{l}^{+,\nu}, t_{k}^{+,\nu}) \prod_{k < l} f(t_{l}^{+,\nu}, -t_{k}^{+,\nu} - \nu c) f(-t_{k}^{+,\nu} - \nu c, t_{l}^{+,\nu})} \times \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu \in \mathfrak{r}} \prod_{k} f(-\nu c/2, t_{k}^{+,\nu}) f(t_{k}^{+,\nu}, -\nu c/2)} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}).$$

$$(4.108)$$

We can easily show that

$$\lim_{t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc} \mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = X_k^s \mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{\mathbf{N}},\tag{4.109}$$

and

$$\lim_{\substack{t^{2b-1}_{k} \to -(b-1/2)c}} \mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = X^{0,2b-1} \mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{\mathbf{N}},$$
(4.110)

which agrees with the embedding of the Gaudin-like determinant (4.75), (4.77). However it is not enough for the proof our conjecture. We can see that the Gaudin-like determinant is defined for every set of quantum numbers $\mathbf{r}^+, \mathbf{r}^0$ however the overlap function is defined only for $r_{2b-1} \geq \frac{r_{2b-2}+r_{2b}}{2}$ therefore we should use more complicated initial condition then property (3). Another problem is that we have constraints for the functions $\alpha_{2b-1}(z)$ and their most general form is

$$\alpha_{2b-1}(z) = \mathcal{A}_{2b-1}(z|\bar{\theta}^{2b-1}) = \prod_{j=1}^{n_b} \frac{z - \theta_j^{2b-1} + c}{z - \theta_j^{2b-1}} \frac{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{2b-1}}{z + c(2b-1) + \theta_j^{2b-1} - c},$$
(4.111)

which contain only $n_b = r_{2b-1} - \frac{r_{2b-2}+r_{2b}}{2}$ number of free variable θ_j^{2b-1} for $j = 1, \ldots, n_b$ therefore the expressions $\alpha'(t_k^{2b-1})$ are not independent, i.e., the pair structure limit can not handle as a function of the variables $X_k^{+,\nu}$. We can only define functions

$$\hat{\mathbf{N}}^{+}(\bar{t}^{+}|\{\bar{X}^{+,2a}\}_{a=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1}|\{\bar{\theta}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{\frac{N}{2}}) = \lim_{\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{2b})\to\mathcal{F}_{k}^{2b}} \left[\lim_{\bar{t}^{-}\to\pi^{c}(\bar{t}^{+})}\mathbf{N}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t})\right],$$
(4.112)

where the second limit is the formal on-shell limit with replacement

$$\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b}) \to \mathcal{F}_k^{2b} := \frac{f(t_k^{\mu}, \bar{t}_k^{\mu})}{f(\bar{t}_k^{\mu}, t_k^{\mu})} \frac{f(\bar{t}^{\mu+1}, t_k^{\mu})}{f(t_k^{\mu}, \bar{t}^{\mu-1})}.$$
(4.113)

The expression $\hat{\mathbf{N}}^+$ (4.112) depends only on the "half" of the X variables $X_k^{+,2b}$ and the inhomogeneities θ_j^{2a-1} . Our conjecture is

$$\hat{\mathbf{N}}^{+}\left(\bar{t}^{+}|\{\bar{X}^{+,2a}\}_{a=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1}|\{\bar{\theta}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{\frac{N}{2}}\right) = \mathbf{F}^{(\mathbf{r}^{+})}(\bar{X}^{+},\bar{t}^{+})\bigg|_{X_{k}^{2b-1}\to-c\partial_{z}\log\mathcal{A}_{2b-1}(z|\bar{\theta}^{2b-1})}\bigg|_{z\to t_{k}^{2b-1}},$$

$$(4.114)$$

for on-shell Bethe roots. We postpone the precise proof to a later work. Nevertheless, we believe that the proof of the recursion rules (4.109) and (4.110) sufficiently establishes the correctness of the statement.

Applying our conjecture, the on-shell overlap can be written as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \left(-\frac{2}{c} \right)^{\mathbf{r}^{0}} \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \left[F^{(\nu)}(\bar{t}^{+,\nu}) \prod_{k \neq l} f(t_{l}^{+,\nu}, t_{k}^{+,\nu}) \prod_{k < l} f(t_{l}^{+,\nu}, -t_{k}^{+,\nu} - \nu c) f(-t_{k}^{+,\nu} - \nu c, t_{l}^{+,\nu}) \right]$$

$$\times \prod_{\nu \in \mathfrak{r}} \left[\prod_{k} f(-\nu c/2, t_{k}^{+,\nu}) f(t_{k}^{+,\nu}, -\nu c/2) \right] \det G^{+},$$

$$(4.115)$$

and the normalized on-shell overlap has the following simple form

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left(-\frac{2}{c}\right)^{\mathbf{r}^0} \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \mathbb{F}^{(\nu)}(\bar{t}^{+,\nu}) \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(4.116)

The one-particle overlap functions $\mathbb{F}^{(\nu)}$ read as

$$\mathbb{F}^{(\nu)}(z) = \frac{F^{(\nu)}(z)}{\sqrt{f(z, -z - \nu c)f(-z - \nu c, z)}},$$
(4.117)

therefore

$$\mathbb{F}^{(2b)}(z) = \left(\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b}\right) \sqrt{(z+bc)^2 (c^2/4 - (z+bc)^2)},$$

$$\mathbb{F}^{(2k-1)}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(z+\frac{2b-1}{2}c)^2 (c^2/4 - (z+(b-1/2)c)^2)}}.$$
(4.118)

For c = i convention, using the Q-functions the overlaps simplifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\prod_{k=1}^{N/2} x_k^{r_{2k-2}-r_{2k}}\right] \sqrt{\frac{\prod_{k=1}^{N/2-1} Q_{2k}(0)Q_{2k}(i/2)}{\prod_{k=1}^{N/2} \bar{Q}_{2k-1}(0)Q_{2k-1}(i/2)}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
 (4.119)

5 Applications for AdS/CFT correspondence

In this section we apply our formulas for states which are relevant for the AdS/CFT correspondence. In the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM and the ABJM theories the scalar sectors can be described by $\mathfrak{gl}(4)$ spin chain where the quantum spaces are the tensor product of the six dimensional $\Lambda = (1, 1, 0, 0)$ representation and the alternating tensor product of the defining $\Lambda = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ and its contra-gradient $\Lambda = (0, 0, 0, -1)$ representation. For the untwisted case the possible residual symmetries are $\mathfrak{gl}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(2)$ or $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ and for twisted case the possible residual symmetries are $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ and $\mathfrak{sp}(4)$. The $\mathfrak{gl}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{so}(4)$ symmetric boundary states were handled in the previous paper [30]. Now we take the remaining $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ and $\mathfrak{sp}(4)$ symmetric boundary states which appeared earlier in the context of defect AdS/CFT correspondence. We show that the previously conjectured formulas agree with our general result. We would like to emphasize that in the untwisted case our formula is precisely proven.

5.1 $\mathfrak{sp}(4)$ symmetric boundary state

In this section, we reconstruct the overlap formula of [17, 21] for the $\mathfrak{sp}(4) \cong \mathfrak{so}(5)$ symmetric boundary state of the scalar sector of the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM which can be described by an $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ spin chain. Now we take a homogeneous spin chain with the representations $s_k = 1$, $r_k = 2$ of $\mathfrak{gl}(4)$ which is isomorphic to the defining representation of the $\mathfrak{so}(6)$ algebra. The monodromy matrix is

$$T_a(u) = L_{a,J}^{(1,2)}(u+c/2)\dots L_{a,1}^{(1,2)}(u+c/2).$$
(5.1)

This monodromy matrix is built from Lax-operators (4.43) for which the one-site state (4.64) satisfies the elementary twisted KT-relation (4.44) therefore the homogeneous tensor product states satisfy

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \psi |^{\otimes J}, \tag{5.2}$$

the twisted KT-relation. We can use the notation $(Z, Y, X, \overline{X}, \overline{Y}, \overline{Z})$ for the basis vectors of the six dimensional representation as

$$Z \to (1, 1, 0, 0) \equiv e_{(1,2)}, \quad Z \to (0, 0, 1, 1) \equiv e_{(3,4)},$$

$$Y \to (1, 0, 1, 0) \equiv e_{(1,3)}, \quad \bar{Y} \to (0, 1, 0, 1) \equiv e_{(2,4)},$$

$$X \to (1, 0, 0, 1) \equiv e_{(1,4)}, \quad \bar{X} \to (0, 1, 1, 0) \equiv e_{(2,3)}.$$
(5.3)

Using these notations the elementary state reads as

$$\langle \psi | = Z + \bar{Z},\tag{5.4}$$

for $x_1 = x_2 = 1$ which agrees with the $\mathfrak{sp}(4) \cong \mathfrak{so}(5)$ symmetric boundary states in [21]. This state is also relevant for defect CFT defined by a 't Hooft line embedded in the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM [17]. We can apply our on-shell overlap formula (4.119) as

$$\frac{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})} = \frac{Q_2(0)Q_2(i/2)}{Q_1(0)Q_1(i/2)Q_3(0)Q_3(i/2)}\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}.$$
(5.5)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture of [21].

5.2 Boundary states in the ABJM theory

In this section, we reconstruct the overlap formula of [16] and [18] for the scalar sector of the ABJM theory which can be described by an alternating $\mathfrak{gl}(4)$ spin chain. In [16] a $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ symmetric boundary state appeared in the context of three-point function of twodeterminant and one single trace operator. In [18] a $\mathfrak{gl}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(2)$ and a $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ symmetric boundary state corresponds to correlation functions of single trace operators and a circular supersymmetric Wilson loop.

Now we take a alternating spin chain with the defining representations $\Lambda = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ and its contra-gradient $\Lambda = (0, 0, 0, -1)$ one. The monodromy matrix is

$$T_a(u) = L_{a,2J-1}(u+c)L_{a,2J-1}(u-c)\dots L_{a,2}(u+c)L_{a,1}(u-c).$$
(5.6)

This monodromy matrix is built from the elementary monodromy matrices (3.24) ($\theta = c$), for which the two-site state (3.31) satisfies the elementary untwisted *KT*-relation (3.26) therefore the tensor product states

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle \psi(c) |^{\otimes J} \tag{5.7}$$

satisfy the untwisted KT-relation. We can use the notation (Y^1, Y^2, Y^3, Y^4) , $(\bar{Y}_1, \bar{Y}_2, \bar{Y}_3, \bar{Y}_4)$ for the basis vectors of the representations $\Lambda = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ and its contra-gradient $\Lambda = (0, 0, 0, -1)$, respectively, as

$$Y^{1} \to (1, 0, 0, 0), \quad \bar{Y}_{1} \to (-1, 0, 0, 0),$$

$$Y^{2} \to (0, 1, 0, 0), \quad \bar{Y}_{2} \to (0, -1, 0, 0),$$

$$Y^{3} \to (0, 0, 1, 0), \quad \bar{Y}_{3} \to (0, 0, -1, 0),$$

$$Y^{4} \to (0, 0, 0, 1), \quad \bar{Y}_{4} \to (0, 0, 0, -1).$$
(5.8)

5.2.1 Three-point functions

Let us choose a $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ symmetric K-matrix as $\mathfrak{a} = -c$ and

$$\mathcal{U} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.9)

for which the explicit form of the K-matrix is

$$K(u) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-c}{u} & 0 & 0 & -1\\ 0 & \frac{-c+u}{u} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{-c+u}{u} & 0\\ -1 & 0 & 0 & \frac{-c}{u} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.10)

The two-site state (3.31) reads as

$$\langle \psi | = \sum_{A,B} K_{B,A}(c) Y^A \otimes \bar{Y}_B = -(Y^1 + Y^4) \otimes (\bar{Y}_1 + \bar{Y}_4), \qquad (5.11)$$

which agrees with the boundary states of the maximal giant graviton in [16]. To apply our overlap formula we need to calculate the regular form of the \mathcal{U} -matrix (3.14), which is

$$\mathcal{U}^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.12)

The parameter \mathfrak{b}_1 can be calculated from (3.20), i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{b}_1 = -1. \tag{5.13}$$

Now, we can apply our on-shell overlap formula (3.107) as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = (-1)^{r_1} \frac{Q_1(\frac{i}{2})}{\sqrt{Q_2(0)Q_2(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.14)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture of [16].

5.2.2 Wilson loop one-point functions

Overlap of 1/6 BPS Wilson loops. Let us choose a $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ symmetric K-matrix as $\mathfrak{a} = 0$ and

$$K(u) = \mathcal{U} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.15)

The elementary two-site state (3.31) reads as

$$\langle \psi | = \lim_{u \to \infty} \sum_{A,B} K_{B,A}(c) Y^A \otimes \bar{Y}_B = -Y^1 \otimes \bar{Y}_1 - Y^2 \otimes \bar{Y}_2 + Y^3 \otimes \bar{Y}_3 + Y^4 \otimes \bar{Y}_4, \qquad (5.16)$$

which agrees with the boundary states of the of 1/6 BPS Wilson loops in [18]. We derived the overlap for the regular form K-matrix

$$K^{r}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}}{z} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \mathfrak{b}_{2} & 1 & 0\\ \mathfrak{b}_{1} & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.17)

therefore we can obtain the overlap corresponding to K-matrix (5.15) by taking the $\mathfrak{b}_1, \mathfrak{b}_2, \mathfrak{a} \to 0$ limit. However this limit of our overlap formula is not well defined since we fixed the normalization of the boundary state as $\langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = 1$, however when $\mathfrak{b}_1 = 0$ the overlap with the pseudo-vacuum is zero $\langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = 0$. It can be seen from the explicit form of the corresponding two-site state (given by (3.31)) as

$$\langle \psi^r | = \lim_{u \to \infty} \sum_{A,B} K^r_{B,A}(c) Y^A \otimes \bar{Y}_B = \mathfrak{b}_1 Y^1 \otimes \bar{Y}_4 + \mathfrak{b}_2 Y^2 \otimes \bar{Y}_3 - Y^1 \otimes \bar{Y}_1 - Y^2 \otimes \bar{Y}_2 + Y^3 \otimes \bar{Y}_3 + Y^4 \otimes \bar{Y}_4.$$

$$(5.18)$$

To obtain the two-site state (5.16) in the limit $\mathfrak{b}_1, \mathfrak{b}_2 \to 0$, we have to fix the normalization in a \mathfrak{b}_1 dependent way: $\langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = \mathfrak{b}_1^J$. Using this normalization, our overlap function for the regular *K*-matrix (3.107) modifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi^r | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \left[\mathfrak{b}_1^{J-r_1}\mathfrak{b}_2^{r_1-r_2}\right] \times \frac{Q_2(\mathfrak{a})}{\sqrt{Q_2(0)Q_2(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.19)

Now we can take the limit. Since $J \ge r_1$ and $r_1 \ge r_2$, we obtain non-vanishing overlaps only when $J = r_1 = r_2$ and the final formula simplifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \lim_{\mathfrak{b}_1, \mathfrak{b}_2, \mathfrak{a} \to 0} \frac{\langle \Psi^r | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \sqrt{\frac{Q_2(0)}{Q_2(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.20)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture (4.29) in [18].

Overlap of 1/2 BPS Wilson loops. Let us choose a $\mathfrak{gl}(3)$ symmetric *K*-matrix as $\mathfrak{a} = 0$ and

$$K(u) = \mathcal{U} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.21)

The elementary two-site state (3.31) reads as

$$\langle \psi | = \lim_{u \to \infty} \sum_{A,B} K_{B,A}(c) Y^A \otimes \bar{Y}_B = -Y^1 \otimes \bar{Y}_1 + Y^2 \otimes \bar{Y}_2 + Y^3 \otimes \bar{Y}_3 + Y^4 \otimes \bar{Y}_4, \qquad (5.22)$$

which agrees with the boundary states of the of 1/2 BPS Wilson loops in [18]. We derived the overlap for the regular form K-matrix

$$K^{r}(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}}{z} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \\ \mathfrak{b}_{1} \ 0 \ 0 \ 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.23)

therefore we can obtain the overlap corresponding to K-matrix (5.21) by taking the $\mathfrak{b}_1, \mathfrak{a} \to 0$ limit. Applying the previous argument we need to fix the normalization as $\langle \Psi | 0 \rangle = \mathfrak{b}_1^J$. Using this normalization, our overlap function for the regular K-matrix (3.107) modifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi^r | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \mathfrak{b}_1^{J-r_1} \frac{Q_1(-\frac{i}{2})}{\sqrt{Q_2(0)Q_2(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}},\tag{5.24}$$

where we have the selection rule $r_1 = r_2$. Now we can take the limit. Since $J \ge r_1$, we obtain non-vanishing overlaps only when $J = r_1$ and the final formula simplifies as

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \lim_{\mathfrak{b}_1, \mathfrak{a} \to 0} \frac{\langle \Psi^r | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \frac{Q_1(-\frac{i}{2})}{\sqrt{Q_2(0)Q_2(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.25)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture (5.7) in [18].

5.3 Boundary state with infinite dimensional representation

One of the main advantages of our results is that they are representation-independent, i.e. they can be applied to infinite dimensional quantum spaces. Here is a concrete example that is relevant for correlators between the 't Hooft line embedded in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory and non-protected bulk operators [17]. The SL(2) sector can be described by homogeneous $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ spin chains where the quantum spaces are tensor products of infinite dimensional representation with highest weight $\Lambda = (-1/2, 1/2)$. The monodromy matrix is

$$T_0(u) = L_{0,J}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}(u) \dots L_{0,1}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}(u), \qquad (5.26)$$

and the Lax-operator L(u) has a usual form

$$L^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}(u) = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{k,l=1}^{2} E_{k,l} \otimes E_{l,k}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{2} E_{k,l} \otimes \ell_{k,l}(u).$$
(5.27)

Let us choose the representation $E_{k,l}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}$ as

$$E_{1,1}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle = -\left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)|n\rangle,$$

$$E_{2,2}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle = \left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)|n\rangle,$$

$$E_{2,1}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle = -i(n+1)|n+1\rangle,$$

$$E_{1,2}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle = -in|n-1\rangle.$$
(5.28)

The boundary state which describes correlators for the 't Hooft line embedded in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory can be written as

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle B |^{\otimes J}, \tag{5.29}$$

where the elementary one-site state is

$$\langle B| = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n P_n(\cos\theta) \langle n|\right).$$
(5.30)

Now we have to find the corresponding K-matrix of the one-site state which satisfies the untwisted KT-relation²

$$K_0(u)\langle B|T_0(u) = \langle B|T_0(-u)K_0(u),$$
(5.31)

for J = 1. Let us parameterize the K-matrix in the usual way

$$K(u) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}}{u} \mathbf{1} + \mathcal{U}, \qquad \mathcal{U} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{U}_{1,1} \ \mathcal{U}_{1,2} = \frac{1 - \mathcal{U}_{1,1}^2}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} \\ \mathcal{U}_{2,1} \ \mathcal{U}_{2,2} = -\mathcal{U}_{1,1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.32)

In the auxiliary space we have four equations:

$$K_{1,1}(u)\langle B|\ell_{1,1}(u) + K_{1,2}(u)\langle B|\ell_{2,1}(u) = \langle B|\ell_{1,1}(-u)K_{1,1}(u) + \langle B|\ell_{1,2}(-u)K_{2,1}(u), \quad (5.33)$$

$$K_{1,1}(u)\langle B|\ell_{1,2}(u) + K_{1,2}(u)\langle B|\ell_{2,2}(u) = \langle B|\ell_{1,1}(-u)K_{1,2}(u) + \langle B|\ell_{1,2}(-u)K_{2,2}(u), \quad (5.34)$$

$$K_{2,1}(u)\langle B|\ell_{1,1}(u) + K_{2,2}(u)\langle B|\ell_{2,1}(u) = \langle B|\ell_{2,1}(-u)K_{1,1}(u) + \langle B|\ell_{2,2}(-u)K_{2,1}(u),$$
(5.35)

$$K_{2,1}(u)\langle B|\ell_{1,2}(u) + K_{2,2}(u)\langle B|\ell_{2,2}(u) = \langle B|\ell_{2,1}(-u)K_{1,2}(u) + \langle B|\ell_{2,2}(-u)K_{2,2}(u).$$
(5.36)

Since

$$E_{1,1}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle = -E_{2,2}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)}|n\rangle, \qquad (5.37)$$

²For the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ spin chains the untwisted and twisted KT-relations are equivalent. For simplicity, we prefer to use the former notation.

for all n we have the identity

$$\langle B|\ell_{2,2}(-u) = \langle B|\ell_{1,1}(u).$$
(5.38)

Let us apply this identity in the third equation (5.35). It simplifies as

$$K_{2,2}(u)\langle B|\ell_{2,1}(u) = \langle B|\ell_{2,1}(-u)K_{1,1}(u),$$
(5.39)

i.e.,

$$(K_{2,2}(u) + K_{1,1}(u))\langle B|E_{1,2}^{\left(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)} = 0.$$
(5.40)

Since $\langle B|E_{1,2}^{(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})} \neq 0$, we obtain that

$$K_{2,2}(u) = -K_{1,1}(u), (5.41)$$

therefore

$$\mathfrak{a} = 0. \tag{5.42}$$

Let us continue with the first equation (5.33). It simplifies as

$$2\mathcal{U}_{1,1}\langle B|E_{1,1}^{(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})} + \mathcal{U}_{1,2}\langle B|E_{1,2}^{(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})} + \langle B|E_{2,1}^{(-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2})}\mathcal{U}_{2,1} = 0.$$
(5.43)

Let us multiply with the state $|n\rangle$:

$$-2\left(n+\frac{1}{2}\right)\mathcal{U}_{1,1}\langle B|n\rangle - in\mathcal{U}_{1,2}\langle B|n-1\rangle - i(n+1)\mathcal{U}_{2,1}\langle B|n+1\rangle = 0, \qquad (5.44)$$

therefore we obtain that

$$\mathcal{U}_{2,1}(n+1)P_{n+1}(\cos\theta) = -i\mathcal{U}_{1,1}(2n+1)P_n(\cos\theta) - n\mathcal{U}_{1,2}P_{n-1}(\cos\theta).$$
(5.45)

Using the defining relation of the Legendre polynomials

$$(n+1)P_{n+1}(\cos\theta) = (2n+1)\cos\theta P_n(\cos\theta) - nP_{n-1}(\cos\theta), \qquad (5.46)$$

we can fix the unknowns as

$$\mathcal{U}_{1,2} = \mathcal{U}_{2,1},\tag{5.47}$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{1,1} = i\cos\theta\mathcal{U}_{2,1}.\tag{5.48}$$

The involution property of \mathcal{U} fixes the normalization freedom as

$$\mathcal{U}_{1,2} = \frac{1 - \mathcal{U}_{1,1}^2}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} \to \mathcal{U}_{2,1} = \frac{1 + (\cos\theta\mathcal{U}_{2,1})^2}{\mathcal{U}_{2,1}} \to \mathcal{U}_{2,1} = \pm \frac{1}{\sin\theta}.$$
 (5.49)

Without loss of generality, choose the positive sign for which the \mathcal{U} -matrix and K-matrix read as

$$K(z) = \mathcal{U} = \begin{pmatrix} i \cot \theta & \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \\ \frac{1}{\sin \theta} & -i \cot \theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.50)

This K-matrix satisfies the remaining two equations (5.34) and (5.36) therefore the elementary KT-equation (5.39) is satisfied. Using the co-product property of KT-relation, the tensor product boundary states (5.29) satisfy the KT-relation for any J. The existence of the K-matrix proves the integrability of the boundary state (5.29). To use our overlap formula, we need to calculate the regular form of the \mathcal{U} -matrix (3.14):

$$\mathcal{U}^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ \frac{1}{\sin\theta} & 1 \end{pmatrix},\tag{5.51}$$

and the variable \mathfrak{b}_1 is defined by (3.20), i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{b}_1 = \frac{1}{\sin \theta}.\tag{5.52}$$

Now we can apply our on-shell overlap formula (3.107)

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = (\sin\theta)^{r_1} \times \sqrt{\frac{Q_1(0)}{Q_1(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.53)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture of [17].

5.4 Boundary state in the gluon subsector

In the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM there is the gluonic spin-1 $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ subsector which is formed by the self-dual components of the field strength. The one-loop mixing matrix of the gluon operators is the Hamiltonian of an SO(3) spin chain which is a homogeneous $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ spin chain where the quantum space is a tensor product of the representation $\Lambda = (1, -1)$.

We can define the monodromy matrix as

$$T_0(u) = L_{0,J}^{(1,-1)}(u) \dots L_{0,1}^{(1,-1)}(u), \qquad (5.54)$$

and the Lax-operator L(u) has a usual form

$$L^{(1,-1)}(u) = \mathbf{1} + \frac{c}{u} \sum_{k,l=1}^{2} E_{k,l} \otimes E_{l,k}^{(1,-1)} = \sum_{k,l=1}^{2} E_{k,l} \otimes \ell_{k,l}(u).$$
(5.55)

We can choose the convention as

$$E_{1,1}^{(1,-1)} = S_z, \qquad E_{1,2}^{(1,-1)} = S_x + iS_y, E_{2,2}^{(1,-1)} = -S_z, \qquad E_{2,1}^{(1,-1)} = S_x - iS_y,$$
(5.56)

where

$$S_x = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & i \\ 0 & -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S_y = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad S_z = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.57)

The pseudo-vacuum is

$$|0^{(1,-1)}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\i\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.58)

The boundary state which describes correlators for the 't Hooft line embedded in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM theory can be written as

$$\langle \Psi | = \langle B |^{\otimes J}, \tag{5.59}$$

where the elementary one-site state is

$$\langle B| = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}^T = \mathbf{x}^T.$$
(5.60)

Let us introduce the notations

$$z = x_1 + ix_2, \qquad \rho^2 = x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2.$$
 (5.61)

The vacuum overlap is

$$\langle B|0\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{J/2}}z^J. \tag{5.62}$$

Now we have to find the corresponding K-matrix of the one-site state which satisfies the untwisted KT-relation

$$K_0(u)\langle B|T_0(u) = \langle B|T_0(-u)K_0(u),$$
(5.63)

for J = 1. The calculation is completely analogue as was in the previous section. We use the same ansatz (5.32) for the K-matrix. Solving the equations (5.33)–(5.36) we obtain that

$$\mathfrak{a} = 0, \quad \mathcal{U}_{1,1} = -\frac{x_3}{z}\mathcal{U}_{2,1}, \quad \mathcal{U}_{2,2} = \frac{x_3}{z}\mathcal{U}_{2,1}, \quad \mathcal{U}_{1,2} = \frac{x_1 - ix_2}{z}\mathcal{U}_{2,1}.$$
 (5.64)

From the normalization $\mathcal{U}^2 = \mathbf{1}$ we obtain that

$$\mathcal{U}_{2,1} = \frac{z}{\rho}.$$
 (5.65)

The existence of the K-matrix proves the integrability of the boundary state (5.59). To use our overlap formula, we need to calculate the regular form of the \mathcal{U} -matrix (3.14):

$$\mathcal{U}^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ \frac{z}{\rho} & 1 \end{pmatrix},\tag{5.66}$$

and the variable \mathfrak{b}_1 is defined by (3.20), i.e.,

$$\mathfrak{b}_1 = \frac{z}{\rho}.\tag{5.67}$$

Now we can apply our on-shell overlap formula (3.107)

$$\frac{\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}{\sqrt{\mathbb{C}(\bar{t})\mathbb{B}(\bar{t})}} = \frac{1}{2^{J/2}} \frac{z^{J-r_1}}{\rho^{-r_1}} \times \sqrt{\frac{Q_1(0)}{Q_1(\frac{i}{2})}} \times \sqrt{\frac{\det G^+}{\det G^-}}.$$
(5.68)

We can see that this result is in complete agreement with the conjecture of [17].

6 Conclusion

In this paper we determined the on-shell overlap functions of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ symmetric spin chains for the $\mathfrak{sp}(N)$ and $\mathfrak{gl}(M) \oplus \mathfrak{gl}(N-M)$ symmetric boundary states (see (3.107), (3.108) and (4.119)). Combing them with the results of [30], the on-shell overlap formulas are available for every integrable boundary states of the $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ spin chains which are built from one- or two-site states. We gave a complete proof for (3.107) and (3.108), however the precise derivation of (4.119) is positioned to a later work.

It would be interesting to generalize our method for K-matrices with extra boundary degrees of freedom, i.e., when the boundary states are given by matrix product states (MPS) [39]. This generalization would be very important since these MPS appear in the context of defect AdS/CFT correspondence [12, 13, 19–21, 40].

Another interesting direction could be the generalization to supersymmetric $\mathfrak{gl}(N|M)$ spin chains. Applying our methods one might be able to find the overlap functions for every grading, which could provide an alternative proof of the previously discovered fermionic duality rules of the on-shell overlaps [41, 42].

Acknowledgments

This paper was supported by the NKFIH grant PD142929 and the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Science.

A Off-shell Bethe vectors

In this section we review the recurrence and action formulas of the off-shell Bethe vectors which are used in our derivations of the overlaps. These formulas can be found in [33-36].

The off-shell Bethe vectors can be calculated from the following sum formula [33]

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\{z, \bar{t}^{1}\}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=2}^{N-1}\right) = \sum_{j=2}^{N} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{t}^{1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\text{II}}\right\}_{k=2}^{j-1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=2}^{j-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}})g(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{\nu-1}_{\text{I}})f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{j-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}})}, \quad (A.1)$$

where the sum goes over all the possible partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{II}$ for $\nu = 2, \ldots, j-1$ where $\bar{t}^{\nu}_{I}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{II}$ are disjoint subsets and $\#\bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} = 1$. We set by definition $\bar{t}^{I}_{I} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{t}^{N} = \emptyset$.

There is another sum formula

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-2}, \{z, \bar{t}^{N-1}\}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{j-1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\text{II}}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}\right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-2} g(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{II}})}{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{\nu-1})}, \quad (A.2)$$

where the sum goes over all the possible partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}$ for $\nu = j, \ldots, N-2$ where $\bar{t}_{I}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}$ are disjoint subsets and $\#\bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} = 1$.

We also use the following action formula for the off-shell Bethe vectors [36]

$$T_{i,j}(z)\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \lambda_N(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{i-1} f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)}{\prod_{s=j}^{i-2} f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)} \times \prod_{s=1}^{i-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s-1})}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s-1})} \prod_{s=j}^{N-1} \frac{\alpha_s(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)},$$
(A.3)

where $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \{z, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$. The sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}^{\nu}_{I} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{II} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{II}$ where $\bar{w}^{\nu}_{I}, \bar{w}^{\nu}_{II}, \bar{w}^{\nu}_{II}$ are disjoint sets for a fixed ν and $\#\bar{w}^{\nu}_{I} = \Theta(i-1-\nu), \#\bar{w}^{\nu}_{III} = \Theta(\nu-j)$. We also set $\bar{w}^{0}_{I} = \bar{w}^{N}_{III} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{w}^{0}_{II} = \bar{w}^{0}_{III} = \bar{w}^{N}_{II} = \bar{w}^{N}_{II} = \emptyset$. We also used the unit step function $\Theta(k)$ which is defined as $\Theta(k) = 1$ for $k \geq 0$ and $\Theta(k) = 0$ for k < 0.

We can see that the diagonal elements $T_{i,i}(u)$ do not change the quantum numbers r_j . The creation operators i.e. $T_{i,j}(u)$ where i < j increase the quantum numbers $r_i, r_{i+1}, \ldots, r_{j-1}$ by one. The annihilation operators i.e. $T_{j,i}(u)$ where i < j decrease the quantum numbers $r_i, r_{i+1}, \ldots, r_{j-1}$ by one.

We also use the co-product formula of the off-shell Bethe vectors. Let $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}, \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ be two quantum spaces for which $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ and the corresponding off-shell states are $\mathbb{B}^{(1)}(\bar{t}), \mathbb{B}^{(2)}(\bar{t})$. The co-product formula reads as [43]

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathbb{B}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}) \otimes \mathbb{B}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{ii}),$$
(A.4)

where the sum goes over all the possible partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_{i} \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{ii}$ where $\bar{t}^{\nu}_{i}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{ii}$ are disjoint subsets.

We also need the action of the twisted monodromy matrix on the off-shell Bethe vectors [30].

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}_{i,j}(z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) &= (-1)^{i-j} \hat{\lambda}_N(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \frac{\prod_{s=2}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{s-1} - c, \bar{t}^s)}{\prod_{s=2}^{N-1} f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s-1} - c, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)} \frac{\prod_{s=N-i+1}^{N-j} f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)}{\prod_{s=N-i+2}^{N-j} f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s-1} - c, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)} \\ \times \prod_{s=N-i+1}^{N-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s)}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s+1} + c)f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s+1} + c)} \prod_{s=1}^{N-j} \frac{\alpha_s(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{s-1} - c, \bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s)}, \end{split}$$

$$(A.5)$$

where $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \{z - sc, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$. The sum goes over all the partition of $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{I}} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{II}} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{II}}$ where $\bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{II}}, \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{III}}$ are disjoint sets for a fixed ν and $\#\bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{I}} = \Theta(\nu - N - 1 + i), \#\bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{III}} = \Theta(N - j - \nu)$. We also set $\bar{w}^{0}_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}, \bar{w}^{N}_{\mathrm{I}} = \{z - Nc\}$ and $\bar{w}^{0}_{\mathrm{I}} = \bar{w}^{0}_{\mathrm{II}} = \bar{w}^{N}_{\mathrm{II}} = \bar{w}^{N}_{\mathrm{III}} = \emptyset$.

There are $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ subsectors which are spanned by the Bethe vectors $\mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \overline{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k})$ and the generators $\{T_{i,j}\}_{i,j=k}^{k+1}$ and $\{\widehat{T}_{i,j}\}_{i,j=N-k}^{N+1-k}$ leave this subspace invariant. We can compare the actions (A.3) and (A.5) on this subspace and we find the following identities

$$\frac{\widehat{T}_{N-k,N-k}(z)}{\widehat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}) = \frac{T_{k,k}(z-kc)}{\lambda_{k+1}(z-kc)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}),$$

$$\frac{\widehat{T}_{N-k,N-k+1}(z)}{\widehat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}) = -\frac{T_{k,k+1}(z-kc)}{\lambda_{k+1}(z-kc)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}),$$

$$\frac{\widehat{T}_{N-k+1,N-k}(z)}{\widehat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}) = -\frac{T_{k+1,k}(z-kc)}{\lambda_{k+1}(z-kc)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}),$$

$$\frac{\widehat{T}_{N-k+1,N-k+1}(z)}{\widehat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}) = \frac{T_{k+1,k+1}(z-kc)}{\lambda_{k+1}(z-kc)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times k-1}, \bar{t}^k, \emptyset^{\times N-1-k}),$$
(A.6)

therefore the original and the twisted monodromy matrices are equivalent in the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ subsectors, i.e.,

$$\frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N+1-k}(z)} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{T}_{N-k,N-k}(z) & \hat{T}_{N-k,N-k+1}(z) \\ \hat{T}_{N-k+1,N-k}(z) & \hat{T}_{N-k+1,N-k+1}(z) \end{pmatrix} \\
\approx \frac{1}{\lambda_{k+1}(z-kc)} \begin{pmatrix} T_{k,k}(z-kc) & -T_{k,k+1}(z-kc) \\ -T_{k+1,k}(z-kc) & T_{k+1,k+1}(z-kc) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.7)

B Untwisted off-shell overlap of M = 0 case

Let us take the following singular K-matrix

$$K(u) = \frac{1}{u}\mathbf{1} + \mathcal{U} = \frac{1}{u}\mathbf{1} + \mathfrak{b}_j \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{N}{2} \rfloor} E_{N+1-j,j}.$$
 (B.1)

We can apply the result of [30] for the off-shell overlaps. The off-shell overlap has the sum formula

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}|\bar{\mathfrak{b}}) = A \sum_{\text{part}} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu})} \bar{Z}(\pi^{a}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}})) \bar{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu}), \tag{B.2}$$

where we introduced a non-trivial vacuum overlap

$$A := \langle \Psi | \Omega \rangle. \tag{B.3}$$

The HC has the recursion relation (see [30])

$$\begin{split} \bar{Z}(\{z,\bar{t}^{1}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \\ &= \frac{\mathfrak{b}_{2}}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\mathrm{part}} \bar{Z}(\{\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-2},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{f(\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{h(\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})f(\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1},-z)}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1},\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-2})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1},\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-2})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2},z)} \\ &- \frac{1}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \frac{1}{z} \sum_{\mathrm{part}} \bar{Z}(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1},\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{1},\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1})}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{1},z)} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{1})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1})}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1})} \prod_{s=3}^{N-1} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})}. \end{split}$$
(B.4)

Let us renormalize the HC as

$$\bar{Z}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{r_s - r_{s-1}}} \bar{Z}^0(\bar{t}).$$
(B.5)

Using the renormalized HC-s, the recursion will be independent on parameters of the K-matrix

$$\bar{Z}^{0}(\{z,\bar{t}^{1}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \bar{Z}^{0}(\{\bar{\omega}_{I}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-2},\bar{t}_{II}^{N-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{f(\bar{\omega}_{I}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{II}^{s})}{h(\bar{\omega}_{I}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{I}^{s-1})f(\bar{\omega}_{I}^{s},\bar{\omega}_{II}^{s-1})} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{I}^{N-1},\bar{t}_{II}^{N-1})f(\bar{t}^{N-1},-z)}{h(\bar{t}_{I}^{N-1},\bar{\omega}_{I}^{N-2})f(\bar{t}^{N-1},\bar{\omega}_{II}^{N-2})f(\bar{t}^{2},z)} - \frac{1}{z} \sum_{\text{part}} \bar{Z}^{0}(\bar{w}_{II}^{1},\{\bar{t}_{II}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \frac{f(\bar{w}_{I}^{1},\bar{w}_{II}^{1})}{h(\bar{w}_{I}^{1},z)} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{I}^{2},\bar{t}_{II}^{2})}{h(\bar{t}_{I}^{2},\bar{w}_{II}^{1})f(\bar{t}^{2}_{I},\bar{w}_{II}^{1})} \prod_{s=3}^{N-1} \frac{f(\bar{t}_{I}^{s},\bar{t}_{II}^{s})}{h(\bar{t}_{I}^{s},\bar{t}_{II}^{s-1})}. \quad (B.6)$$

The \mathfrak{b}_s dependence appears only in the sum formula as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}|\bar{\mathfrak{b}}) = \frac{A}{\prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{r_s - r_{s-1}}} S_{\bar{\alpha}}^0(\bar{t}), \tag{B.7}$$

where we defined the \mathfrak{b}_s independent quantity

$$S^{0}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}})} \bar{Z}^{0}(\pi^{a}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}})) \bar{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{I}}).$$
(B.8)

It is clear that we obtain the M = 0 K-matrix in the limit $\mathfrak{b}_j \to 0$. We saw that the non-vanishing overlaps require the selection rules $r_k = r_k^{\mathbf{\Lambda}} = \sum_{l=1}^k \mathbf{\Lambda}_k$ (see (3.79)). For these quantum numbers, the limit $\mathfrak{b}_j \to 0$ of the overlap is non-singular only if the vacuum expectation value scales as $A \sim \prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{r_s^{\mathbf{\Lambda}} - r_{s-1}^{\mathbf{\Lambda}}} = \prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_s}$. Let us choose the normalization of the two-site state as

$$A = \prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_s},\tag{B.9}$$

therefore the off-shell overlap reads as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}|\bar{\mathfrak{b}}) = \prod_{s=1}^{\frac{N}{2}} \mathfrak{b}_s^{\mathbf{\Lambda}_s + r_{s-1} - r_s} S_{\bar{\alpha}}^0(\bar{t}).$$
(B.10)

Now we can take the $\mathfrak{b}_s \to 0$ limit as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}|\bar{\mathfrak{b}}=\bar{0})\Big|_{\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}^{\Lambda}} = S^{0}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}).$$
(B.11)

We just derived that the non-vanishing off-shell overlaps for M = 0 is $S^0_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t})$ with the recursion (B.6).

There is a significant simplification in the N = 2 case. In this case we have only one set of Bethe roots $\bar{t} \equiv \bar{t}^1$ and α -function $\alpha \equiv \alpha_1$. The sum formula simplifies as

$$S^{0}_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(-\bar{t}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}), \qquad (B.12)$$

and we can give the HC in a closed form:

$$Z^{0}(\bar{t}) = \kappa(\bar{t}) \prod_{k < l} f(-t_k, t_l), \qquad \kappa(z) = \frac{1}{z}.$$
 (B.13)

We also need some limits of the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlaps. The HC-s have formal poles in the limits $t_l \to -t_k$ and $t_k \to 0$. For the first limit let us introduce the notation $\overline{\tau} = \overline{t} \setminus \{t_k, t_l\}$. Taking the limit $t_l \to -t_k$ we have

$$S^0_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to$$
 (B.14)

$$\begin{split} g(-t_k,t_l)\alpha(t_k)\alpha(t_l) &\frac{1}{-t_k^2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},t_k) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},-t_k) f(-t_k,\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(t_k,\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^0(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^0(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) \\ +g(t_k,-t_l) &\frac{1}{-t_k^2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(t_k,\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(-t_k,\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},-t_k) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},t_k) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}},\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^0(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) + reg. \end{split}$$

After simplifications we have

$$S^{0}_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to g(-t_{k}, t_{l})(\alpha(t_{k})\alpha(t_{l}) - 1)$$

$$\times \frac{1}{-t_{k}^{2}} f(\bar{\tau}, t_{k}) f(\bar{\tau}, -t_{k}) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \left[\alpha(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) \frac{f(t_{k}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}})f(-t_{k}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}, t_{k})f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}, -t_{k})} \right] + reg.$$
(B.15)

Introducing the modified α -s as

$$\alpha^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha(z) \frac{f(t_k, z) f(-t_k, z)}{f(z, t_k) f(z, -t_k)},$$
(B.16)

and using the sum formula (B.12) we obtain that

$$S^{0}_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to X_{k} \frac{1}{-t_{k}^{2}} f(\bar{\tau}, t_{k}) f(\bar{\tau}, -t_{k}) S^{0}_{\alpha^{\text{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S},$$
(B.17)

where \tilde{S} does not depend on X_k which is defined as

$$\lim_{t_l \to -t_k} g(-t_k, t_l)(\alpha(t_k)\alpha(t_l) - 1) = -c \frac{\alpha'(t_k)}{\alpha(t_k)} \equiv X_k.$$
(B.18)

Taking the other limit $t_k \to 0$ we have

$$S^{0}_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to \frac{1}{t_{k}} \alpha(t_{k}) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, 0) f(0, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{t}_{\text{I}})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{-t_{k}} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(0, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, 0) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}) Z^{0}(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \alpha(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}) + reg.,$$
(B.19)

where we introduced the set $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k\}$. After simplifications we have

$$S^{0}_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to \frac{1}{t_{k}}(\alpha(t_{k}) - 1)f(\bar{\tau}, 0) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}})Z^{0}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}})Z^{0}(-\bar{\tau}_{\text{II}}) \left[\alpha(\bar{t}_{\text{I}})\frac{f(0, \bar{\tau}_{\text{I}})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{I}}, 0)}\right] + reg.$$
(B.20)

Introducing the modified α -s as

$$\alpha^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha(z) \frac{f(0, z)}{f(z, 0)},\tag{B.21}$$

and using the sum formula (B.12) we obtain that

$$S^0_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) \to X^0\left(-\frac{2}{c}\right) f(\bar{\tau}, 0) S^0_{\alpha^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S}, \tag{B.22}$$

where \tilde{S} does not depend on X_k which is defined as

$$\lim_{t_k \to 0} \frac{1}{t_k} (\alpha(t_k) - 1) = \alpha'(0) \equiv \left(-\frac{2}{c}\right) X^0.$$
(B.23)

C A new recurrence relations for the Bethe vectors

In section A we show recurrence relations for the off-shell Bethe vectors (A.1) and (A.2) which are recursions on the quantum numbers r_1 and r_{N-1} . In this section we derive two other recurrence relations for the off-shell Bethe vectors which decreases the quantum number r_2 and r_{N-2} .

Recursion in r_2 . In this subsection we derive the recurrence relation

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{z,\bar{t}^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \\ &= \sum_{j=3}^{N} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z,\bar{t}^{1})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}},\bar{t}^{s-1})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{s=2}^{j-1} f(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})} \\ &+ \sum_{j=3}^{N} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \frac{g(z,\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{I}})f(\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{I}},\bar{t}^{1}_{\text{II}})}{f(z,\bar{t}^{1})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s})g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}},\bar{t}^{s-1})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{s=2}^{j-1} f(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})}, \end{split}$$

$$(C.1)$$

where the sum goes over all the possible partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}_{1}^{\nu} \cup \bar{t}_{11}^{\nu}$ for $\nu = 1$ and $\nu = 3, \ldots, j-1$ where $\bar{t}_{1}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{11}^{\nu}$ are disjoint subsets and $\#\bar{t}_{1}^{\nu} = 1$. We set by definition $\bar{t}_{1}^{2} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{t}^{N} = \emptyset$.

During the derivation we use the action formula (A.3). Applying it for i = 2 we obtain that

$$\frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \\
\times \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{1}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1})}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{1}, z)} \prod_{s=j}^{N-1} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{III}}^{s})}, \quad (C.2)$$

where $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \{z, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$ and the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{w}^1 = \bar{w}^1_{\mathrm{I}} \cup \bar{w}^1_{\mathrm{II}}$ and $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{II}} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{III}}$ for $\nu = j, j + 1, \dots, N - 1$. We also set $\bar{w}^N_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{w}^N_{\mathrm{II}} = \emptyset$. We can do the summation for the partitions of \bar{w}^1 :

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} &\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \times \\ &\left[\sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{w}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{1}) \prod_{s=j}^{N-1} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})} + \right. \\ &\left. \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{w}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) g(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{1}, z) f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{1}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{1}) \prod_{s=j}^{N-1} \frac{\alpha_{s}(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

 $\bar{v}_{II}^{s}, \bar{w}_{III}^{s})$ $(\bar{w}_{II}^{s+1}, \bar{w}_{III}^{s})$ (C.4) (C.4) $\# \bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} = 1 \text{ for line of (C.3)}$

In the second line the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^1 = \bar{t}^1_{\mathrm{I}} \cup \bar{t}^1_{\mathrm{II}}$ and $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{II}} \cup \bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{III}}$ where $\#\bar{t}^1_{\mathrm{I}} = \#\bar{w}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{III}} = 1$ for $\nu = j, j + 1, \ldots, N - 1$. Let us concentrate on the summation of the first line. We can do the summation for the partitions using that if $\bar{w}^k_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}$ than the term $1/f(\bar{w}^{k+1}_{\mathrm{II}}, \bar{w}^k_{\mathrm{III}}) = 0$ for the partitions where $z \in \bar{w}^{k+1}_{\mathrm{II}}$ therefore if $\bar{w}^k_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}$ then $\bar{w}^{k+1}_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}, \bar{w}^{k+1}_{\mathrm{II}} = \bar{t}^{k+1}$ for non-vanishing terms. We can repeat this argument and we obtain that if $\bar{w}^k_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}$ then $\bar{w}^s_{\mathrm{III}} = \{z\}, \bar{w}^s_{\mathrm{II}} = \bar{t}^s$ for s > k, i.e.,

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{N-1} \alpha_s(z)} & \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \{z, \bar{t}^s_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{w}^s_{\Pi}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^1) \prod_{s=j}^{N-1} \frac{\alpha_s(\bar{w}^s_{\Pi I}) f(\bar{w}^s_{\Pi}, \bar{w}^s_{\Pi I})}{h(\bar{w}^{s+1}_{\Pi I}, \bar{w}^s_{\Pi I}) f(\bar{w}^{s+1}_{\Pi}, \bar{w}^s_{\Pi I})} \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_s(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \{z, \bar{t}^s_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^1) f(\bar{t}^j, z) \end{split} \tag{C.4} \\ &+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_s(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=j}^{k-1})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \{z, \bar{t}^s_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=k}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^1) f(\bar{t}^k, z) \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_s(\bar{t}^s_{s+1}, \bar{t}^s_{s}) f(\bar{t}^s_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^s_{1})}{\prod_{s=j}^{k-2} h(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s_{1})} \frac{g(z, \bar{t}^{k-1}_{1})}{f(\bar{t}^k, \bar{t}^{k-1})}. \end{split}$$

In the third line the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{II}$ where $\#\bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} = 1$ for $\nu = j, j + 1, \dots, k - 1$. We can repeat the analogous calculation for the second line of (C.3) and we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} &\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{1}) f(\bar{t}^{j}, z) \\ &+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{k-1})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=k}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{1}) f(\bar{t}^{k}, z) \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1})}{\prod_{s=j}^{k-2} h(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1})} \frac{g(z, \bar{t}^{k-1}_{1})}{f(\bar{t}^{k}, \bar{t}^{k-1})} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{1})} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) g(\bar{t}^{1}, z) f(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{j}, z) \\ &+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{k-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{k-1}) g(\bar{t}^{1}, z) f(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{k}, z) \\ &+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{k-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}\}_{s=3}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=k}^{k-1}) g(\bar{t}^{1}, z) f(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{1}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{k}, z) \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1})}{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}) f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1})}} \frac{g(z, \bar{t}^{k-1})}{f(\bar{t}^{k}, \bar{t}^{k-1})}. \end{split}$$

We can repeat the analogous calculation for

$$\frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}_{II}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}_{II}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \tag{C.6}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}_{II}^{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}_{II}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) f(\bar{t}^{j}, z)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{k-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}_{II}^{1}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}_{II}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=k}^{N-1}) f(\bar{t}^{k}, z)$$

$$\times \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{I}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{II}^{s}, \bar{t}_{I}^{s})}{\prod_{s=j}^{k-2} h(\bar{t}_{I}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{I}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{II}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{I}^{s})} \frac{g(z, \bar{t}_{I}^{k-1})}{f(\bar{t}^{k}, \bar{t}_{I}^{k-1})}.$$

Let us introduce the following notation

$$\mathcal{T}_{j}(z|\bar{t}^{1},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}^{j-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=j}) := \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}^{j-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=j})$$

$$-\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{1})} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}^{j-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=j})g(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi},z)f(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi},\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}),$$
(C.7)

where the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^1 = \bar{t}^1_I \cup \bar{t}^1_{II}$ for $\#\bar{t}^1_I = 1$. Using the previous results (C.5) and (C.6) we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{T}_{j}(z|\bar{t}^{1},\bar{t}^{2},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}^{j-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=j}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{z,\bar{t}^{2}\},\{z,\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}^{j-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=j})f(z,\bar{t}^{1})f(\bar{t}^{j},z) \end{aligned} \tag{C.8} \\ &+ \sum_{k=j+1}^{N} \frac{1}{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(z)} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{k-1}_{s=j})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{z,\bar{t}^{2}\},\{z,\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}^{k-1}_{s=3},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}^{N-1}_{s=k})f(z,\bar{t}^{1})f(\bar{t}^{k},z) \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}},\bar{t}^{s}_{1})}{\prod_{s=j}^{k-2} h(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{1})f(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{1})} \frac{g(z,\bar{t}^{k-1}_{\mathrm{I}})}{f(\bar{t}^{k},\bar{t}^{k-1})}. \end{aligned}$$

We can see that the \mathcal{T}_{j} -s are expressed with $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{II}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})$ for $j = 3, \ldots, N$. We can invert these equations and express $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})$ with \mathcal{T}_{j} -s as

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) = \sum_{k=3}^{N} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathcal{T}_{k}(z, \bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=k}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z, \bar{t}^{1})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{k-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{s=3}^{k} f(\bar{t}^{s}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}})}, \quad (C.9)$$

where the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}$ for $\nu = 3, 4, \ldots, k-1$ and $\#\bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} = 1$. Substituting the definition of \mathcal{T}_{j} (C.7) we obtain what we wanted to prove (C.1). **Recursion in** r_{N-2} . In this subsection we derive an alternative recurrence relation

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-3},\{z,\bar{t}^{N-2}\},\bar{t}^{N-2}) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{N-2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{j,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}) \frac{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-3} g(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu},\bar{t}^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^{N-1},z)} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{N-2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{N-1}) \frac{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-3} g(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=j}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{\nu},\bar{t}^{\nu-1})} \tag{C.10} \\ &\times \frac{\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1}) g(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1},z) f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{N-1},\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1})}{f(\bar{t}^{N-1},z)}, \end{split}$$

where the sum goes over all the possible partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}$ for $\nu = N-1$ and $\nu = j, \ldots, N-3$ where $\bar{t}_{I}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}$ are disjoint subsets and $\#\bar{t}_{I}^{\nu} = 1$. We set by definition $\bar{t}_{I}^{N-2} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{t}^{0} = \emptyset$.

The derivation is analogous to the previous subsection. We start with the action formulas (A.3):

$$\frac{T_{j,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \\
= \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{N-1}) \\
\times \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s-1})} \frac{\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{N-1})f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{N-1}, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{N-1})}{h(z, \bar{w}_{\Pi}^{N-1})},$$
(C.11)

and

$$\frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^s\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1})$$

$$= \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^s, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}, z\}) \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^s)}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^s, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})},$$
(C.12)

where $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \{z, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$ and the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{w}^{N-1} = \bar{w}_{II}^{N-1} \cup \bar{w}_{III}^{N-1}$ and $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{w}_{II}^{\nu}$ where $\#\bar{w}_{III}^{N-1} = \#\bar{w}_{I}^{\nu} = 1$ for $\nu = 1, \ldots, j-1$. We also set $\bar{w}_{I}^{1} = \{z\}$ and $\bar{w}_{II}^{1} = \emptyset$. We can do the summation for the partitions of \bar{w}^{N-1} :

$$\frac{T_{j,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{II}\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \\
= \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}^{s}_{II}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{II}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s}_{II})}{h(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})} f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \\
+ \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{w}\}_{1}^{j-1}, \bar{t}^{N-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}^{s}_{II}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{II}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}^{N-1}, z\}) \qquad (C.13) \\
\times \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})}{h(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}^{s}_{I}, \bar{w}^{s-1})} \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{I})g(z, \bar{t}^{N-1}_{I})f(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{II}, \bar{t}^{N-1}_{I}).$$

Let us concentrate on the summation of the first line. We can do the summation using the same trick as in the previous subsection, i.e., if $\bar{w}_{I}^{k} = \{z\}$ then $\bar{w}_{I}^{s} = \{z\}, \bar{w}_{II}^{s} = \bar{t}^{s}$ for s < k:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s-1}) f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})} f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \\ &= \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1}) f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_{k}^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1}) f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \times \\ &\times \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, z) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{k})}{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, \bar{t}^{k-1})} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}^{k-1})}, \end{split}$$

where the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{II}$ and $\#\bar{t}^{\nu}_{I} = 1$ for $\nu = k, \ldots, j-1$. We can repeat the analogous calculation for the second line of (C.13) and we obtain that

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}, z\}) \prod_{s=1}^{j-1} \frac{f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s-1})f(\bar{w}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{w}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})} \\ = \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}, z\})f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1})$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_{k}^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}, z\})f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1})$$

$$\times \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, z)f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{k})}{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{k}, \bar{t}^{k-1})} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s})}{f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{s}, \bar{t}^{k-1})}.$$
(C.15)

Substituting back to (C.13) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \frac{T_{j,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} & \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \\ &= \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1}) f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^j\}_k^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \frac{f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1})}{1} f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z) \\ &\times \frac{g(\bar{t}^h_{I}, z) f(\bar{t}^k_{I}, \bar{t}^k_{II})}{f(\bar{t}^k_{I}, \bar{t}^{k-1})} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}^s_{I}, \bar{t}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}^s_{I}, \bar{t}^s_{II})}{f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1})} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{N-1})} \left[\mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}^{N-1}, z\}) f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1}) \\ &+ \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_k^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}^{N-1}_{II}, z\}) f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1}) \\ &+ \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_k^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^s_{II}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}^{N-1}_{II}, z\}) f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1}) \\ &\times \frac{g(\bar{t}^k_{I}, z) f(\bar{t}^k_{I}, \bar{t}^k_{II})}{f(\bar{t}^k_{I}, \bar{t}^{k-1})}} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}^s_{I}, \bar{t}^s_{II}) f(\bar{t}^s_{I}, \bar{t}^s_{II})}{f(\bar{t}^s_{I}, \bar{t}^{s-1})} \right] \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{I}) g(z, \bar{t}^{N-1}) f(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{II}, \bar{t}^{N-1}_{II}). \end{split}$$

We can repeat the analogous calculation for

$$\frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{N-1}) \tag{C.17}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{N-1}, z\}) f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_{k}^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \{\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{N-1}, z\}) f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1})$$

$$\times \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{k}, z) f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{k}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{k})}{f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{k}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{k})} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s})}{f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{s}, \bar{t}^{s-1})}. \tag{C.18}$$

Let us introduce the following notation

$$\mathcal{T}_{j}(z|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}) := \frac{T_{j,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}) \\ -\sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t}^{N-1})} \frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1})g(z,\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1})f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{N-1}),$$

$$(C.19)$$

where the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^{N-1} = \bar{t}_{I}^{N-1} \cup \bar{t}_{II}^{N-1}$ for $\#\bar{t}_{I}^{N-1} = 1$. Using the previous results (C.16) and (C.17) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{T}_{j}(z|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \bar{t}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) = \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}, z\}_{s=j}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1})f(z, \bar{t}^{j-1})f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}\}_{k}^{j-1})} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}, z\}_{s=k}^{N-3}, \{\bar{t}^{N-2}, z\}, \bar{t}^{N-1}) \frac{f(z, \bar{t}^{k-1})}{1} f(\bar{t}^{N-1}, z)$$

$$\times \frac{g(\bar{t}^{k}_{\mathrm{I}}, z)f(\bar{t}^{k}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{t}^{k}_{\mathrm{II}})}{f(\bar{t}^{k}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{t}^{k-1})} \prod_{s=k+1}^{j-1} \frac{g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{t}^{s-1})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}})}{f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}}, \bar{t}^{s-1})}.$$

$$(C.20)$$

We can see that the \mathcal{T}_{j} -s are expressed with $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{z, \bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})$ for $j = 1, \ldots, N-2$. We can invert these equations and express $\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})$ with \mathcal{T}_{j} -s as

$$\mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-3},\{\bar{t}^{N-2},z\},\bar{t}^{N-1})) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-2} \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t})} \mathcal{T}_{j}(z|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}_{s=j}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}) \frac{\prod_{s=j}^{N-3} g(\bar{t}^{s+1}_{\mathrm{I}},\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}}) f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}},\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}})}{\prod_{s=j}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{I}},\bar{t}^{s-1})} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^{N-1},z)}, \quad (C.21)$$

where the sum goes over all the partitions of $\bar{t}^s = \bar{t}^s_1 \cup \bar{t}^s_{II}$ for $s = j, \ldots, N-3$ and $\#\bar{t}^{\nu}_I = 1$. Substituting the definition of \mathcal{T}_j (C.19) we obtain what we wanted to prove (C.10).

D Proof of the sum formulas

In this section we prove the sum formulas (3.98) and (4.94). We deal the untwisted and twisted cases separately.

D.1 Untwisted case

For the untwisted case, let us fix the K-matrix to the type (N, M) regular form:

$$K(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_k E_{N+1-k,k} + \sum_{k=1}^{N} K_{k,k}(z) E_{k,k}.$$
 (D.1)

We do not need the explicit form of the non-zero matrix entries therefore the result is valid also for the singular K-matrices with the form (D.1). In section 3.3 we already saw that the variables $\alpha_s(t_k^s)$ can be handled as independent variables for $s = 1, \ldots, M$ and $s = N - M, \ldots, N - 1$. Repeating the previous derivation of [30] (appendix (C.2)) we can show that the off-shell overlap has the sum formula

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+})} \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s_{\mathsf{I}}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+} | \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+} \alpha_s(\bar{t}^s_{\mathsf{I}}), \qquad (D.2)$$

where we defined the sets $\mathfrak{s}^+ = \{1, \ldots, M\} \cup \{N-M, \ldots, N-1\}$ and $\mathfrak{s}^- = \{M+1, \ldots, N-M-1\}$. 1}. The coefficients $\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s_I\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-})$ do not depend on the α -functions α_s for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$. For completeness, we present this proof.

D.1.1 Proof of (D.2)

We want to prove the sum formula (D.2) where the weights $\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}$ do not depend on α_s for $s\in\mathfrak{s}^+$. In the derivation we only care about α_s $(s\in\mathfrak{s}^+)$ dependence of the overlap therefore we use the notation (\ldots) for the α_s independent coefficients $(s\in\mathfrak{s}^+)$. Using this notation the sum formula takes the form

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_1^s)(\dots).$$
(D.3)

We prove this sum formula using induction on M. Let us start with M = 1. We use the recurrence formula (A.1)

$$\mathbb{B}(\{z,\bar{t}^{1}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) = \sum_{j=2}^{N} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\mathrm{II}}\}_{s=2}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{\nu=2}^{j-1} \alpha_{\nu}(t_{1}^{\nu}) \times (\dots).$$
(D.4)

We saw that, for non-vanishing overlap, the numbers of the first and (N-1)-th type of Bethe roots are equal therefore we fix the quantum numbers as $\#\bar{t}^1 = r_1 - 1$ and $\#\bar{t}^{N-1} = r_1$. Using the *KT*-relation (3.1) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^{1}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) &= \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\operatorname{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})(\dots) \\ &- \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \sum_{\operatorname{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1})(\dots) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\operatorname{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | T_{N,N}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{1})(\dots) \\ &- \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\operatorname{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | T_{N,N}(z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}_{1})(\dots) \end{split}$$
(D.5)

We can use the action formulas (A.3)

$$\frac{T_{N,j}(-z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \alpha_1(z) \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^{N-1}) \times (\dots),
\frac{T_{N,j}(z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\alpha_{N-1}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{N-1}) \times (\dots),$$
(D.6)

for j > 1, where $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \{z, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$, $\bar{\omega}^{\nu} = \{-z, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{w}^{\nu} = \bar{w}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \cup \bar{w}_{II}^{\nu}$, $\bar{\omega}^{\nu} = \bar{\omega}_{I}^{\nu} \cup \bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu} \cup \bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu}$. We can see that in these formulas the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_{N-1}(t_{k}^{N-1})$ and $\alpha_{1}(z), \alpha_{N-1}(z)$ therefore combining (D.5) and (D.6) we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^1\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1}) \times (\alpha_1(z), \alpha_{N-1}(z), \dots),$$
(D.7)

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{z, -z, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$ where $\bar{w}_{II}^{1} = \bar{w}_{II}^{N-1} = r_{1} - 1$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{1} and \bar{t}^{N-1} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \left\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^k\right\}_{k=2}^{N-2}, \emptyset\right) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1}) \times (\alpha_1(t_k^1), \alpha_{N-1}(t_k^1), \dots),$$
(D.8)

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset {\{\bar{t}^1, -\bar{t}^1, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}}$. Since the type (N-2, 0) overlap does not depend on α_1 or α_{N-1} , we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_1^{N-1}) \times (\alpha_1(t_k^1), \alpha_{N-1}(t_k^1), \dots),$$
(D.9)

for M = 1. We can repeat this calculation for the other type of recursion of the off-shell overlap (A.2):

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-2}, \{z, \bar{t}^{N-1}\}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{T_{j,N}(z)}{\lambda_{N}(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{t}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{j-1}, \left\{\bar{t}^{k}_{\Pi}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1}\right)(\dots).$$
(D.10)

Using the KT-relation (3.1) we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B} \left(\left\{ \bar{t}^k \right\}_{k=1}^{N-2}, \{z, \bar{t}^{N-1} \} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda_N(z)} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(-z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \sum \langle \Psi | T_{j,1}(-z) \mathbb{B} \left(\left\{ \bar{t}^k \right\}_{k=1}^{j-1}, \left\{ \bar{t}^k_{\Pi} \right\}_{k=j}^{N-2}, \bar{t}^{N-1} \right) (\dots)$$

$$- \frac{1}{\lambda_N(z)} \frac{K_{1,1}(-z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \sum \langle \Psi | T_{j,1}(z) \mathbb{B} \left(\bar{t}^1, \left\{ \bar{t}^s_{\Pi} \right\}_{s=2}^{j-1}, \left\{ \bar{t}^s \right\}_{s=j}^{N-1} \right) (\dots)$$

$$(D.11)$$

We can use the action formulas (A.3)

$$\frac{T_{j,1}(-z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \alpha_1(z)\alpha_{N-1}(z) \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}})\alpha_1(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^1)\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^{N-1}) \times (\dots),$$

$$\frac{T_{j,1}(z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}})\alpha_1(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^1)\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{N-1}) \times (\dots).$$
(D.12)

We can see that in these formulas the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_1(t_k^1), \alpha_{N-1}(t_k^{N-1})$ and $\alpha_1(z), \alpha_{N-1}(z)$ therefore combining the equations above we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B} \left(\{ z, \bar{t}^1 \}, \{ \bar{t}^s \}_{s=2}^{N-1} \right) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \alpha_1(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^1) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{N-1}) \times (\alpha_1(z), \alpha_{N-1}(z), \dots), \quad (D.13)$$

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{z, -z, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$ where $\bar{w}_{II}^{1} = \bar{w}_{II}^{N-1} = r_{1} - 1$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{1} and \bar{t}^{N-1} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \left\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^k\right\}_{k=2}^{N-2}, \emptyset\right) \alpha_1(\bar{t}_1^1) \times (\alpha_1(t_k^{N-1}), \alpha_{N-1}(t_k^{N-1}), \dots), \quad (D.14)$$

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset {\{\bar{t}^1, -\bar{t}^1, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}}$. Since the type (N-2, 0) overlap does not depend on α_1 or α_{N-1} , we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_1(\bar{t}_1^1) \times (\alpha_1(t_k^{N-1}), \alpha_{N-1}(t_k^{N-1}), \dots), \qquad (D.15)$$

for M = 1. Combining the two properties (D.9) and (D.15) of the M = 1 off-shell formula we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_1(\bar{t}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{I}}^1) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}_{\scriptscriptstyle \mathrm{I}}^{N-1}) \times (\dots), \qquad (D.16)$$

which proves (D.2) for type M = 1.

Let us continue with general M. Let us assume that the type (N-2, M-1) overlaps have the sum formula (D.2). Let us turn to the type (N, M) overlaps. Combining the recurrence relation (A.1) with the KT-relation we obtain the equation

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{z,\bar{t}^{1}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \sum_{j=2}^{M} \frac{\mathfrak{b}_{j}}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}\cap[2,\dots,j-1]} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1})(\dots) \quad (D.17) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}\cap[2,\dots,j-1]} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1})(\dots) \\ &- \frac{1}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \sum \langle \Psi | T_{N,j}(z) \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}\cap[2,\dots,j-1]} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1})(\dots). \end{split}$$

We can also use the action formula (A.3)

$$\frac{T_{N,j}(-z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \alpha_1(z) \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [j, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_1^s) \times (\dots),
\frac{T_{N,j}(z)}{\lambda_2(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [j, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(z)} \sum_{\text{part}} \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [j, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^s) \times (\dots),$$
(D.18)

for j > 1. We can see that in these formulas the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_s(t_k^s)$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [2, \ldots, N-1]$ and $\alpha_s(z)$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$ therefore combining them we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^1\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [2, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}^s_{\text{I}}) \times (\alpha_s(z), \dots),$$
(D.19)

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{z, -z, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$ where $\bar{w}_{II}^{1} = \bar{w}_{II}^{N-1} = r_{1} - 1$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{1} and \bar{t}^{N-1} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \left\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^k\right\}_{k=2}^{N-2}, \emptyset\right) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [2, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^s) \times (\alpha_s(t_k^1), \dots), \tag{D.20}$$

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset {\{\bar{t}^1, -\bar{t}^1, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}}$. Since the type (N-2, M-1) overlap satisfies the induction hypothesis, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [2, \dots, N-1]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_1^s) \times (\alpha_s(t_k^1), \dots).$$
(D.21)

We can repeat this calculation for the other type of recursion of the off-shell overlap (A.2). Combining it with the KT-relation (3.1) and the action formulas (A.3), we obtain a sum formula where the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_s(t_k^s)$ and $\alpha_s(z)$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$ i.e.

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{z, \bar{t}^1\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=2}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+} \alpha_s(\bar{t}^s_{\text{I}}) \times (\alpha_s(z), \dots),$$
(D.22)

where $\bar{w}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{z, -z, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$ where $\bar{w}_{II}^{1} = \bar{w}_{II}^{N-1} = r_{1} - 1$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{1} and \bar{t}^{N-1} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \left\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^k\right\}_{k=2}^{N-2}, \emptyset\right) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [1, \dots, N-2]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^s) \times (\alpha_s(t_k^{N-1}), \dots), \quad (D.23)$$

where $\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{\nu} \subset {\{\bar{t}^1, -\bar{t}^1, \bar{t}_{\Pi}^{\nu}\}}$. Since the type (N-2, M-1) overlap satisfies the induction hypothesis, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+ \cap [1, \dots, N-2]} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_1^s) \times (\alpha_s(t_k^{N-1}), \dots).$$
(D.24)

Combining the two properties (D.21) and (D.24) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+} \alpha_s(\bar{t}_1^s) \times (\dots), \qquad (D.25)$$

which proves (D.2) for general M.

D.1.2 Proof of (3.98)

Now we derive some useful identities for the undetermined coefficients

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s_I\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}^s_{II}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}),\tag{D.26}$$

of the sum formula (D.2). Let us renormalize the overlap formula as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}^s).$$
(D.27)

For the renormalized overlap the sum formula (D.2) reads as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+})} \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s_{\mathrm{I}}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+} | \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+} | \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+} \lambda_s(\bar{t}^s_{\mathrm{I}})\lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}^s_{\mathrm{II}}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-} \lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}^s).$$
(D.28)

We can us the co-product formula (A.4)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{\nu}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) \lambda_{\nu+1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{ii}).$$
(D.29)

Let us choose a fixed partition $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_{i} \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{ii}$ for every $\nu \in \mathfrak{s}^{+}$. Let us choose the vacuum eigenvalues $\lambda_{\nu}(z)$ as

$$\lambda_{\nu}^{(2)}(t_k^{\nu}) = 0, \quad \text{where } t_k^{\nu} \in \bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \text{ for } \nu \in \mathfrak{s}^+,$$

$$\lambda_{\nu+1}^{(1)}(t_k^{\nu}) = 0, \quad \text{where } t_k^{\nu} \in \bar{t}_i^{\nu}, \text{ for } \nu \in \mathfrak{s}^+.$$
(D.30)

Using these conditions in the sum formula (D.28) we obtain that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}_i^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}\lambda_s(\bar{t}_i^s)\lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}_{ii}^s)\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}\lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}^s).$$
(D.31)

Substituting to the co-product formula (D.29) we obtain that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{ii}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{i})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}_{\text{ii}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{i})} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{\nu}^{(2)}(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{i}) \lambda_{\nu+1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{ii}), \qquad (D.32)$$

where the sum goes through to the partitions $\bar{t}^{\nu} = \bar{t}^{\nu}_i \cup \bar{t}^{\nu}_{ii}$ for $\nu \in \mathfrak{s}^-$ and the partitions for $\nu \in \mathfrak{s}^+$ are fixed. The overlaps are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}^{(1)}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}\lambda_{s}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}\lambda_{s+1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s}), \tag{D.33}$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{\rm ii}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s^{(2)}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{\rm ii}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}_{\rm ii}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}\lambda_{s+1}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{\rm ii}^s)\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}\lambda_{s+1}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{\rm ii}^s).$$
(D.34)

Substituting back we obtain that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}) = \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \\ \times \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}^{(1)}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}^{(2)}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}} \alpha_{s}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s}).$$
(D.35)

Let us choose the quantum space $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ as $\alpha_s^{(1)}(z) = 1$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$. The formula above simplifies as

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})$$

$$=\sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})}\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i})\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}\alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s}), \quad (\mathrm{D.36})$$

where we introduced the HC as

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) := \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-})\bigg|_{\alpha_s(z)=1}.$$
(D.37)

We can also choose the other quantum space $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ as $\alpha_s^{(2)}(z) = 1$ for which

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})$$

$$=\sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})}\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}), \qquad (D.38)$$

where we introduced the other HC as

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) := \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^+}|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-})\bigg|_{\alpha_s(z)=1}.$$
(D.39)

Substituting $\bar{t}_i^s = \emptyset$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$ to the second formula (D.38) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}) = \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})} \frac{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{s},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})}{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{s+1},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})} S^{0}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}),$$
(D.40)

where we used that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\emptyset|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}) = \langle\Psi|\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset,\bar{t}^{M+1},\ldots,\bar{t}^{N-M-1},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) = S^0_{\{\alpha_s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^-}).$$
(D.41)

We can substitute to (D.36):

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}|\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}) = \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \\ \times \frac{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}, \bar{t}_{i}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{s}, \bar{t}_{iii}^{s})}{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{s}, \bar{t}_{i}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{iii}^{s})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) S^{0}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}}(\{\bar{t}_{iii}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}) \prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s}).$$
(D.42)

Substituting back to the original sum formula (D.2), we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{s})}{\prod_{s=M+1}^{N-M-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{s})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{s}) S^{0}_{\{\alpha_{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}} (\{\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{s}\}_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{-}}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s}), \tag{D.43}$$

which is what we wanted to prove (3.98).

D.2 Twisted case

For the twisted case let us fix the K-matrix to the regular form

$$K = \sum_{a=1}^{N/2} x_a E_{N+1-2a,2a-1} - x_a E_{N+2-2a,2a}.$$

In section 4.2 we already saw that the variables $\alpha_{2a}(t_k^{2a})$ can be handled as independent variables for $a = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2} - 1$. Using a similar derivation of [30] (appendix (C.1)) we can show that the overlap has the sum formula

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1})} \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} |\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} |\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a}).$$
(D.44)

For completeness, we present this proof.

D.2.1 Proof of (D.44)

We start with the proof of the sum formula (D.44) where the weights $\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}$ do not depend on α_{2a} for $a = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2} - 1$. In the derivation we only care about α_{2a} dependence of the overlap therefore we use the notation (\ldots) for the α_{2a} independent coefficients. Using this notation the sum formula takes the form

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a})(\dots).$$
(D.45)

We prove this sum formula using induction on N. Let us start with N = 4. Using the recurrence formula (C.1)

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \bar{t}^{3}) = \sum_{j=3}^{4} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{3})(\dots) + \sum_{j=3}^{4} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{3})(\dots),$$
(D.46)

and the KT-relation

$$T_{2,3}(z) = -\frac{x_2}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{4,1}(-z), \quad T_{2,4}(z) = \frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{4,2}(-z),$$

$$T_{1,3}(z) = \frac{x_2}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{3,1}(-z), \quad T_{1,4}(z) = -\frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{3,2}(-z),$$
(D.47)

and the action formula (A.5)

$$\widehat{T}_{i,j}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\overline{t}) = (-1)^{i-j}\alpha_2(z)\sum_{\text{part}(\overline{w})} \mathbb{B}(\overline{\omega}_{\text{II}})\alpha_2(\overline{\omega}_{\text{III}}^2)(\dots),$$
(D.48)

for $j \leq 2$, we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}) \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^2)(\dots),$$
(D.49)

where $\bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu}, \bar{\omega}_{III}^{\nu} \subset \{-z - \nu c, \bar{t}^{\nu}\}$ where $\bar{\omega}_{II}^2 = \# \bar{t}^2 - 1$ and $\bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu} \cap \bar{\omega}_{III}^{\nu} = \emptyset$. We can prove (D.44) for N = 4 by induction on $r_2 = \# \bar{t}^2$. Let us start with $\# \bar{t}^2 = 2$ for which

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}^1, \emptyset, \bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}^3) \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^2)(\dots).$$
(D.50)

Since the overlap with $r_2 = 0$ factorize as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{II}^{1}, \emptyset, \bar{\omega}_{II}^{3}) = S_{\alpha_{1}}^{(1)}(\bar{\omega}_{II}^{1}) S_{\alpha_{3}}^{(3)}(\bar{\omega}_{II}^{3}), \tag{D.51}$$

which does not depend on α_2 we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^2)(\dots).$$
(D.52)

We have two possibilities: if $\bar{\omega}_{III}^2 = \{-z - 2c\}$ then the r.h.s. is $\alpha_2(z)\alpha_2(-z - 2c) = 1$ or if $\bar{\omega}_{III}^2 = \{t^2\}$ then the r.h.s. is $\alpha_2(z)\alpha_2(t^2)$ therefore

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(t^2)(\dots) + (\dots),$$
 (D.53)

i.e., we just proved that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \bar{t}^2, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(\bar{t}_1^2)(\dots), \qquad (D.54)$$

for $r_2 = 2$. Now let assume that (D.54) is true for $\#\bar{t}^2 = r_2 - 2$. Let us apply the relation (D.49) for $\#\bar{t}^2 = r_2 - 1$. In this case the number of the second Bethe roots is $r_2 - 2$ therefore we can use the induction hypothesis (D.54):

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(\bar{\omega}_{\text{I}}^2) \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(\bar{\omega}_{\text{III}}^2)(\dots), \qquad (D.55)$$

where $\bar{\omega}_{I}^{\nu} \cap \bar{\omega}_{III}^{\nu} = \emptyset$. We have three possibilities

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \bar{t}^{3}) = \begin{cases} \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_{2}(\bar{t}_{I}^{2})(\dots), & -z - 2c \in \bar{\omega}_{I}^{2}, \\ \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_{2}(\bar{t}_{I}^{2})(\dots), & \{-z - 2c\} = \bar{\omega}_{III}^{2}, \\ \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_{2}(z)\alpha_{2}(\bar{t}_{I}^{2})(\dots), & \{-z - 2c\} \notin \bar{\omega}_{I}^{2}, \bar{\omega}_{III}^{2}, \end{cases}$$
(D.56)

therefore we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \bar{t}^3) = \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(z) \alpha_2(\bar{t}_1^2)(\dots) + \sum_{\text{part}} \alpha_2(\bar{t}_1^2)(\dots),$$
 (D.57)

which proves (D.54) for any even r_2 , i.e we proved (D.44) for N = 4.

Let us continue with general N. Let us assume that the $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlaps have the sum formula (D.44). Let us turn to the type $\mathfrak{gl}(N)$ overlaps. We can use the recurrence

formula (C.1)

$$\mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \{z, \bar{t}^{2}\}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) = \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2,2a-1}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a-1}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}) \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}\} \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^{1}_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^{2}, \{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{2a-1}, \{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-1}\} \prod_{b=2}^{a-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}^{2b}_{1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{part}(\bar{t}^{s}_{1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{1}, \bar{t}^{s}_{$$

and the KT-relation

$$T_{2,2a-1}(z) = -\frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{N,N+1-2a}(-z), \quad T_{2,2a}(z) = \frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{N,N+2-2a}(-z),$$

$$T_{1,2a-1}(z) = \frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{N-1,N+1-2a}(-z), \quad T_{1,2a}(z) = -\frac{x_a}{x_1}\lambda_0(z)\widehat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z),$$
(D.59)

and the action formula (A.5)

$$\widehat{T}_{i,N-j}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\overline{t}) = \alpha_2(z) \sum_{\text{part}(\overline{w})} \mathbb{B}(\overline{\omega}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{b=1}^{j/2} \alpha_{2b}(\overline{\omega}_{\text{III}}^{2b})(\dots).$$
(D.60)

We can see that in these formulas the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b})$ and $\alpha_{2b}(z)$ therefore combining the equations above, we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \{z, \bar{t}^2\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}) \prod_{b=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_1^{2b})(\alpha_{2b}(z), \dots),$$
(D.61)

where $\bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{-z - \nu c, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{2} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}^{1}, \emptyset, \left\{\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}^{k}\right\}_{k=3}^{N-1}\right) \prod_{b=2}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{2b}) \times (\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{2}), \dots), \tag{D.62}$$

where $\bar{\omega}_{\text{II}}^{\nu} \subset \{-\bar{t}^1 - \nu c, \bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{\nu}\}$. The overlaps in the r.h.s. factorize to $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlaps as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{1}, \emptyset, \left\{\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{k}\right\}_{k=3}^{N-1}\right) = S_{\alpha_{1}}^{(1)}(\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{1}) \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \emptyset, \left\{\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{k}\right\}_{k=3}^{N-1}\right).$$
(D.63)

The $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlap does not depend on α_{2b} and $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlap satisfies the induction hypothesis therefore we obtain that

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \prod_{b=2}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_{1}^{2b}) \times (\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{2}), \dots).$$
(D.64)

We can repeat the previous calculation using the alternative recurrence formula (C.10)

$$\mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-3},\{z,\bar{t}^{N-2}\},\bar{t}^{N-2}) = \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2a-1,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{2a-2},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2a,N-1}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{2a-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2a-1,2N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{2a-2},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=2a-1}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2a,2N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{2a-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2a}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}_{\Pi})(\dots) \\
+ \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2a,2N}(z)}{\lambda_{N-1}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=1}^{2a-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=2a}^{N-3},\bar{t}^{N-2},\bar{t}^{N-1}_{\Pi})(\dots),$$

and the KT-relation

$$T_{2a-1,N-1}(z) = \frac{x_{\frac{N}{2}}}{x_{a}} \lambda_{0}(z) \widehat{T}_{N-2a+1,1}(-z), \qquad T_{2a,N-1}(z) = -\frac{x_{\frac{N}{2}}}{x_{a}} \lambda_{0}(z) \widehat{T}_{N-2a+2,1}(-z), T_{2a-1,N}(z) = -\frac{x_{\frac{N}{2}}}{x_{a}} \lambda_{0}(z) \widehat{T}_{N-2a+1,2}(-z), \qquad T_{2a,N}(z) = \frac{x_{\frac{N}{2}}}{x_{a}} \lambda_{0}(z) \widehat{T}_{N-2a+2,2}(-z),$$
(D.66)

and the action formula (A.5). We can see that in these formulas the α -dependent terms are $\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b})$ and $\alpha_{2b}(z)$ therefore combining them, we obtain the following recursion for the overlap

$$\langle \Psi | (\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=1}^{N-3}, \{z, \bar{t}^{N-2}\}, \bar{t}^{N-2}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}) \prod_{b=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{2b})(\alpha_{2b}(z), \dots),$$
(D.67)

where $\bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{-z - \nu c, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$ and $\bar{t} = \bar{t}_{I} \cup \bar{t}_{II}$. Applying this recursion for the overlap we can eliminate the Bethe roots \bar{t}^{N-2} as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-3}, \emptyset, \bar{\omega}_{\Pi}^{N-1}\right) \prod_{b=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-2} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_{1}^{2b}) \times (\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{N-2}), \dots),$$
(D.68)

where $\bar{\omega}_{II}^{\nu} \subset \{-\bar{t}^{N-1} - \nu c, \bar{t}_{II}^{\nu}\}$. The overlaps in the r.h.s. factorize to $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ and $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlaps as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-3}, \emptyset, \bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{N-1}\right) = \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-3}, \emptyset, \emptyset\right) S_{\alpha_{1}}^{(1)}(\bar{\omega}_{\mathrm{II}}^{1}).$$
(D.69)

The $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlap does not depend on α_{2b} and $\mathfrak{gl}(N-2)$ overlap satisfies the induction hypothesis therefore we obtain that

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \prod_{b=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-2} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_1^{2b}) \times (\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{N-2}), \dots).$$
(D.70)

Combining the two properties (D.64) and (D.70) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}} \prod_{b=1}^{\frac{N}{2}-1} \alpha_{2b}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2b}) \times (\dots), \qquad (D.71)$$

which proves (D.44) for general N.

D.2.2 Proof of (4.94)

Now we derive some useful identities for the undetermined coefficients

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{1}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{11}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}),\tag{D.72}$$

of the sum formula (D.44).

Let us start with the overlap where $r_{2b} = 0$ for $b = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2} - 1$. Since the corresponding Bethe states are generated by commuting Y(2) subalgebras, these overlaps are factorized as

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}^1, \emptyset, \bar{t}^3, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \bar{t}^{N-1}) = \prod_{b=1}^{N/2} S^{(2b-1)}_{\alpha_{2b-1}}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}),$$
(D.73)

where

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}) := \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\emptyset^{\times 2b-2}, \bar{t}^{2b-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2b}).$$
(D.74)

For N = 2 the untwisted and twisted KT-relations are equivalent but there are different conventions for the monodromy matrices (there is a shift in the spectral parameter) and the K-matrices. In the untwisted convention the K-matrix is the type (2,0) for which the overlap is given by (B.12), (B.13):

$$S_{\alpha}(\bar{t}) = \sum f(\bar{t}_{\rm II}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\rm I}^{\nu}) Z^{0}(\bar{t}_{\rm I}) Z^{0}(-\bar{t}_{\rm II}) \alpha(\bar{t}_{\rm I}), \qquad (D.75)$$

where

$$Z^{0}(\bar{t}) = \kappa(\bar{t}) \prod_{k < l} f(-t_k, t_l), \qquad \kappa(z) = \frac{1}{z}.$$
 (D.76)

Introducing the proper shifts (A.7), the overlaps in the twisted convention reads as

$$S_{\alpha}^{(s)}(\bar{t}) = S_{\alpha}\left(\bar{t} + c\frac{s}{2}\right) \bigg|_{\alpha_{2a-1}(z) \to \alpha_{2a-1}(z - c\frac{s}{2})},$$
 (D.77)

therefore

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}^1, \emptyset, \bar{t}^3, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \bar{t}^{N-1}) = \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_i^{2a-1}).$$
(D.78)

Let us renormalize the general overlap formula as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{s+1}(\bar{t}^s).$$
(D.79)

For the renormalized overlap the sum formula reads as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\substack{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1})\\ \times \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \lambda_{2a}(\bar{t}_{1}^{2a})\lambda_{2a+1}(\bar{t}_{11}^{2a}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \{\bar{t}_{1a}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} |\{\bar{t}_{1a}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} |\{\bar{t}_{1a}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})}$$

$$(D.80)$$

We can use the co-product formula (A.4):

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{\nu}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) \lambda_{\nu+1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{ii}).$$
(D.81)

Let us fix a partition $t^{2a} = t^{2a} \cup t^{2a}_{ii}$ for every $a = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2} - 1$. Let us choose the vacuum eigenvalues $\lambda_{\nu}(z)$ as

$$\lambda_{2a}^{(2)}(t_k^{2a}) = 0, \quad \text{where } t_k^{2a} \in \bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}, \text{ for } a = 1, \dots, \frac{N}{2} - 1,$$

$$\lambda_{2a+1}^{(1)}(t_k^{2a}) = 0, \quad \text{where } t_k^{2a} \in \bar{t}_i^{2a}, \text{ for } a = 1, \dots, \frac{N}{2} - 1.$$
 (D.82)

Using these conditions in the sum formula (D.80) we obtain that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} | \{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1} | \{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \lambda_{2a}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}) \lambda_{2a+1}(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \lambda_{2a}(\bar{t}^{2a-1}).$$
(D.83)

Substituting to the co-product formula (D.81) we obtain that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \lambda_{\nu}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) \lambda_{\nu+1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}), \quad (D.84)$$

where the sum goes through to the partitions $\bar{t}^{2a-1} = \bar{t}_i^{2a-1} \cup \bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$ and the partitions of \bar{t}^{2a} are fixed. The overlaps are

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(1)}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1}\lambda_{2a}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a})\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}\lambda_{2a}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}), \quad (D.85)$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(2)}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) = \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2)}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1}\lambda_{2a+1}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a})\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}\lambda_{2a}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a-1}).$$
 (D.86)

Substituting back we obtain that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{i\nu}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{i\nu}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu})} \times \\ \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(1)}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2)}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \alpha_{2a-1}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}).$$

$$(D.87)$$

Let us choose the quantum space $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ as $\alpha_{2a-1}^{(1)}(z) = 1$ for which the formula above simplifies as $\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})$ $= \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \alpha_{2a-1}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}),$ (D.88) where we defined the HC as

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) := \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})\bigg|_{\alpha_{2a-1}(z)=1}.$$
 (D.89)

We can also choose the other quantum space $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ as $\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2)}(z) = 1$ for which we have

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})$$

$$=\sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})}\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}), \quad (D.90)$$

where we defined the other HC as

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) := \mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})\bigg|_{\alpha_{2a-1}(z)=1}.$$
(D.91)

Substituting $\bar{t}_i^{2a} = \emptyset$ for $a = 1, \dots, \frac{N}{2} - 1$ to the second formula (D.90) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})$$

$$=\sum_{\mathrm{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})}\frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a-1},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{\nu=a}^{N/2-1}f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{2a},\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{2a-1})}\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{2a-1})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}), \qquad (D.92)$$

where we used that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\emptyset|\emptyset|\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) = \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}^{1},\emptyset,\bar{t}^{3},\emptyset\ldots,\emptyset,\bar{t}^{N-1}) = \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}).$$
(D.93)

We can substitute to (D.88):

$$\mathcal{W}_{\{\alpha_{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}}(\{\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}\}_{a=1}^{N/2-1}|\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2}) \\
= \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^{2a-1}\}_{a=1}^{N/2})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1})} \\
\times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} \alpha_{2a-1}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1}).$$
(D.94)

Substituting back to the original sum formula we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s}),$$
(D.95)

which is what we wanted to prove (4.94).

E Elementary overlaps

In this section we derive some elementary overlaps for two- and one-site states.

Untwisted case. For the untwisted case we use the type (N, M) regular form K-matrices. We derive the elementary overlaps where the quantum space is the tensor product of the representations (1, 0, ..., 0) and (0, ..., 0, -1) for which the monodromy matrix is

$$T_0(z) = \bar{L}_{0,2}(z+\theta)L_{0,1}(z-\theta).$$
(E.1)

In this convention the basis vectors $e_j \otimes e_k$ have weights $\Lambda_i^{(1)} = \delta_{i,j} - \delta_{i,N+1-k}$. The pseudo-vacuum has weight $(1, 0, \dots, 0, -1)$. The following Bethe vectors span the whole quantum space

$$\mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\ldots,\{t^{k-1}\},\emptyset\ldots,\emptyset,\{t^{N+1-l}\},\ldots,\{t^{N-1}\}) \sim e_k \otimes e_l, \text{ for } k+l \leq N, \\
\mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\ldots,\{t^{N-1}\}) \in \operatorname{span}(\{e_k \otimes e_{N+1-k}\}_{k=1}^N), \\
\mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\ldots,\{t^{k-1}\},\{t_1^k,t_2^k\},\ldots,\{t_1^{N-l},t_2^{N-l}\},\{t^{N+1-l}\},\ldots,\{t^{N-1}\}) \sim e_{N+1-l} \otimes e_{N+1-k}, \\
\text{ for } k+l \leq N.$$
(E.2)

We already saw that the corresponding two-site state $\langle \psi(\theta) |$ has the form (3.31)

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | = \sum_{i,j=1}^{N} K_{N+1-j,i}(\theta) (e_i)^t \otimes (e_j)^t = \sum_{i=1}^{M} \mathfrak{b}_i(e_i)^t \otimes (e_i)^t + \sum_{i=1}^{N} K_{i,i}(e_i)^t \otimes (e_{N+1-i})^t,$$
(E.3)

therefore the non-vanishing overlaps are

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) = \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}), \quad (E.4)$$

for $k = 1, \ldots, M$ and

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\{t^1\},\dots,\{t^{N-1}\}) = \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\dots,\{t^{N-1}\}).$$
(E.5)

Let us derive these "elementary" overlaps. We can us the recursion equation (A.1):

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1})$$

= $\frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,k}(t^1) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{k-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}.$ (E.6)

We also need the KT-relation

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,k}(z) = \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,N+1-k}(-z) + \frac{K_{k,k}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,k}(-z) - \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,k}(z).$$
(E.7)

Since

$$T_{N,k}(z)\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset,\{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) = 0,$$
 (E.8)

for $k \leq M$, we have

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1})$$

= $\frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,N+1-k}(-t^1) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{k-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})},$ (E.9)

we can also use the other recursion formula (A.2):

$$\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset,\{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) = \frac{1}{\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} T_{N+1-k,N}(t^{N-1}) |0\rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+2-k}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu},t^{\nu-1})}, \quad (E.10)$$

therefore

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) &= \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \frac{1}{\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} \\ &\times \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,N+1-k}(-t^1) T_{N+1-k,N}(t^{N-1}) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{k-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+2-k}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}. \end{aligned}$$
(E.11)

We can use the RTT-relation (2.3):

$$\begin{bmatrix} T_{N,N+1-k}(-t^1), T_{N+1-k,N}(t^{N-1}) \end{bmatrix}$$

= $g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(T_{N+1-k,N+1-k}(t^{N-1}) T_{N,N}(-t^1) - T_{N+1-k,N+1-k}(-t^1) T_{N,N}(t^{N-1}) \Big),$
(E.12)

therefore

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} T_{N,N+1-k}(-t^1) T_{N+1-k,N}(t^{N-1}) |0\rangle = g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \Big) |0\rangle.$$
(E.13)

Substituting back to the overlap formula (E.11), we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1} &= \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \Big) \\ &\times \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{k-1} h(t^\nu, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+2-k}^{N-1} h(t^\nu, t^{\nu-1})}. \end{aligned}$$
(E.14)

Let us continue with the other elementary overlap (E.5). We can us the recursion equation (A.1):

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) = \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,j}(t^1) \mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \left\{t^k\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{j-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{f(t^j, t^{j-1})} \\ + \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,N}(t^1) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}.$$
(E.15)

Let us use the other recursion (A.2):

$$\mathbb{B}\left(\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset,\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=j}^{N-1}\right) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{N}(t^{N-1})}T_{j,N}(t^{N-1})|0\rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=j+1}^{N-1}h(t^{\nu},t^{\nu-1})},$$

therefore the elementary overlap simplifies as

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \frac{1}{\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,j}(t^1) T_{j,N}(t^{N-1}) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{1,N}(t^1) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}. \end{aligned}$$
(E.16)

We can also use the KT-relation

$$\langle \psi | T_{1,k}(z) = \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi | T_{N,N+1-k}(-z) + \frac{K_{k,k}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi | T_{N,k}(-z) - \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi | T_{N,k}(z), \quad (E.17)$$

for $k \leq M$ and

$$\langle \psi | T_{1,k}(z) = \frac{K_{k,k}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi | T_{N,k}(-z) - \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \langle \psi | T_{N,k}(z), \qquad (E.18)$$

for k > M. Since

$$T_{N,N+1-j}(-z)T_{j,N}(t^{N-1})|0\rangle = 0, \qquad (E.19)$$

for $j \leq M$, we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) &= \frac{K_{j,j}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \langle \psi(\theta) | \frac{T_{N,j}(-t^1)T_{j,N}(t^{N-1})}{\lambda_2(t^1)\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} \\ &- \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \langle \psi(\theta) | \frac{T_{N,j}(t^1)T_{j,N}(t^{N-1})}{\lambda_2(t^1)\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} \\ &+ \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \left(\alpha_1(t^1)\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) - \frac{\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1})}{\alpha_{N-1}(t^1)} \right) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}. \end{split}$$
(E.20)

We can use the RTT-relation (2.3):

$$\left[T_{N,j}(z), T_{j,N}(t^{N-1})\right] = g(z, t^{N-1}) \left(T_{j,j}(t^{N-1}) T_{N,N}(z) - T_{j,j}(z) T_{N,N}(t^{N-1})\right), \quad (E.21)$$

therefore

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \frac{1}{\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,j}(-t^1) T_{j,N}(t^{N-1}) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset) = g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \Big),$$
(E.22)

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_2(t^1)} \frac{1}{\lambda_N(t^{N-1})} \langle \psi(\theta) | T_{N,j}(t^1) T_{j,N}(t^{N-1}) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset) = g(t^1, t^{N-1}) \left(\frac{\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1})}{\alpha_{N-1}(t^1)} - 1 \right).$$
(E.23)

Substituting back to the overlap formula (E.20) we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^{s}\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) \\ &= g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_{1}(t^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \Big) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(t^{1})}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \frac{1}{g(t^{j}, t^{j-1})} \\ &- \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{1})}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} g(t^{1}, t^{N-1}) \Big(\frac{\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1})}{\alpha_{N-1}(t^{1})} - 1 \Big) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{1}{g(t^{j}, t^{j-1})} \\ &+ \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{1})}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \Big(\alpha_{1}(t^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) - \frac{\alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1})}{\alpha_{N-1}(t^{1})} \Big) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}. \end{aligned}$$
(E.24)

We have the identity

$$\sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} = \frac{1}{g(t^{N-1}, t^1)},$$
(E.25)

therefore the overlap formula simplifies as

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) \\ &= g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \Big) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} \\ &+ \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \Big(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) - 1 \Big) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})}, \end{aligned}$$
(E.26)

i.e.

$$\langle \psi(\theta) | \mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) = \left(\alpha_1(t^1) \alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1 \right) \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{N-1} h(t^{\nu}, t^{\nu-1})} \\ \times \left(g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} + \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \right).$$
(E.27)

We concentrate on two types of K-matrices.

1. For the singular K-matrix where $K_{N,1} = \mathfrak{b}_1, K_{1,1}(z) = \cdots = K_{N,N}(z) = \frac{1}{u}$ we have

$$\sum_{j=2}^{N-1} \frac{K_{j,j}(t^1)}{K_{N,1}(t^1)} \frac{1}{g(t^j, t^{j-1})} = \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{K_{N,1}(t^1)} \frac{1}{g(t^{N-1}, t^1)},$$
(E.28)

for which the overlap reads as

$$\langle \psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) = \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{1})}{K_{N,1}(t^{1})} \left(\alpha_{1}(t^{1})\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1},t^{s})} \left(\frac{g(-t^{1},t^{N-1})}{g(t^{N-1},t^{1})} + 1\right).$$
(E.29)

We also have the identity

$$\frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(t^{N-1}, t^1)} + 1 = g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \left(\frac{1}{g(t^{N-1}, t^1)} + \frac{1}{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}\right) = \frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(-t^1, t^1)}, \quad (E.30)$$

therefore the overlap simplifies as

$$S_0^s \left(\left\{t^k\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) := \langle \psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{t^k\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) \\ = \left(\frac{1}{g(-t^1, t^1)} \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{K_{N,1}(t^1)}\right) g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_1(t^1)\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^s)},$$
(E.31)

or equivalently

$$S_{0}^{s}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) = \left(\frac{1}{g(-t^{M}, t^{M})}\frac{K_{N,N}(t^{M})}{K_{N,1}(t^{M})}\right)g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1})\left(\alpha_{1}(t^{1})\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right)\prod_{s=1}^{N-2}\frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^{s})}.$$
(E.32)

2. For the K-matrix where $K_{N,1} = \mathfrak{b}$, $K_{1,1}(z) = K_{2,2}(z) = \cdots = K_{M,M}(z) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}-u}{u}$, $K_{M+1,M+1}(z) = \cdots = K_{N,N}(z) = \frac{\mathfrak{a}+u}{u}$ we have

$$\langle \psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) = \left(\frac{K_{1,1}(t^{1})}{K_{N,1}(t^{1})} \frac{g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1})}{g(t^{M}, t^{1})} + \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{1})}{K_{N,1}(t^{1})} \left(\frac{g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1})}{g(t^{N-1}, t^{M})} + 1\right)\right)$$

$$\times \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^{s})} \left(\alpha_{1}(t^{1})\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right).$$
(E.33)

We can use the identity

$$\frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(t^{N-1}, t^M)} + 1 = \frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(-t^1, t^M)}$$
(E.34)

in the following expression

$$\frac{K_{1,1}(t^1)}{K_{N,1}(t^1)} \frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(t^M, t^1)} + \frac{K_{N,N}(t^1)}{K_{N,1}(t^1)} \left(\frac{g(-t^1, t^{N-1})}{g(t^{N-1}, t^M)} + 1\right) \\
= \frac{K_{N,N}(t^M)}{K_{N,1}(t^M)} \frac{1}{g(-t^M, t^M)} g(-t^1, t^{N-1}),$$
(E.35)

therefore the overlap simplifies as

$$S_{0}^{M}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right) := \langle\Psi|\mathbb{B}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{g(-t^{M}, t^{M})} \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{M})}{K_{N,1}(t^{M})} g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}(t^{1})\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^{s})}$$
$$= (t^{M} + \mathfrak{a}) S_{0}^{s}\left(\left\{t^{1}\right\}, \left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=2}^{N-1}\right).$$
(E.36)

We can see that there is a common form for the two types of the boundary states which is

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}\left(\left\{t^{k}\right\}_{k=1}^{N-1}\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{g(-t^{M}, t^{M})} \frac{K_{N,N}(t^{M})}{K_{N,1}(t^{M})} g(-t^{1}, t^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}(t^{1})\alpha_{N-1}(t^{N-1}) - 1\right) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^{s})}.$$

$$(E.37)$$

Twisted case. In this section we derive the elementary overlaps where the quantum space is the rectangular representation where s = 1, a = 2 for which the monodromy matrix is

$$T_0(z) = L_{0,1}^{(1,2)}(z+c/2),$$
 (E.38)

for which

$$\alpha_1(z) = 1,
\alpha_2(z) = \frac{z + 3c/2}{z + c/2},
\alpha_k(z) = 1, \quad \text{for } k > 2.$$
(E.39)

We fix the K-matrix to its regular form (4.26). We saw that the corresponding one-site state is (4.64)

$$\langle \psi | = \sum_{a=1}^{N/2} x_a e^t_{(2a-1,2a)}, \tag{E.40}$$

where $e_{(i,j)}$ are the basis in the quantum space for $1 \leq i < j \leq N$. The following Bethe vectors span the quantum space

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \emptyset, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = e_{(1,2)}, \\ & \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \{t^2\} \dots, \{t^{k-1}\}, \emptyset \dots, \emptyset) \sim e_{(1,k)}, \text{ for } 3 \le k \le N, \\ & \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{t^2\} \dots, \{t^{k-1}\}, \emptyset \dots, \emptyset) \sim e_{(2,k)}, \text{ for } k+l \le N, \\ & \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{t_1^2, t_2^2\}, \dots, \{t_1^{k-1}, t_2^{k-1}\}, \{t^{k-1}\}, \dots, \{t^{l-1}\}, \emptyset \dots, \emptyset) \sim e_{(k,l)}, \text{ for } 3 \le k < l \le N. \end{split}$$

The non-vanishing overlaps are

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\{t^1\}, \bar{t}^2, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = \langle \psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \bar{t}^2, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset), \quad (E.42)$$

for a = 2, ..., N/2 and $\#\bar{t}^s = 2$ for s = 2, ..., 2a - 2.

Let us derive these "elementary" overlaps. We can use the recursion (C.1). For this representation the non-vanishing Bethe vectors are listed in (E.41) therefore the recursion of the off-shell Bethe vector simplifies as

$$\begin{split} & \mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{z,t^{2}\},\bar{t}^{3},\ldots,\bar{t}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \\ &= \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \left[\frac{T_{2,2a-1}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{f(z,t^{1})} \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1},\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{1})} \right. \\ & + \frac{T_{1,2a-1}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{h(z,t^{1})} \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1},\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{1})} \\ & + \frac{T_{2,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{f(z,t^{1})} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{1})} \\ & + \frac{T_{1,2a}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}}\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{h(z,\bar{t}^{1})} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{1})} \right] \prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} \frac{g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{I}},\bar{t}^{s-1}_{1})f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^{s}_{1})}{f(\bar{t}^{s},\bar{t}^{s-1}_{1})}. \end{split}$$

We can use the KT-relation

$$\langle \Psi | T_{2,2b-1}(z) = -\lambda_0(z) \frac{x_b}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+1-2b}(-z), \quad \langle \Psi | T_{2,2b}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \frac{x_b}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+2-2b}(-z), \\ \langle \Psi | T_{1,2b-1}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \frac{x_b}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+1-2b}(-z), \quad \langle \Psi | T_{1,2b}(z) = -\lambda_0(z) \frac{x_b}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2b}(-z), \\ (E.44)$$

therefore we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{z,t^2\},\vec{t}^3,\ldots,\vec{t}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) &= \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{x_a}{x_1} \sum_{\text{part}(\vec{t})} \left[\\ &- \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+1-2a}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{t^2\},\{\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1},\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{2a-2})} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+1-2a}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\{\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{2a-2})} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+2-2a}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{t^2\},\{\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{2a-2})} \\ &- \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\{\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{2a-2})} \end{split}$$
(E.45)
$$&- \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\{\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2},\emptyset,\ldots,\emptyset) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1},\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{2a-2})} \\ &\times \prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} \frac{g(\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s,\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{s-1})f(\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s,\vec{t}_{\Pi}^s)}{f(\vec{t}^s,\vec{t}_{\Pi}^{s-1})}. \end{split}$$

Let us use the identity (2.35) for the Bethe states of the r.h.s.:

$$\mathbb{B}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{j-1}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = (-1)^{j-1} \prod_{s=N+1-j}^{N-2} f(w^{s+1}, w^s) \hat{\mathbb{B}}(\emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \{w^s\}_{s=N+1-j}^{N-1}), \quad (E.46)$$

$$\mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \{t^s\}_{s=2}^{j-1}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = (-1)^j \prod_{s=N+1-j}^{N-2} f(w^{s+1}, w^s) \hat{\mathbb{B}}(\emptyset, \dots, \emptyset, \{w^s\}_{s=N+1-j}^{N-2}, \emptyset), \quad (E.47)$$

where $w^s = t^{N-s} + (N-s)c$ and the Bethe states $\hat{\mathbb{B}}$ are built from the twisted monodromy matrix entries $\hat{T}_{i,j}$. We can use the recursion (C.10)

$$\hat{\mathbb{B}}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset,\{w^s\}_{s=N+1-j}^{N-1}) = \frac{\widehat{T}_{N+1-j,N}(w^{N-2})}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(w^{N-2})}|0\rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+1-j}^{N-2}h(w^{\nu+1},w^{\nu})},$$
(E.48)

$$\hat{\mathbb{B}}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset,\{w^s\}_{s=N+1-j}^{N-2},\emptyset) = \frac{\widehat{T}_{N+1-j,N-1}(w^{N-2})}{\widehat{\lambda}_{N-1}(w^{N-2})}|0\rangle \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+1-j}^{N-3}h(w^{\nu+1},w^{\nu})}.$$
(E.49)

Substituting back to (E.45) we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) &= \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(t^2 + 2c)} \frac{x_a}{x_1} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \left[\right. \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+1-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{f(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^2, t^1)} \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, t^{2a-2}_1)} \right] \\ &- \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+1-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, t^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &- \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{f(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^2, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \end{split}$$
(E.50)
 $+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_1)} \\ &+ \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N-1,N-1}(t^2 + 2c) | 0 \rangle \frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{$

where we used the identity

$$\frac{f(w^{\nu+1}, w^{\nu})}{h(w^{\nu+1}, w^{\nu})} = g(t^{N-\nu-1} - c, t^{N-\nu}) = -\frac{1}{h(t^{N-\nu}, t^{N-\nu-1})}.$$
(E.51)

Now we can use the RTT-relation (2.3)

$$\left[\widehat{T}_{i,j}(-z), \widehat{T}_{j,i}(t^2+2c)\right] = g(-z, t^2+2c) \Big(\widehat{T}_{j,j}(t^2+2c)\widehat{T}_{i,i}(-z) - \widehat{T}_{j,j}(-z)\widehat{T}_{i,i}(t^2+2c)\Big),$$
(E.52)

therefore we have

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(t^2+2c)} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+1-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N}(t^2+2c) | 0 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(t^2+2c)} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+1-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+1-2a,N-1}(t^2+2c) | 0 \rangle \end{aligned} \tag{E.53} \\ &= \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(t^2+2c)} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N}(t^2+2c) | 0 \rangle \\ &= \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{1}{\hat{\lambda}_{N-1}(t^2+2c)} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N+2-2a}(-z) \hat{T}_{N+2-2a,N-1}(t^2+2c) | 0 \rangle \\ &= g(-z,t^2+2c) \Big(\alpha_2(t^2) \alpha_2(z) - 1 \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where we used the identity (2.29), the symmetry property (4.42) and the explicit forms (E.39). Substituting back to (E.50) the overlap simplifies as

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) \\ &= \frac{x_a}{x_1} g(-z - 2c, t^2) (\alpha_2(z)\alpha_2(t^2) - 1) \left(\frac{1}{h(z, t^1)} - \frac{1}{f(z, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^2, t^1)}\right) \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} g(\bar{t}_{\text{I}}^s, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^s)}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{s-1}) h(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{s-1})} \left(\frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{2a-2})} - \frac{1}{f(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{I}}^{2a-2})} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, t_{\text{II}}^{2a-2})}\right). \end{split}$$
(E.54)

Using the identities

$$\frac{1}{h(u,v_1)} - \frac{1}{f(u,v_1)} \frac{1}{h(u,v_2)} = \frac{h(v_1,v_2)}{h(u,v_1),h(u,v_2)},$$

$$\frac{1}{h(v_1,u)} - \frac{1}{f(v_1,u)} \frac{1}{h(v_2,u)} = \frac{h(v_2,v_1)}{h(v_1,u),h(v_2,u)},$$

(E.55)

we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = \frac{x_a}{x_1} g(-z - 2c, t^2) (\alpha_2(z)\alpha_2(t^2) - 1)$$

$$\times \frac{h(t^2, z)}{h(z, t^1)h(t^2, t^1)} \frac{1}{h(t^{2a-1}, \bar{t}^{2a-2})} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} g(\bar{t}_1^s, \bar{t}_1^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{t}_1^s)}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}_1^{s-1})h(\bar{t}_{\text{II}}^s, \bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{s-1})} h(\bar{t}_1^{2a-2}, \bar{t}_{\text{II}}^{2a-2}).$$
(E.56)

Let us try to simplify the sum. At first we try to do the summation for the partition on \bar{t}^{2a-2} as

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} g(\bar{t}_{s}^{s}, \bar{t}_{s}^{s-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{1}^{s})}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^{s}, \bar{t}_{1}^{s-1}) h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{s-1})} h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-2})$$
(E.57)

$$= \sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-3})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-3} g(\bar{t}^s_{\rm I}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\rm I}) f(\bar{t}^s_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^s_{\rm I})}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-3} f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\rm I}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\rm I})} \left(\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{2a-2})} \frac{g(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm I}, \bar{t}^{2a-3}_{\rm I}) f(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II})}{f(\bar{t}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}^{2a-3}_{\rm I}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II})} h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}) h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\rm II}, \bar{$$

We can do the second summation as

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{2a-2})} \frac{g(t_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-2}, t_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-3})f(t_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-2}, t_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-2})}{f(\bar{t}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-3})h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-3})} h(t_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{II}}^{2a-3}) h(t_{\mathrm{I}}^{2a-3}, \bar{t}_{$$

Substituting back to (E.57) we obtain that

$$\sum_{\substack{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2})\\ h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}, \bar{t}^{2a-2})}} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} g(\bar{t}^s_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^s_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}})} h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\text{II}})}{\frac{h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{2}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{2a-3})}{h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{2a-3}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{2a-3})}} \sum_{\substack{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-3})\\ \text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-3}, f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^s_{\text{II}})}}{\frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-3} g(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{1}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^s_{\text{II}})}} h(\bar{t}^{2a-3}_{1}, t^{2a-3}_{\text{II}}).$$
(E.59)

In the second line we obtained the original sum with less partitions therefore we can finish the summation by iteration and the result is

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{2a-2})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} g(\bar{t}^s_{\text{I}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}}) f(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^s_{\text{I}})}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{I}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}})} h(\bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{2a-2}_{\text{II}}) = \prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} \frac{h(t^s_1, t^s_2) h(t^s_2, t^s_1)}{h(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1})} h(t^2_{\text{II}}, t^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^{s-1}_{\text{II}}) h(\bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}, \bar{t}^s_{\text{II}}) h($$

Substituting back to (E.56) we obtain that

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{z, t^2\}, \bar{t}^3, \dots, \bar{t}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset)$$

= $\frac{x_a}{x_1} g(-z - 2c, t^2) (\alpha_2(z)\alpha_2(t^2) - 1) \frac{h(t^2, z)h(z, t^2)}{h(z, t^1)h(t^2, t^1)} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-2} h(t_1^s, t_2^s)h(t_2^s, t_1^s)}{\prod_{s=3}^{2a-1} h(\bar{t}^s, \bar{t}^{s-1})},$ (E.61)

i.e.

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{\bar{t}^2\}_{s=2}^{2a-2}, \{t^{2a-1}\}, \emptyset, \dots, \emptyset) = \frac{x_a}{x_1} g(-t_1^2 - 2c, t_2^2) (\alpha_2(\bar{t}^2) - 1) \frac{\prod_{s=2}^{2a-2} h(t_1^s, t_2^s) h(t_2^s, t_1^s)}{\prod_{s=1}^{2a-2} h(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s)}.$$
(E.62)

F Recursion for the HC-s \mathcal{Z} and $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}$

Untwisted case. Let us define the tensor product Hilbert space as $\mathcal{H}^{\text{mod}} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}$ where the $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ quantum space is defined by the monodromy matrix (E.1) for which the α -functions are

$$\alpha_1^{(1)}(z) = f(z,\theta), \quad \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(z) = \frac{1}{f(-z,\theta)},$$

$$\alpha_s^{(1)}(z) = 1, \quad \text{for } s = 2, \dots, N-2.$$
(F.1)

On the tensor product quantum space the α -functions are

$$\alpha_s^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_s^{(1)}(z)\alpha_s(z), \text{ for } s = 1, \dots, N-1.$$
 (F.2)

Since the HC \mathcal{Z} is independent on the α -functions, we can derive a recursion for the HC \mathcal{Z} from the co-product formula:

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}^{\text{mod}}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{\nu}(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i}) S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}_{ii}).$$
(F.3)

We fix some of the α -functions as $\alpha_s(z) = 1$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$ for which the sum formula simplifies as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^{+}} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s}).$$
(F.4)

Substituting to the co-product formula (F.3) we obtain that

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{N-1}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^{+}} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{i}^{s})$$
(F.5)

$$=\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})}\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}})\left[\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1},\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}})\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}\alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s})\right]\prod_{s\in\mathfrak{s}^{+}}\alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s}).$$

In the l.h.s. and the r.h.s. the sum goes through to the partitions with condition $\#\bar{t}_i^s = \#\bar{t}_i^M$, $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^s = \#\bar{t}_{ii}^M$ and $\#\bar{t}_{iii}^s = \#\bar{t}_{iii}^M$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$.

Let us get the coefficient for the term $\prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^+} \alpha_s(\bar{t}^s)$. In the l.h.s. site we have to take $\bar{t}_{ii}^s = \emptyset$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$. We also have the condition $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^s = \#\bar{t}_{ii}^M = \emptyset$ for the remaining $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$. Analogous way we have to take $\bar{t}_{iii}^s = \emptyset$ in the r.h.s. We obtain the condition

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t})\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{i})\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}),$$
(F.6)

where the sum goes through all the subsets for which the overlap $S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_i)$ is non-vanishing. In the previous section we derived these elementary overlaps. We obtain that the non-vanish overlaps are

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset) = 1,\tag{F.7}$$

and (E.14)

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{k-1}, \emptyset^{\times N-2k+1}, \{t^s\}_{s=N+1-k}^{N-1}) &= \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1}g(-t^1, t^{N-1})\Big(\alpha_1^{(1)}(t^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(t^{N-1}) - 1\Big) \\ &\times \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=2}^{k-1}h(t^\nu, t^{\nu-1})} \frac{1}{\prod_{\nu=N+2-k}^{N-1}h(t^\nu, t^{\nu-1})}, \quad (\mathrm{F.8}) \end{split}$$

for $k = 2, \ldots, M$ and

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\{t^s\}_{s=1}^{N-1}) = \frac{1}{g(-t^M, t^M)} \frac{K_{N,N}(t^M)}{K_{N,1}(t^M)} g(-t^1, t^{N-1}) \Big(\alpha_1^{(1)}(t^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(t^{N-1}) - 1\Big) \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(t^{s+1}, t^s)}.$$
(F.9)

Using this result we obtain the following formula

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) &= \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) - 1} \tag{F.10} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{k=2}^{M} \frac{\mathfrak{b}_{k}}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\mathrm{part}_{k}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{1}^{1}, \bar{t}_{1}^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{1}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{1}^{N-1}) - 1 \right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{1}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{1}^{\nu})} \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t})} \mathcal{G}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{M}) g(-\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{N-1}) - 1 \right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) \right), \end{split}$$

where in the first line the part_k(\bar{t}) denotes the partitions $\bar{t}^s = \bar{t}^s_i \cup \bar{t}^s_{ii}$ where $\#\bar{t}^s_i = 1$ for s < kor s > N - k and $\#\bar{t}^s_i = 0$ for $k \le s \le N - k$. In the second line the summation goes through the partitions where $\#\bar{t}^s_i = 1$ for s = 1, ..., N - 1. We also used the notation

$$\mathcal{G}(z) = \frac{1}{g(-z,z)} \frac{K_{N,N}(z)}{K_{N,1}(z)}.$$
(F.11)

This recursion can be used to eliminate all t_k^1 -s to obtain the HC for the type (N-2, M-1)and continuing the recursion the HC is completely defined. It is interesting that the r.h.s. of the recursive definition contain a parameter θ , but the HC is independent on θ . We can choose special value to obtain θ independent formula, e.g. choosing $\theta \to t_k^1$. However, the present form of the formula is fully adequate from now on.

Let us renormalize the HC as

$$\mathcal{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{G}(\bar{t}^{M})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}).$$
(F.12)

For the renormalized HC we have the following recursion

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}) &= \frac{1}{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1}) - 1} \end{aligned} \tag{F.13} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{k=2}^{M} \frac{\mathfrak{b}_{k}}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\mathrm{part}_{k}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{1}^{1}, \bar{t}_{1}^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{1}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{1}^{N-1}) - 1 \right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{1}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})} \mathcal{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{1}^{1}, \bar{t}_{1}^{N-1}) \left(\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{1}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{N-1}) - 1 \right) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{1}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \prod_{s=1}^{N-2} \frac{1}{h(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{s})} \mathcal{Z}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) \right), \end{aligned}$$

which is independent of the diagonal part of the K-matrix.

We can repeat this calculation for the other HC \overline{Z} . Interchanging the α_s -s with $\alpha_s^{(1)}$ in the co-product formula (F.3) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}) \alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{N-1}).$$
(F.14)

Using the sum formulas where $\alpha_s(z) = 1$ for $s = M + 1, \dots, N - M - 1$:

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(t_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, t_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{N-1}) \prod_{s \in \mathfrak{s}^{+}} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s})$$

$$= \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \left[\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \right] \times \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}) \alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{N-1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1}).$$
(F.15)

In the l.h.s. and the r.h.s. the sums go through to the partitions with condition $\bar{t}_i^s = \bar{t}_i^M$, $\bar{t}_{ii}^s = \bar{t}_{ii}^M$ and $\bar{t}_{iii}^s = \bar{t}_{iii}^M$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$.

Let us get the α independent terms. In the l.h.s. site we have to take $\bar{t}_i^s = \emptyset$ for $s \in \mathfrak{s}^+$. We have the condition $\bar{t}_i^s = \bar{t}_i^M = \emptyset$ for the reaming $s \in \mathfrak{s}^-$. Analogous way we have to take $\bar{t}_i^s = \emptyset$ in the r.h.s. We obtain the condition

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \alpha_1^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^1) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{N-1}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}),$$
(F.16)

where the sum goes through all the subsets for which the overlap $S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{ii})$ is non-vanishing. Using the explicit overlaps we obtain the following formula

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) = \frac{\alpha_1^{(1)}(\bar{t}^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1})}{1 - \alpha_1^{(1)}(\bar{t}^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1})}
\times \left(\sum_{k=2}^M \frac{\mathfrak{b}_k}{\mathfrak{b}_1} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^1, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1}) \frac{\alpha_1^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1}) - 1}{\alpha_1^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^1)\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu}) h(\bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu+1}, t_{\nu}^{\nu})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}})$$
(F.17)

$$+\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \mathcal{G}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{M}) g(-\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{1}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1}) \frac{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1}) - 1}{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{1}) \alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{N-1})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\nu}^{\nu}) h(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, t_{\nu}^{\nu})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}),$$

where in the first line the $\operatorname{part}_k(\bar{t})$ denotes the partitions $\bar{t}^s = \bar{t}^s_i \cup \bar{t}^s_{ii}$ where $\#\bar{t}^s_{ii} = 1$ for s < k or s > N - k and $\#\bar{t}^s_{ii} = 0$ for $k \le s \le N - k$. In the second line the summation goes through the partitions where $\#\bar{t}^s_{ii} = 1$ for $s = 1, \ldots, N - 1$. This recursion completely defines the HC and it is depend on a parameter θ , but the HC is independent on it.

Let us renormalize the HC as

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}^{0}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{G}(\bar{t}^{M})}\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}).$$
(F.18)

For the renormalized HC we have the following recursion

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}^{0}(\bar{t}) &= \frac{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1})}{1-\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{N-1})} \tag{F.19} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{k=2}^{M} \frac{\mathfrak{b}_{k}}{\mathfrak{b}_{1}} \sum_{\mathrm{part}_{k}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{N-1}) \frac{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1})}{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{N-1})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}) \\ &+ \sum_{\mathrm{part}(\bar{t})} g(-\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{N-1}) \frac{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{N-1}) - 1}{\alpha_{1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{1})\alpha_{N-1}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{N-1})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}^{\nu})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}^{0}(\bar{t}_{\mathrm{i}}) \right), \end{split}$$

which is independent of the diagonal part of the K-matrix.

Twisted case. Let us define the tensor product Hilbert space as $\mathcal{H}^{\text{mod}} = \mathcal{H}^{(1)} \otimes \mathcal{H}$ where the $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}$ quantum space is defined by the monodromy matrix (E.38) for which the α -functions are

$$\alpha_2^{(1)}(z) = \frac{f(z,\theta)}{f(-z-2c,\theta)}, \quad \alpha_1^{(1)}(z) = 1,$$

$$\alpha_s^{(1)}(z) = 1, \quad \text{for } s = 3, \dots, N-1.$$
(F.20)

Since the HC \mathcal{Z} is independent on the α -functions, we can derive a recursion for the HC \mathcal{Z} from the co-product formula (F.3). Fixing some of the α -functions as $\alpha_{2a-1}(z) = 1$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$, the sum formula simplifies as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}).$$
(F.21)

Substituting back to the co-product formula (F.3) we obtain that

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \times \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \left[\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{s}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}) \right] \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a}).$$
(F.22)

In the l.h.s. and the r.h.s. the sum goes through to the partitions with condition $\#\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{i}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}}{2}$, $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}}{2}$ and $\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a}}{2}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$. Let us get the coefficient of the term $\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}^{2a})$. In the l.h.s. site we have to take $\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a} = \emptyset$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$ therefore $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a}}{2} = 0$ for the reaming sets. Analogous way we have to take $\bar{t}_{iii}^s = \emptyset$ in the r.h.s. We obtain the condition

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t})\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{2}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}})\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}),$$
(F.23)

where the sum goes through all the subsets for which the overlap $S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_i)$ is non-vanishing. In the previous section we derived these elementary overlaps. We obtain that the non-vanish overlaps are

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\emptyset,\dots,\emptyset) = 1,\tag{F.24}$$

and

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\{t^1\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=2}^{2a-2},\{t^{2a-1}\},\emptyset,\ldots\emptyset) = \frac{x_a}{x_1}g(-t_1^2 - 2c, t_2^2)(\alpha_2(\bar{t}^2) - 1)\frac{\prod_{s=2}^{2a-2}h(t_1^s, t_2^s)h(t_2^s, t_1^s)}{\prod_{s=1}^{2a-2}h(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s)},\tag{F.25}$$

for $a = 2, \ldots, N/2$. Using this result we obtain the following formula

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}^2) - 1} \sum_{a=2}^{M} \sum_{\text{part}_a(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_i) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{ii}),$$
(F.26)

where the part_a(\bar{t}) denotes the partitions $\bar{t}^b = \bar{t}^b_i \cup \bar{t}^b_{ii}$ where $\#\bar{t}^1_i = \#\bar{t}^{2a-1}_i = 1, \ \#\bar{t}^b_i = 2$ for $2 \le b \le 2a - 2$ and $\# \vec{t}_i^b = 0$ for 2a - 1 < b.

We can repeat this calculation for the other HC $\overline{\mathcal{Z}}$. Interchanging the α_s -s with $\alpha_s^{(1)}$ in the co-product formula (F.3) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{\text{mod}}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}) \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^2).$$
(F.27)

Using the sum formulas where $\alpha_{2a-1}(z) = 1$:

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a})$$

$$= \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}) f(\bar{t}_{iii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}$$

$$\times \left[\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2a}) \right] \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{ii}) \alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2}) \alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2}). \quad (F.28)$$

In the l.h.s. and the r.h.s. the sums go through to the partitions with condition $\#\bar{t}_i^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_i^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}}{2}$, $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{ii}^{2a}}{2}$ and $\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2a}}{2}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$. Let us get the α independent terms. In the l.h.s. site we have to take $\bar{t}_i^{2a} = \emptyset$ for $a = 1, \ldots, N/2$ therefore $\#\bar{t}_i^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_i^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_i^{2a}}{2} = 0$ for the reaming sets. Analogous way we have to take $\bar{t}_i^{2a} = \emptyset$ in the n-base $\bar{t}_i^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}_i^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}_i^{2a}}{2} = 0$ for the reaming sets. have to take $\bar{t}_{i}^{s} = \emptyset$ in the r.h.s. We obtain the condition

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})} \alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{i}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}),$$
(F.29)

where the sum goes through all the subsets for which the overlap $S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{ii})$ is non-vanishing therefore

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}^2)} \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}_a(\bar{t})} \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}_i^2) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_i^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_i^{\nu})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_i) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}), \quad (F.30)$$

where $\operatorname{part}_{a}(\bar{t})$ denotes the partitions $\bar{t}^{b} = \bar{t}^{b}_{i} \cup \bar{t}^{b}_{ii}$ where $\#\bar{t}^{1}_{ii} = \#\bar{t}^{2a-1}_{ii} = 1, \ \#\bar{t}^{b}_{ii} = 2$ for $2 \le b \le 2a - 2$ and $\#\bar{t}_{ii}^b = 0$ for 2a - 1 < b.

We close this section by the proof of the identity

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^c(\bar{t})).$$
(F.31)

Let us apply the recursion for

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t})) = \frac{\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{2})}{\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{2}) - 1} \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}_{a}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{ij}^{\nu}) \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{\nu})}{\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t}_{i})) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t}_{ii})).$$
(F.32)

For the elementary overlap we have

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t})) = \frac{1}{\alpha_{2}(\bar{t}^{2})} \prod_{s=1}^{2a-2} f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^{s}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}).$$
(F.33)

Substituting back we obtain that

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t})) = \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}^{\nu}) \frac{1}{\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{2}) - 1} \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}_{a}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{i}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{ii}^{\nu})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{i}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{ii}).$$
(F.34)

Interchanging the notation we obtain

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^{c}(\bar{t})) = \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}^{\nu}) \frac{1}{\alpha_{2}^{(1)}(\bar{t}^{2}) - 1} \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}_{a}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{ii}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{i}})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}_{\text{ii}}, \bar{t}^{\nu}_{\text{i}})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}})$$

$$= \prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}^{\nu}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}),$$
(F.35)

and that is we wanted to prove.

G Poles of the twisted HC-s

In this section we derive the residues of the poles at the pair structure limit $t_k^{2a} + t_l^{2a} + 2ac \rightarrow 0$ in the twisted HC-s \bar{Z}

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) &\to g(t_l^{2a}, -t_k^{2a} - 2ac) \left[\frac{x_{a+1}}{x_a} h(t_k^{2a}, t_l^{2a}) h(t_l^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, t_l^{2a})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+1}, t_k^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a})} \\ &\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a+1})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2a+2}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a+1})} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a+1}, t_k^{2a}) g(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a})}{h(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1}) h(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1})} + reg., \end{split}$$

$$(G.1)$$

where $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k^2, t_l^2\}$. The summation goes thought the partitions $\bar{\tau}^s = \bar{\tau}_i^s \cup \bar{\tau}_{iii}^s$ where $\#\bar{\tau}_{iii}^s = \delta_{s,2a-1} + \delta_{s,2a+1}$.

At first we derive the formula for a = 1. We start with the $r_2 = 2$ case. We start with the recursion for the off-shell Bethe state (C.1) for the spin chains where $\alpha_{2a-1}(z) = 1$ which is equivalent to the selection rules $\#\bar{t}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{t}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{t}^{2a}}{2}$:

$$\mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{z,t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})$$

$$= \sum_{j=3}^{N} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{2,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{a=2}^{\frac{j-1}{2}} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}^{2a}_{\Gamma}) \frac{1}{f(z,t^{1})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma},\bar{t}^{s-1}_{\Gamma}) f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi},\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma})}{\prod_{s=2}^{j-1} f(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma})}$$

$$+ \sum_{j=3}^{N} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{T_{1,j}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi}\}_{s=3}^{j-1},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=j}^{N-1}) \prod_{a=2}^{\frac{j-1}{2}} \alpha_{2a}(\bar{t}^{2a}_{\Gamma}) \frac{1}{h(z,t^{1})} \frac{\prod_{s=3}^{j-1} g(\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma},\bar{t}^{s-1}_{\Gamma}) f(\bar{t}^{s}_{\Pi},\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma})}{\prod_{s=2}^{j-1} f(\bar{t}^{s+1},\bar{t}^{s}_{\Gamma})},$$

where $\bar{t}_{I}^{2} = \{z\}$. From the sum formula (D.95) we can see that the α_{2a} independent term in the overlap is just the HC $\bar{Z}(\bar{t})$. In this calculation we want to derive the pole structure for these quantities therefore we use the notation \cong for the equality up to α -dependent terms i.e.

$$\langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\bar{t}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}).$$
 (G.3)

Dropping the $\alpha_{2a}(t_k^{2a})$ dependent terms we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{z,t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \\ &\cong \frac{1}{\lambda_3(z)} T_{2,3}(z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3,z)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_3(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} T_{2,4}(z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{t^2\},\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\bar{t}^2_{\Pi})f(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}{f(\bar{t}^3,\bar{t}^2_{\Pi})f(\bar{t}^4,\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_3(z)} T_{1,3}(z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3,z)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\lambda_3(z)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} T_{1,4}(z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\bar{t}^2_{\Pi})f(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}{f(\bar{t}^3,\bar{t}^2_{\Pi})f(\bar{t}^4,\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}. \end{split}$$
(G.4)

We can us the KT-relation

$$\langle \Psi | T_{2,3}(z) = -\lambda_0(z) \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z), \quad \langle \Psi | T_{1,3}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-3}(-z), \\ \langle \Psi | T_{2,4}(z) = \lambda_0(z) \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2}(-z), \qquad \langle \Psi | T_{1,4}(z) = -\lambda_0(z) \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2}(-z).$$
 (G.5)

Therefore

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi | \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{z, t^2\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) &\cong \\ &- \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{t^2\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3, z)} \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{x_2}{x_1} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N,N-2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\}, \{t^2\}, \bar{t}^3_{\Pi} \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{f(z,t^1)} \frac{g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^2_{\Pi}) f(\bar{t}^3, \bar{t}^2_{\Pi})}{f(\bar{t}^3, \bar{t}^2_{\Pi}) f(\bar{t}^4, \bar{t}^3_{\Pi})} \quad (G.6) \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{x_2}{x_1} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-3}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \{t^2\}, \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3, z)} \\ &- \frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \frac{x_2}{x_1} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \langle \Psi | \hat{T}_{N-1,N-2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset, \{t^2\}, \bar{t}^3_{\Pi} \{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} \frac{g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^2_{\Pi}) f(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi}, \bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}{h(z,t^1) f(\bar{t}^3, \bar{t}^2_{\Pi}) f(\bar{t}^4, \bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}. \end{split}$$

We can apply the action formula (A.5)

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)}\widehat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) = \\ &-\alpha_{2}(z)\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})}\alpha_{2}(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{2})\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})\frac{\prod_{s=2}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}^{s-1}-c,\bar{t}^{s})}{\prod_{s=4}^{N-1}f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s-1}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s})}\frac{\prod_{s=2}^{3}f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{s})}{\prod_{s=2}^{3-2}f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s-1}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{s})} \\ &\times\frac{1}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{1},\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{2}+c)}\frac{1}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{3}+c)f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{2},\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{3}+c)}\prod_{s=3}^{N-1}\frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s+1}+c)f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s+1}+c)} \quad (G.7) \\ &\times\frac{1}{h(-z-c,\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{1})}\frac{1}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{1}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{2})}\frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3},\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3})}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{2}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3})}. \end{aligned}$$

The α_2 independent terms are where $\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^2 = \{-z - 2c\}$, i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)}\widehat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})\cong\\ &-\frac{f(t^{1}-c,t^{2})}{h(t^{1}-c,t^{2})}\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})}\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\{\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})\frac{\prod_{s=4}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}^{s-1}-c,\bar{t}^{s})}{\prod_{s=4}^{N-1}f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s-1}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s})}\\ &\times g(t^{2}-c,\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{3})\frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{3},\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3})f(\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{3},\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3})}{h(-z-3c,\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{3})}\prod_{s=3}^{N-1}\frac{f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{III}}^{s+1}+c)f(\bar{w}_{\text{I}}^{s},\bar{w}_{\text{II}}^{s+1}+c)}.\end{aligned}$$

The pole at $t^2 \rightarrow -z - 2c$ appears only if $\bar{w}_{I}^3 = \{-z - 3c\}$ therefore

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)}\widehat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1})\cong\\ &-g(t^{2},-z-2c)\frac{f(t^{1}-c,t^{2})}{h(t^{1}-c,t^{2})}\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{w})}\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3},\{\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s}\}_{s=4}^{N-1})\frac{\prod_{s=4}^{N-1}f(\bar{t}^{s-1}-c,\bar{t}^{s})}{f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3}-c,\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{4})\prod_{s=5}^{N-1}f(\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s-1}-c,\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})}\\ &\times\frac{f(-z-3c,\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3})}{h(-z-4c,\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{4})f(-z-4c,\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{4})}\prod_{s=4}^{N-1}\frac{f(\bar{w}_{I}^{s},\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s})}{h(\bar{w}_{I}^{s},\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}+c)f(\bar{w}_{I}^{s},\bar{w}_{\Pi}^{s+1}+c)} \end{aligned} \tag{G.9}$$

$$&\times\frac{f(-z-3c,\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3})f(\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3},\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3})}{h(-z-3c,\bar{t}_{\Pi}^{3})}+reg.\end{aligned}$$

Since there is a $f(-z - 4c, \bar{w}_{\text{II}}^4)$ term in the denominator, the residue is non-zero only if $-z - 4c \notin \bar{w}_{II}^4$ therefore $\bar{w}_{I}^4 = -z - 4c$. Since there are also $f(\bar{w}_{I}^s, \bar{w}_{II}^{s+1} + c)$ terms in the denominator, repeating the previous argument, only the partitions $\bar{w}_{\rm I}^s = -z - sc$, $\bar{w}_{\rm II}^s = \bar{t}^s$ are relevant for the residue:

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{\lambda_0(z)}{\lambda_3(z)} \widehat{T}_{N,N-3}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^1\},\{t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \cong \\ &\frac{g(t^2,-z-2c)}{h(t^2,t^1)} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}^3_{\text{II}},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^3)f(\bar{t}^3_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^3_{\text{III}})f(\bar{t}^3_{\text{III}}-c,\bar{t}^4)}{h(-z-3c,\bar{t}^3_{\text{III}})} + reg. \end{aligned}$$
(G.10)

Analogous way we can also derive that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \widehat{T}_{N,N-2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\{t^{1}\},\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) &\cong -\frac{g(t^{2},-z-2c)}{h(t^{2},t^{1})} f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^{3}) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) + reg., \\ \frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{3}(z)} \widehat{T}_{N-1,N-3}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) &\cong g(t^{2},-z-2c) f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^{3}) \end{aligned}$$
(G.11)
$$\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{3})} \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}^{3}_{\text{II}},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{f(\bar{t}^{3}_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^{3}_{\text{II}})f(\bar{t}^{3}_{\text{II}}-c,\bar{t}^{4})}{h(-z-3c,\bar{t}^{3}_{\text{III}})} + reg., \\ \frac{\lambda_{0}(z)}{\lambda_{2}(z)} \widehat{T}_{N-1,N-2}(-z) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^{2}\},\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \cong -g(t^{2},-z-2c) f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^{3}) \mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\{\bar{t}^{s}\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) + reg. \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{-3(z)}{\lambda_3(z)}T_{N-1,N-2}(-z)\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\{t^2\},\{t^3\}_{s=3}^{N-1})\cong -g(t^2,-z-2c)f(-z-3c,t^3)\mathbb{B}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\{t^3\})$$
Substituting back we obtain that

Substituting back we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\{t^1\},\{z,t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) &\cong \\ g(t^2,-z-2c)\frac{x_2}{x_1}\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}^3_{\text{II}},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \left(\frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} - \frac{1}{h(t^2,t^1)f(z,t^1)}\right) \\ &\times \frac{f(\bar{t}^3_{\text{II}},\bar{t}^3_{\text{I}})}{f(\bar{t}^4,\bar{t}^3_1)f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^3_1)} \frac{f(-z-3c,\bar{t}^3)}{f(\bar{t}^3,z)} \left(g(-z-3c,\bar{t}^3_{\text{I}}) + g(\bar{t}^3_{\text{I}},z)\right) + reg. \end{split}$$
(G.12)

We can use the following identities

$$g(-z - 3c, \bar{t}_{\rm I}^3) + g(\bar{t}_{\rm I}^3, z) = \frac{g(-z - 3c, \bar{t}_{\rm I}^3)g(\bar{t}_{\rm I}^3, z)}{g(-z - 3c, z)},$$
(G.13)

$$\frac{1}{h(z,t^1)} - \frac{1}{h(t^2,t^1)f(z,t^1)} = \frac{h(t^2,z)}{h(t^2,t^1)h(z,t^1)},$$
(G.14)

therefore we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\{t^1\},\{z,t^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) \\ &= g(t^2,-z-2c) \bigg[\frac{x_2}{x_1} h(t^2,z) h(z,t^2) \bigg] \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3,t^2) f(\bar{t}^3,z)} \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} \frac{f(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})}{f(\bar{t}^4,\bar{t}^3_{\Pi})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \times \bigg[\frac{1}{h(t^2,t^1)h(z,t^1)} \bigg] \Big[g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},t^2) g(\bar{t}^3_{\Pi},z) \Big] + reg. \end{split}$$
(G.15)

In summary

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\{t^1\},\{t_1^2,t_2^2\},\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=3}^{N-1}) &\to g(t_2^2,-t_1^2-2c) \bigg[\frac{x_2}{x_1}h(t_2^2,t_1^2)h(t_1^2,t_2^2)\bigg] \frac{1}{f(\bar{t}^3,t_2^2)f(\bar{t}^3,t_1^2)} \quad (G.16) \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^3)} \frac{f(\bar{t}_1^3,\bar{t}_{\text{III}}^3)}{f(\bar{t}^4,\bar{t}_{\text{III}}^3)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\emptyset,\emptyset,\bar{t}_1^3,\{\bar{t}^s\}_{s=4}^{N-1}) \frac{g(\bar{t}_{\text{III}}^3,t_2^2)g(\bar{t}_{\text{III}}^3,t_1^2)}{h(t_2^2,t^1)h(t_1^2,t^1)} + reg. \end{split}$$

We prove the general formula (G.1) by induction in r_2 . Let us assume that the formula (G.1) is true for $\#\bar{t}^2 = r_2 - 2$. For $\#\bar{t}^2 = r_2$ we can use the recursion (F.30)

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}^2)} \sum_{a=2}^{N/2} \sum_{\text{part}_a(\bar{t})} \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{t}_i^2) \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^\nu, \bar{t}_i^\nu)}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_i^\nu)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_i) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}).$$
(G.17)

Now we can take the $t_k^2 + t_l^2 + 2c \to 0$ limit. The elementary overlaps $S_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{t}_{ii})$ have no poles in this limit, the poles only appears in $\bar{Z}(\bar{t}_i)$ where $\#\bar{t}_i^2 = r_2 - 2$ therefore we can use the induction assumption in the r.h.s.:

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) &\to g(t_l^2, -t_k^2 - 2c) \left[\frac{x_2}{x_1} h(t_k^2, t_l^2) h(t_l^2, t_k^2) \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^2, t_k^2) f(\bar{\tau}^2, t_l^2)}{f(\bar{\tau}^3, t_k^2) f(\bar{\tau}^3, t_l^2)} \\ & \times \left[\frac{1}{1 - \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{\tau}^2)} \sum_{a=2}^{\frac{N}{2}} \sum_{\text{part}_a(\bar{t})'} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{2a-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{2a-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \alpha_2^{(1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^2) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{(1)}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}) \right] \\ & \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^1, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^1) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^1, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^1)}{f(\bar{\tau}^2, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^1)} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^3, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^3) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^3, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^3)}{f(\bar{\tau}^4, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^3)} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^3, t_k^2) g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^3, t_l^2)}{h(t_k^2, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^1) h(t_l^2, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^1)}. \end{split}$$
(G.18)

Now we can use the recursion (F.30) again.

$$\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}) \to g(t_l^2, -t_k^2 - 2c) \left[\frac{x_2}{x_1} h(t_k^2, t_l^2) h(t_l^2, t_k^2) \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^2, t_k^2) f(\bar{\tau}^2, t_l^2)}{f(\bar{\tau}^3, t_k^2) f(\bar{\tau}^3, t_l^2)} \\
\times \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_i) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_i^1, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^1)}{f(\bar{\tau}^2, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^1)} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_i^3, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^3)}{f(\bar{\tau}^4, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^3)} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^3, t_k^2) g(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^3, t_l^2)}{h(t_k^2, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^1) h(t_l^2, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^1)},$$
(G.19)

which proves (G.1) for a = 1. One can also do an induction on N and combining it with the previous derivation we obtain the formula (G.1) for general a.

Now we can derive the pole for the other HC simply from the identity

$$\mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) = \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}^{s+1}, \bar{t}^s)} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^c(\bar{t}))).$$
(G.20)

Taking the $t_k^{2a} + t_l^{2a} + 2ac$ limit we can use the pole formula (G.1) on the r.h.s.

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) &\to g(-t_l^{2a} - 2c, t_k^{2a}) \left[\frac{x_{a+1}}{x_a} h(t_k^{2a}, t_l^{2a}) h(t_l^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) \right] \frac{f(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a}) f(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a})}{f(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-1}) f(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-1})} \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a+1})} \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\pi^c(\bar{\tau}_i)) \frac{1}{\prod_{s=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_i^{s+1}, \bar{\tau}_i^s)} \\ &\times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_i^{2a-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-2})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a})} \left[\frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, t_k^{2a}) g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, t_l^{2a})}{h(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, t_k^{2a}) h(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a})} \right] + reg., \end{aligned}$$

using the identity (G.20) again we obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}) \to g(-t_l^{2a} - 2c, t_k^{2a}) \Big[\frac{x_{a+1}}{x_a} h(t_k^{2a}, t_l^{2a}) h(t_l^{2a}, t_k^{2a}) \Big] \frac{f(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a}) f(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a})}{f(t_k^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-1}) f(t_l^{2a}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-1})} \times \\ \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a+1})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_i^1) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_i^{2a-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a-2})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_i^{2a+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}^{2a})} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, t_k^{2a}) g(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, t_l^{2a})}{h(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, t_l^{2a})} + reg. \end{aligned}$$
(G.22)

H Pair structure limit of the twisted overlaps

In this section we derive the pair structure limit $t_l^s \to -t_k^s - sc$ of the off-shell overlap. In section 4.3 we saw that there is a significant difference between the even and odd s. For s = 2bthe there is no extra selection rule for the α -functions $\alpha_{2b}(z)$ i.e. it can contain arbitrary number of parameters (inhomogeneities). On the other hand we have extra selection rules for s = 2b - 1, see section 4.3 for the details.

In the following we calculate the pair structure limit $t_l^{2b} \rightarrow -t_k^{2b} - 2bc$ of the off-shell overlap (4.94):

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2a}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{s}).$$
(H.1)

We also take limits $t_l^{2b-1} \to -t_k^{2b-1} - (2b-1)c$, $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ when $n_{2b-1} \ge 2$.

Pair structure limit $t_l^{2b} \to -t_k^{2b} - 2bc$. Let us calculate the limit $t_l^{2b} \to -t_k^{2b} - 2bc$ of the overlap formula (H.1). Formal poles appear in the HC in this limit for the partition where $\{t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}\} \in \bar{t}_i^{2b}$ or $\{t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}\} \in \bar{t}_i^{2b}$. Let $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus \{t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}\}$ and let us get the partitions in (H.1)

where $\bar{t}_{ii}^{2b} = \{t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}\} \cup \bar{\tau}_{ii}$. We can take the limit $t_l^{2b} \to -t_k^{2b} - 2bc$ as

$$\begin{split} g(t_l^{2b}, -t_k^{2b} - 2bc) & \left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b} h(t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}) h(t_l^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) \right] \\ \times & \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}) \\ \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_i^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_i^{2b+1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}) \\ \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{i=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iia}^{2a-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iia}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{iia}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iia}^{2a-1})} \prod_{k=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iia}^{2a-1}) \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_i) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_s(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) \\ \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1})} \left[\frac{1}{h(t_k^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1})h(t_l^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1})} \right] \left[g(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b})g(\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b}) \right], \end{split}$$

where we used the pole formula (G.1) and the sum goes through the partitions $\bar{\tau} = \bar{\tau}_i \cup \bar{\tau}_{ii} \cup \bar{\tau}_{ii} \cup \bar{\tau}_{iv}$ where $\#\bar{\tau}_i^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{\tau}_i^{2a-2} + \#\bar{\tau}_i^{2a}}{2}$, $\#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{\tau}_i^{2a-2} + \#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a}}{2}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2}$ and $\#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a} = \#\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2a} = 0$ and $\#\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b-1} = \#\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2b+1} = 1$ and $\#\bar{\tau}_{iv}^{2a-1} = 0$ for $a \neq b, b+1$. Collecting the terms we obtain that

$$\begin{split} g(t_l^{2b}, -t_k^{2b} - 2bc) & \left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b} h(t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}) h(t_l^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b})} \\ & \times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{\nu})} \left[\frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+2}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b+1})} \right] \\ & \times \left[\frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-2}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-2}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1})} \right] \\ & \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \left[\prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_s(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^s) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{k}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iv}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-2}) f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})} \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})} \right] \\ & \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \left[\prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_s(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^s) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{k}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1})} \right] (\text{H.3}) \\ & \times f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}ii}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b})} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b})g(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b})}{h(t_{k}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1})} \frac{g(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b})g(\bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1})}{h(t_{k}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1})} h(t_{k}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{1}^{2b-1})} \right] \end{split}$$

Now let us define a spin chain where the quantum space $\mathcal{H}^{(2)}$ is a tensor product two rectangular representation (1, 2b - 1):

$$T_0^{(2)}(z) = L_{0,2}^{(1,2b-1)}(z+t_k^{2b}-c(1-2b))L_{0,1}^{(1,2b-1)}(z-t_k^{2b}-c),$$
(H.4)

for which the α -functions are

$$\alpha_{2b-1}^{(2)}(z) = \frac{1}{f(t_k^{2b}, z)f(-t_k^{2b} - 2bc, z)} = \frac{1}{f(t_k^{2b}, z)f(t_l^{2b}, z)},$$

$$\alpha_k^{(2)}(z) = 1, \quad \text{for } k \neq 2b - 1.$$
(H.5)

Defining the tensor product quantum space as $\mathcal{H}^{mod} = \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^{(2)}$, we can use the co-product formula (A.4)

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}) = \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t}^{2b-1})} \alpha_{2b-1}^{(2)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2b-1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1}) S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1}) S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}_{ii}^{2b-1}), \quad (\text{H.6})$$

where the elementary overlap is

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}^{(2)}}^{(2b-1)}(\{u\}) = S_{\alpha_{2b-1}^{(2)}(z-c\frac{2b-1}{2})}\left(\left\{u+c\frac{2b-1}{2}\right\}\right) = \frac{1}{u+c\frac{2b-1}{2}}(\alpha_{2b-1}^{(2)}(u)-1)$$
$$= \frac{2}{c}\frac{1}{h(t_k^b, u)h(t_l^b, u)}.$$
(H.7)

Substituting back to the co-product formula (A.4) we obtain that

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}) = \frac{2}{c} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1}) S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1}) \times \frac{1}{f(t_{k}^{2b}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1})f(t_{l}^{2b}, \bar{t}_{i}^{2b-1})} \frac{1}{h(t_{k}^{b}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1})h(t_{l}^{b}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1})}.$$
(H.8)

Repeating the calculation for the representation (1, 2b + 1), we obtain the following coproduct formula

$$S_{\alpha_{2b+1}^{\text{mod}}}^{(2b+1)}(\bar{t}^{2b+1}) = \frac{2}{c} \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{t})} f(\bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+1}, \bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}) S_{\alpha_{2b+1}}^{(2b+1)}(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{t}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}, t_{l}^{2b}) g(t_{k}^{2b}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+1}) g(t_{l}^{2b}, \bar{t}_{\text{ii}}^{2b+1}).$$
(H.9)

Substituting back the co-product formulas (H.8) and (H.9) to (H.3) we obtain that

$$g(t_l^{2b}, -t_k^{2b} - 2bc) \left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b} \frac{c^2}{4} h(t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}) h(t_l^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) \right] \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b} t_l^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b})} \\ \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \left[\prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_s(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^s) \frac{f(t_k^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}) f(t_l^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}, t_k^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b+1}, t_l^{2b})} \\ \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}), \qquad (\text{H.10})$$

where the sum goes through the partitions $\bar{\tau} = \bar{\tau}_{i} \cup \bar{\tau}_{ii} \cup \bar{\tau}_{iii}$ where $\#\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a}}{2}$, $\#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a-1} = \frac{\#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a-2} + \#\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a}}{2}$ for $a = 1, \dots, \frac{N}{2}$ and $\#\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a} = 0$. We also defined the modified α -s as

$$\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-1}(z) \frac{1}{f(t_k^{2b}, z) f(t_l^{2b}, z)},
\alpha_{2b+1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b+1}(z) f(z, t_k^{2b}) f(z, t_l^{2b}),
\alpha_{2a-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2a-1}(z), \text{ for } a \neq b, b+1.$$
(H.11)

Defining the remaining α^{mod} -s as

$$\alpha_{2b}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b}(z) \frac{f(t_k^{2b}, z) f(t_l^{2b}, z)}{f(z, t_k^{2b}) f(z, t_l^{2b})},$$

$$\alpha_{2a}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2a}(z), \quad \text{for } a \neq b,$$
(H.12)

we obtain that

$$g(t_{l}^{2b}, -t_{k}^{2b} - 2bc) \left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_{b}} \frac{c^{2}}{4} h(t_{k}^{2b}, t_{l}^{2b}) h(t_{l}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b}) \right] \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}t_{l}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_{l}^{2b})} \\ \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a})} \\ \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)} (\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \left[\prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) \right].$$
(H.13)

Repeating the previous calculation for the partition $\bar{t}_i^{2b} = \{t_k^{2b}, t_l^{2b}\} \cup \bar{\tau}_i$ we obtain the following pole in the $t_k^{2b} + t_l^{2b} + 2bc \rightarrow 0$ limit

$$g(-t_{k}^{2b}-2bc,t_{l}^{2b})\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{2b})\alpha_{2b}(t_{l}^{2b})\left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_{b}}\frac{c^{2}}{4}h(t_{k}^{2b},t_{l}^{2b})h(t_{l}^{2b},t_{k}^{2b})\right] \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b},t_{k}^{2b})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}t_{l}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1},t_{k}^{2b})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1},t_{l}^{2b})}$$

$$\sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})}\frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1}f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu},\bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2}f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1},\bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}\frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1},\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1},\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1}f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a},\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1},\bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a})} \qquad (\text{H.14})$$

$$\times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}})\prod_{a=1}^{N/2}S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})\prod_{s=1}^{N-1}\alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}).$$

Applying the formulas (H.13) and (H.14) we obtain that the formal pole at the limit $t_k^{2b} + t_l^{2b} + 2bc \rightarrow 0$ reads as

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) \to g(-t_{k}^{2b} - 2bc, t_{l}^{2b}) \left(\alpha_{2b}(t_{k}^{2b}) \alpha_{2b}(t_{l}^{2b}) - 1 \right) \\ \times \left[\frac{x_{b+1}}{x_{b}} \frac{c^{2}}{4} h(t_{k}^{2b}, t_{l}^{2b}) h(t_{l}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b}) \right] \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}t_{l}^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_{k}^{2b}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b+1}, t_{l}^{2b})} \\ \times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{ia}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{iai}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iai}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{ii}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a})}$$
(H.15)
$$\times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) + reg.$$

Since $\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b})\alpha_{2b}(-t_k^{2b}-2bc) = 1$, the limit $t_k^{2b} + t_l^{2b} + 2bc \to 0$ of the overlap is finite and the derivative of the α_{2b} appears as

$$\lim_{t_l^{2b} \to -t_k^{2b} - 2bc} g(-t_k^{2b} - 2bc, t_l^{2b}) \Big(\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b}) \alpha_{2b}(t_l^{2b}) - 1 \Big) = -c \frac{\alpha'_{2b}(t_k^{2b})}{\alpha_{2b}(t_k^{2b})} = X_k^{2b}.$$
(H.16)

Using the sum formula (H.1) again we obtain that

$$\lim_{t_l^{2b} \to -t_k^{2b} - 2bc} S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) = X_k^{2b} \times F^{(2b)}(t_k^{2b}) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_k^{2b})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}t_l^{2b})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_k^{2b})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_l^{2b})} S_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S}, \qquad (\mathrm{H.17})$$

where \tilde{S} is independent from X_k^{2b} and

$$F^{(2b)}(z) = \frac{x_{b+1}}{x_b} \frac{c^2}{4} h(z, -z - 2bc) h(-z - 2bc, z)$$
(H.18)

Pair structure limit $t_l^{2b-1} \to -t_k^{2b-1} - (2b-1)c$. Let us calculate the limit $t_l^{2b-1} \to -t_k^{2b-1} - (2b-1)c$ of the overlap formula (H.1) when $n_{2b-1} \ge 2$. Let us notice that $n_{2a-1} = \#\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}$ for $a = 1, \ldots, \frac{N}{2}$, therefore $\#\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1} \ge 2$. We know that HC-s $\mathcal{Z}, \bar{\mathcal{Z}}$ are regular in the limit $t_l^{2b-1} \to -t_k^{2b-1} - (2b-1)c$ and the $t_l^{2b-1} \to -t_k^{2b-1} - (2b-1)c$ limit of the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlaps are (B.17)

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}) \to X_{k}^{2b-1} \times F^{(2b-1)}(t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{l}^{2b-1}) S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S}, \quad (\text{H.19})$$

where \tilde{S} is independent from X_k^{2b-1} , the modified α is defined as

$$\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-1}(z) \frac{f(t_k^{2b-1}, z) f(t_l^{2b-1}, z)}{f(z, t_k^{2b-1}) f(z, t_l^{2b-1})},$$
(H.20)

and

$$F^{(2b-1)}(z) = -\left(\frac{1}{z+c\frac{2b-1}{2}}\right)^2.$$
 (H.21)

We can see that the X_k^{2b-1} term appears only for the partitions where $\{t_k^{2b-1}, t_l^{2b-1}\} \in \bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1}$. Let $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus t_k^{2b-1}, t_l^{2b-1}$ and let us get the partitions in (H.1) where $\bar{t}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1} = \{t_k^{2b-1}, t_l^{2b-1}\} \cup \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1}$.

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X_{k}^{2b-1} \times F^{(2b-1)}(t_{k}^{2b-1}) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \left[f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1}, t_{l}^{2b-1}) \\ & \frac{f(t_{k}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-1}) f(t_{l}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-1})}{f(t_{k}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-2}) f(t_{l}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-2})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, t_{l}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{l}^{2b-1})} \\ & \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ & \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) \right] + \tilde{S}, \end{split}$$
(H.22)

where \tilde{S} is independent from X_k^{2b-1} . Collecting the terms we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X_{k}^{2b-1} \times F^{(2b-1)}(t_{k}^{2b-1}) \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \left[\frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b-1})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{l}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b-1})f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{l}^{2b-1})} \right] \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1})f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a})f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}})\bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\sum_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{N/2-1}} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\sum_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{N/2-1}} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\sum_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{N/2}} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}}{\sum_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{N/2}} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}^{(2a-1)}} \prod_{a=1}^{N/$$

Defining the remaining α^{mod} -s as

$$\alpha_{2b-2}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-2}(z) \frac{1}{f(t_k^{2b-1}, z)f(t_l^{2b-1}, z)},
\alpha_{2b}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b}(z)f(z, t_k^{2b-1})f(z, t_l^{2b-1}),
\alpha_s^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_s(z), \quad \text{for } s \neq 2b-2, 2b-1, 2b,$$
(H.24)

the overlap formula simplifies as

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X_{k}^{2b-1} \times F^{(2b-1)}(t_{k}^{2b-1}) \left[\frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_{l}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{k}^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_{l}^{2b-1})} \right. \\ & \times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ & \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) \right] + \tilde{S}. \end{split}$$
(H.25)

Applying the sum formula again we obtain that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) \to X_k^{2b-1} \times F^{(2b-1)}(t_k^{2b-1}) \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_k^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, t_l^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_k^{2b-1}) f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, t_l^{2b-1})} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}^{\mathrm{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S}.$$
(H.26)

Pair structure limit $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$. Let us calculate the limit $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ of the overlap formula (H.1) when $n_{2b-1} \ge 1$ or $\#\bar{t}_{iii}^{2b-1} \ge 1$. We know that HC-s $\mathcal{Z}, \bar{\mathcal{Z}}$ are regular in the limit $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ and the $t_k^{2b-1} \to -(b-1/2)c$ limit of the $\mathfrak{gl}(2)$ overlaps are (B.22)

$$S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{t}^{2b-1}) \to X^{0,2b-1}\left(-\frac{2}{c}\right)f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1},-(b-1/2)c)S_{\alpha_{2b-1}}^{(2b-1)}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S},$$
(H.27)

where \tilde{S} is independent from $X^{0,2b-1}$, the modified α is defined as

$$\alpha_{2b-1}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-1}(z) \frac{f(-(b-1/2)c, z)}{f(z, -(b-1/2)c)}.$$
(H.28)

We can see that the $X^{0,2b-1}$ term appears only for the partitions where $\{t_k^{2b-1}\} \in \bar{t}_{iii}^{2b-1}$. Let $\bar{\tau} = \bar{t} \setminus t_k^{2b-1}$ and let us get the partitions in (H.1) where $\bar{t}_{iii}^{2b-1} = \{t_k^{2b-1}\} \cup \bar{\tau}_{iii}^{2b-1}$.

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X^{0,2b-1}\left(-\frac{2}{c}\right) \times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \left[f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c) \\ & \frac{f(-(b-1/2)c, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-1})}{f(-(b-1/2)c, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2b-2})} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2b}, -(b-1/2)c)} \\ & \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{i}^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ & \times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{i}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{ii}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{\tau}_{i}^{s}) \right] + \tilde{S}, \end{split}$$
(H.29)

where \tilde{S} is independent from $X^{0,2b-1}$. Collecting the terms we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X^{0,2b-1} \left(-\frac{2}{c} \right) \times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \left[\frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, -(b-1/2)c)} \right. \tag{H.30} \\ &\times \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iiii}}^{2a-1})}{\mathbb{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \tilde{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}})} \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \\ &\times \left[\prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{s}) \frac{f(-(b-1/2)c, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1})}{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c)} \frac{f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b}, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(-(b-1/2)c, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2b-2})} \right] \right] + \tilde{S}. \end{split}$$

Defining the remaining α^{mod} -s as

$$\alpha_{2b-2}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b-2}(z) \frac{1}{f(-(b-1/2)c, z)},
\alpha_{2b}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{2b}(z)f(z, -(b-1/2)c),
\alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(z) = \alpha_{s}(z), \quad \text{for } s \neq 2b-2, 2b-1, 2b,$$
(H.31)

the overlap formula simplifies as

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{S}_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) &\to X^{0,2b-1} \left(-\frac{2}{c} \right) \times \left[\frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, -(b-1/2)c)} \\ &\times \sum_{\text{part}(\bar{\tau})} \frac{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})}{\prod_{\nu=1}^{N-2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{\nu+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{\nu})} \frac{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a-1}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a-1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})}{\prod_{a=1}^{N/2-1} f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a+1}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{2a}) f(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}^{2a}, \bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1})} \\ &\times \mathcal{Z}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}) \bar{\mathcal{Z}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{ii}}) \prod_{a=1}^{N/2} S_{\alpha_{2a-1}}^{(2a-1)}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{iii}}^{2a-1}) \prod_{s=1}^{N-1} \alpha_{s}^{\text{mod}}(\bar{\tau}_{\text{i}}^{s}) \right] + \tilde{S}. \end{split}$$
(H.32)

Applying the sum formula again we obtain that

$$S_{\bar{\alpha}}(\bar{t}) \to X^{0,2b-1}\left(-\frac{2}{c}\right) \times \frac{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b-1}, -(b-1/2)c)}{f(\bar{\tau}^{2b}, -(b-1/2)c)} S_{\bar{\alpha}^{\text{mod}}}(\bar{\tau}) + \tilde{S}.$$
 (H.33)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- S. Ghoshal and A.B. Zamolodchikov, Boundary S matrix and boundary state in two-dimensional integrable quantum field theory, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 9 (1994) 3841 [Erratum ibid. 9 (1994) 4353]
 [hep-th/9306002] [INSPIRE].
- [2] L. Piroli, B. Pozsgay and E. Vernier, What is an integrable quench?, Nucl. Phys. B 925 (2017) 362 [arXiv:1709.04796] [INSPIRE].
- [3] F.H.L. Essler and M. Fagotti, Quench dynamics and relaxation in isolated integrable quantum spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 1606 (2016) 064002 [arXiv:1603.06452] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J.-S. Caux and F.H.L. Essler, Time evolution of local observables after quenching to an integrable model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 257203 [arXiv:1301.3806] [INSPIRE].
- [5] J. De Nardis, B. Wouters, M. Brockmann and J.-S. Caux, Solution for an interaction quench in the Lieb-Liniger Bose gas, Phys. Rev. A 89 (2014) 033601.
- [6] B. Pozsgay et al., Correlations after quantum quenches in thexxzspin chain: Failure of the generalized gibbs ensemble, Phys. Rev. Lett. **113** (2014) 117203.
- [7] B. Wouters et al., Quenching the Anisotropic Heisenberg Chain: Exact Solution and Generalized Gibbs Ensemble Predictions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 117202 [INSPIRE].
- [8] L. Piroli, E. Vernier, P. Calabrese and B. Pozsgay, Integrable quenches in nested spin chains I: the exact steady states, J. Stat. Mech. **1906** (2019) 063103 [arXiv:1811.00432] [INSPIRE].
- [9] L. Piroli, E. Vernier, P. Calabrese and B. Pozsgay, Integrable quenches in nested spin chains II: fusion of boundary transfer matrices, J. Stat. Mech. 1906 (2019) 063104 [arXiv:1812.05330]
 [INSPIRE].
- [10] C. Rylands, B. Bertini and P. Calabrese, Integrable quenches in the Hubbard model, J. Stat. Mech. 2210 (2022) 103103 [arXiv:2206.07985] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, One-point Functions in Defect CFT and Integrability, JHEP 08 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1506.06958] [INSPIRE].
- [12] I. Buhl-Mortensen, M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, One-point Functions in AdS/dCFT from Matrix Product States, JHEP 02 (2016) 052 [arXiv:1512.02532] [INSPIRE].
- [13] C. Kristjansen, D.-L. Vu and K. Zarembo, Integrable domain walls in ABJM theory, JHEP 02 (2022) 070 [arXiv:2112.10438] [INSPIRE].
- [14] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and E. Vescovi, Structure constants in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM at finite coupling as worldsheet g-function, JHEP **07** (2020) 037 [arXiv:1906.07733] [INSPIRE].
- [15] Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and E. Vescovi, Exact Three-Point Functions of Determinant Operators in Planar N = 4 Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. **123** (2019) 191601 [arXiv:1907.11242] [INSPIRE].
- [16] P. Yang, Y. Jiang, S. Komatsu and J.-B. Wu, Three-point functions in ABJM and Bethe Ansatz, JHEP 01 (2022) 002 [arXiv:2103.15840] [INSPIRE].
- [17] C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, 't Hooft loops and integrability, JHEP 08 (2023) 184 [arXiv:2305.03649] [INSPIRE].
- [18] Y. Jiang, J.-B. Wu and P. Yang, Wilson-loop one-point functions in ABJM theory, JHEP 09 (2023) 047 [arXiv:2306.05773] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and S. Mori, AdS/dCFT one-point functions of the SU(3) sector, Phys. Lett. B 763 (2016) 197 [arXiv:1607.03123] [INSPIRE].

- [20] M. De Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and G. Linardopoulos, Scalar one-point functions and matrix product states of AdS/dCFT, Phys. Lett. B 781 (2018) 238 [arXiv:1802.01598] [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. De Leeuw et al., Spin Chain Overlaps and the Twisted Yangian, JHEP 01 (2020) 176
 [arXiv:1912.09338] [INSPIRE].
- B. Pozsgay, Overlaps with arbitrary two-site states in the XXZ spin chain, J. Stat. Mech. 1805 (2018) 053103 [arXiv:1801.03838] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Gombor and Z. Bajnok, Boundary state bootstrap and asymptotic overlaps in AdS/dCFT, JHEP 03 (2021) 222 [arXiv:2006.16151] [INSPIRE].
- [24] T. Gombor and Z. Bajnok, Boundary states, overlaps, nesting and bootstrapping AdS/dCFT, JHEP 10 (2020) 123 [arXiv:2004.11329] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J.-S. Caux, B. Wouters, J.D. Nardis and M. Brockmann, A Gaudin-like determinant for overlaps of Néel and XXZ Bethe states, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 145003 [INSPIRE].
- [26] M. Brockmann, J. De Nardis, B. Wouters and J.-S. Caux, Néel-XXZ state overlaps: odd particle numbers and Lieb-Liniger scaling limit, J. Phys. A 47 (2014) 345003.
- [27] O. Foda and K. Zarembo, Overlaps of partial Néel states and Bethe states, J. Stat. Mech. 1602 (2016) 023107 [arXiv:1512.02533] [INSPIRE].
- [28] Y. Jiang and B. Pozsgay, On exact overlaps in integrable spin chains, JHEP 06 (2020) 022 [arXiv:2002.12065] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Gombor and B. Pozsgay, On factorized overlaps: Algebraic Bethe Ansatz, twists, and Separation of Variables, Nucl. Phys. B 967 (2021) 115390 [arXiv:2101.10354] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Gombor, On exact overlaps for gl(N) symmetric spin chains, Nucl. Phys. B 983 (2022) 115909 [arXiv:2110.07960] [INSPIRE].
- [31] T. Gombor, Integrable crosscap states in gl(N) spin chains, JHEP 10 (2022) 096 [arXiv:2207.10598] [INSPIRE].
- [32] A. Molev, M. Nazarov and G. Olshansky, Yangians and classical Lie algebras, Russ. Math. Surveys 51 (1996) 205 [hep-th/9409025] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Hutsalyuk et al., Scalar products of Bethe vectors in the models with $\mathfrak{gl}(m|n)$ symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 923 (2017) 277 [arXiv:1704.08173] [INSPIRE].
- [34] A. Hutsalyuk et al., Norm of Bethe vectors in models with $\mathfrak{gl}(m|n)$ symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 926 (2018) 256 [arXiv:1705.09219] [INSPIRE].
- [35] A. Liashyk, S.Z. Pakuliak, E. Ragoucy and N.A. Slavnov, New symmetries of gl(N)-invariant Bethe vectors, J. Stat. Mech. 1904 (2019) 044001 [arXiv:1810.00364] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Hutsalyuk et al., Actions of the monodromy matrix elements onto gl(m|n)-invariant Bethe vectors, J. Stat. Mech. 2009 (2020) 093104 [arXiv:2005.09249] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D. Arnaudon et al., General boundary conditions for the sl(N) and sl(M|N) open spin chains, J. Stat. Mech. 0408 (2004) P08005 [math-ph/0406021] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L. Mezincescu and R.I. Nepomechie, Fusion procedure for open chains, J. Phys. A 25 (1992) 2533 [INSPIRE].
- [39] B. Pozsgay, L. Piroli and E. Vernier, Integrable Matrix Product States from boundary integrability, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 062 [arXiv:1812.11094] [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Gombor and C. Kristjansen, Overlaps for matrix product states of arbitrary bond dimension in ABJM theory, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137428 [arXiv:2207.06866] [INSPIRE].

- [41] C. Kristjansen, D. Müller and K. Zarembo, Overlaps and fermionic dualities for integrable super spin chains, JHEP 03 (2021) 100 [arXiv:2011.12192] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. Kristjansen, D. Müller and K. Zarembo, *Duality relations for overlaps of integrable boundary* states in AdS/dCFT, JHEP 09 (2021) 004 [arXiv:2106.08116] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A. Hutsalyuk et al., Current presentation for the super-Yangian double $DY(\mathfrak{gl}(m|n))$ and Bethe vectors, Russ. Math. Surveys 72 (2017) 33 [arXiv:1611.09620] [INSPIRE].